
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 

Wednesday, September 28, 2022 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m.  

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. Please join the meeting by attending in 
person or via the livestream on Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook Group page or through the below Zoom 
link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09 

 
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in by phone: 
        +1 669 900 6833 US  
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: 826421 

 
1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 

a. Call to order and roll call 
 

_______Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  _______Rod Boone, Clerk   _______Gabriel Leal 
_______Genaro Reyes    _______Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. 
a. Government Code Section 54957, Personnel Issue. To consider public employee, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, release, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and/or certificated employee. 
b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
c. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 

Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 
 
Report out action taken in closed session. 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:   

 
6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 

  

Page 1 of 245

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09


 
7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: 

a. Board Member Comments/Reports 
b. ASB President and Student Council President Reports 

i. Hamilton High School – Alyssa Fox  
ii. Hamilton Elementary School 

c. District Reports (written) 
i. Technology Report by Frank James (p. 4) 

ii. Nutrition Services Report by Sean Montgomery 
iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p. 5) 

d. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written) 
i. Ulises Tellechea, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (p. 6) 

ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students  
iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (presentation) 
iv. Silvia Robles, Adult School (p. 8) 

e. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (p. 9) 
f. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (p.10) 

 
8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 

a. Hamilton High School Presentation 
 

9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 
a. None 

 
10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: 

a. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 11) 
b. Bond Status: Fund 21 Update  (p. 13) 
c. Hamilton Elementary Restroom Renovation & Trash Enclosure Project Updates 

 
11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

 
12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 

heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 

 
13.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Approve updated 2022-23 Classified Confidential/Classified Management salary Schedule (p. 18) 
i. Range 2 Classified Management salary Schedule (5% increase) 

ii. Updated classified management range scale for Nutrition Services Director 
b. Approve 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified School District (p. 20) 
c. Approve 3 Year Agreement 2021-24 between HTA and Hamilton Unified School District (p. 82) 
d. Approve agreement between Capay Joint Union Elementary School District and Hamilton Unified School 

District on how Developer Fees shall be collected and divided between the two Districts (p. 170) 
 

14.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 
motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public 
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda 
approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on August 24, 2022 (p. 172) 
b. California Department of Education Consolidated Application for 2022-23 (p. 178) 
c. 2021-22 Educator Effectiveness Funds (EEF) Report (p. 185) 
d. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 189) 
e. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 

i. Out 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. None 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. None 

Page 2 of 245



ii. In 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. K x 1 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. 9th x 2 
 

f. Personnel Actions as Presented: 
i. New hires: 

Cristian Aguilar Office Assistant I HHS 
   
   
   
   

 
ii. Resignations/Retirement: 

None   
   
   

 
15.0   ADJOURNMENT: 

Page 3 of 245



Technology Report 

Board Meeting on September 28, 2022 

Frank James, Director of Technology 

Completed and in Progress Tasks  

 

• Dell Computers: 

o We have been installing new computers for the staff. 

o We are approaching installation on a first come, first serve basis in order to not interfere 

with daily activities. 

o We’ve installed about 1/3 of the computers, however, they have all been imaged and 

are ready. 

• Tickets: 

o Tickets have been steady and we are keeping up. 

o Most tickets have come in due to blocked websites. 

o Our content filtering and threat prevention measures were increased over the summer 

which is the leading cause of the blocked sites. 

• E-Waste: 

o We’ve been removing old tech from several classrooms and storage areas. 

o These items have been palletized and shrink wrapped. 

o We have 5 pallets ready for pick up. 

• New Accounts: 

o We have been creating new accounts for student teachers and GCOE staff. 

o We’ve also been onboarding their personal devices to provide network resources. 

Page 4 of 245



HUSD Maintenance Report 

Board Meeting on September 28, 2022 

Alan Joksch, Director of Maintenance and Transportation 

 
 
Maintenance and Operations: 

• Maintenance tickets are still coming in, but not with the urgency of the first few weeks of school. 

o The tickets we are receiving more transportation requests for Fall events and less maintenance 

related.  

• With the change in the weather, we are seeing a decrease in HVAC issues 

• Cleaned and paid special attention to High School Campus for Homecoming 

 

Transportation 

• Daily bussing is going well and as scheduled. 

• Sports transportation: 

o We are beginning the High School MVL games with only a few that are long distance this season.  

o Cross Country Track has begun and will be using vans for the most part as they attend meets.  

 

Campus Projects: 

• Installed a bulletin board outside main office at High School. 

• Forming plan for landscape west side exterior of High School Library. 

• Planning install metal placard built by Ag shop on west side exterior of High School Library. 

• Climatec Architectural Design for Solar Arrays at both sites has been submitted to DSA is presently 

under review with comments. 

Page 5 of 245



HAMILTON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
Wednesday, September 28, 2022 

Submitted by  

Ulises Tellechea, Principal 

 

Grade Percentage Grade Percentage 

TK TK – 94.30% 5 5 – 96.97% 

K K – 99.12% 6 6 – 98.48% 
 

1 1 – 98.04% 7 7 – 98.54% 
 

2 2 – 97.87% 
 

8 8 – 96.57% 
 

3 3 – 97.87% 
 

 
Enrollment: 396 

4 4 – 97.00% 
 

 

Campus News:  
August and September have been wonderful months at HES.  Our current enrollment is at 396 students. 

We have accomplished several big items in the last 2 months: Initial ELPAC testing, benchmark testing, 

implementation of our School Wide Positive Behavior Supports and Interventions, and professional 

development and collaboration time for teachers. Many of our students have also been involved in our 

HES athletic teams either by playing on the team or supporting in the stands! 

Athletics: Our Volleyball teams have been very busy this season!  There will be over 30 volleyball games 
played this season between both teams. Our football team will play a total of 8 games. Both teams have 
been showing great sportsmanship this season. Thank you, Mrs. Larson and Mr. Ortiz, for coaching. Go 
Wolves!  
 
PBIS: Our PBIS initiative is off to a great start. Students seem motivated to earn their Wolf Bucks. Every 

Friday we have had over 150 students trade their Wolf Bucks for Otter Pops. Our weekly drawings are 

also a big hit in motivating students to follow the school’s expectations of Be Safe Be Respectful Be 

Responsible.  Examples of prizes for the weekly drawing are: lunch with the teacher, fast passes, 

homework passes, gift cards to In and Out, free haircuts, tools, and sports equipment.  

Instructional news:  

Initial ELPAC Testing: Mrs. Sawyer and the team of testers finished testing all initial ELPAC students 

within the 30 day deadline. Thank you, Mrs. Sawyer, Mrs. Heffley, and Isaac for your work. 

 

Page 6 of 245



HAMILTON ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
Wednesday, September 28, 2022 

Submitted by  

Ulises Tellechea, Principal 

 

 

Benchmarks and Interventions: Teachers are done with the first round of benchmark testing. They are 

now using the  testing data to run intervention groups as best as they can.  

Professional Development: Our PD this year has focused on building Positive relationships with students 

(school culture) and our two instructional goals:  

● Engage Students in Sustained interactions with teacher and peer. 

● Focus interactions on the construction of Knowledge.  

On Friday, September 16th we had an engaging PD provided by GCOE that focused on UDL with many 

components that addressed our two instructional goals.  Kendra and Darren from GCOE will provide 

follow-up support to this PD during our PLC time.  

This month, we also had our first of four PBIS PDs presented by Rainbow Walker. This PD was attended 

by our site’s POD Leadership Team. The focus is to provide guidance with our School Wide PBIS 

implementation, particularly with our  tier one interventions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 7 of 245



Hamilton Adult Education 

Board Meeting Report-September28, 2022 

Silvia Robles/Director 

 

 

Completed and in Progress Tasks – September, 2022 

1. Enrollment and students served to date for all programs:  

• Citizenship ............................................................ 6 

• Computer Basics .................................................. 4 

• CPR/First Aid ........................................................  October 2022 

• ESL ........................................................................ 10 

• Floral Design ........................................................ 17 

• Fine Arts/Cake Decorating…………………………………14  

• Forklift Training………. .......................................... 9  

• High School Diploma ............................................ 12 

TOTAL: .............................................................72 

 

2. Open Enrollment ongoing  

3. Pretesting newcomers 

4. Goal setting with students 

5. 2 cancellations for Fine Arts/Cake Decorating  

6. Outreach and recruit with non-profit organizations, local businesses, employers 

7. Set up Data Entry 2022-23 

8. WIOA II Network Meetings/ Professional Development 

9. Adult Ed Committee Volunteers Meeting 

Page 8 of 245



Hamilton Unified School District

General Fund - Unrestricted and Restricted

September 28, 2022 Board Report

2022-23 2022-23 2021-22 2021-22

Approved Year To Date Approved Year To Date

Budget As of 9/19/22 Budget As of 9/19/21

Revenues

LCFF Sources 8,933,097$    209,506$        8,125,100$    461,546$        

All Other Federal Revenue 1,069,285$    4,422$             236,750$        93,682$          

Other State Revenue 368,759$        66,622$          553,175$        94,081$          

Other Local Revenue 80,829$          3,552$             46,669$          46,057$          

Other Financing Sources -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

Total Revenues 10,451,970$  284,102$        8,961,694$    695,366$        

Expenditures

Certificated Personnel Salaries 3,870,816$    393,265$        3,580,239$    349,742$        

Classified Personnel Salaries 1,346,175$    202,829$        1,168,056$    173,413$        

Employee Benefits 2,171,864$    284,877$        2,059,770$    292,207$        

Books and Supplies 595,189$        175,031$        738,305$        80,196$          

Travel and Conferences 128,177$        28,991$          111,724$        3,175$             

Dues and Memberships 13,650$          14,426$          14,850$          10,834$          

Other Insurance 112,347$        112,347$        97,584$          91,902$          

All Other Utilities 273,000$        69,748$          273,000$        70,898$          

Rents/Leases/Repairs 61,275$          12,887$          72,245$          18,123$          

Other Operating Expenditures 409,557$        101,954$        416,429$        79,189$          

Capital Outlay 346,533$        28,171$          405,000$        47,490$          

Other Outgo 1,485,551$    13,262$          896,147$        5,568$             

Total Expenditures 10,814,134$  1,437,788$     9,833,349$    1,222,737$     

Net Increase (Decrease) in Fund (362,164)$      (1,153,686)$   (871,655)$      (527,371)$       

Beg. Fund Balance at 7/1/22 (2021-22 2ND INTERIM) 1,670,424$    

**based on 2nd interim due to GCOE cyber attack

Projected Ending Fund Balance 1,308,260$    

P
age 9 of 245



HUSD Superintendent Report  

Board Meeting on September 28, 2022 

Jeremy Powell, Ed. D. 

 
A rhythm and flow to the school year has begun to set in.  Our teachers are continuing to focus on 
connecting with our students and move forward with our focused curriculum and instruction.  On 
September 16th, our entire Certificated Staff met for Professional Development focused on Universal 
Design for Learning hosted by GCOE.  It was a strong afternoon of professional development and also 
time to reconnect with each other.   Our parents and students have attended back to school nights, 
parent conferences are on the horizon, and the end of the 1st Quarter (October 7th) is right around the 
corner.   

District Highlights for August & September:

 
 

● Throughout August, our teachers hosted Back-to-School Nights.  These were well planned and thought out 
events that were very well attended by our parents.   

● Our High School and Junior High Athletics are in full swing!  We are proud of the strong sportsmanship and 
competitiveness each team is showing! 

● Several of our Construction Projects continue to move forward including DSA Approval of our Elementary 
Restroom Project.  We are hopeful that the Trash Enclosure and Solar Projects will be approved in the next 
two weeks! 

● Sports Boosters held their Annual Golf Tournament.  It was very well attended and helped raise funds to 
support our HHS athletics! 

● Through diligent work by our staff and led by Tiffany, our CALPADS we certified last week.  The CALPADS 
System has gone through multiple updates and has been difficult to work with.  Thank you to everyone 
involved in certifying! 
 

 
 

● Make sure to Follow us on: 
o HUSD App: Download from App Store or our website 
o Instagram: HamiltonUnified 
o Twitter: @hamiltonunified 
o Facebook: HamiltonUnifiedSchool District 

 

Upcoming Events:

● October 5th: Special Board Meeting @ 6:00 p.m. 

● October 7th: End of the 1st Quarter 

● October 19th: HULC at 3:30 in HHS Library 

● October 24th: No School-PD Day 

● October 26th: Board Meeting at 5:30 p.m. in HHS Library 

● October 28th: Halloween Carnival 

 

Page 10 of 245



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2017-2023

269 HHS 286 HHS 265 HHS 295 HHS 288 HHS 302 HHS

12 EBHS 9 EBHS 13 EBHS 11 EBHS 10 EBHS 15 EBHS

279 K-5 292 K-5 272 K-5 269 K-5 260 K-5 270 K-5

133 6-8 125 6-8 153 6-8 146 6-8 149 6-8 128 6-8

693 ENROLLMENT 712 ENROLLMENT 703 ENROLLMENT 723 ENROLLMENT 707 ENROLLMENT 715 ENROLLMENT

672.21 ADA 687.87 ADA 668.36 ADA 686.28 ADA 658.76 ADA 690.21 ADA

Enrollment and ADA totals above are based on P2 Data Reporting except current year based on current reporting

6

2022-23

5

2021-222020-212019-202018-192017-18

1 2 3 4

693

712

703

723

707

715

672.21

687.87

668.36

686.28

658.76

690.21

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

D
is

tr
ic

t 
En

ro
llm

e
n

t 
&

 A
D

A

Enrollment  ADA

Enrollment & ADA by School Year

P
age 11 of 245



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2017-2023

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

12 TK 12 TK 11.29 TK TK TK

37 K 38 K 29.86 K K K

42 1 43 1 40.93 1 1 1

47 2 47 2 45.14 2 2 2

45 3 44 3 44.00 3 3 3

46 4 46 4 44.64 4 4 4

40 5 40 5 38.57 5 5 5

39 6 38 6 38.07 6 6 6

47 7 47 7 45.57 7 7 7

45 8 43 8 42.71 8 8 8

96 9 97 9 93.93 9 9 9

64 10 64 10 62.43 10 10 10

82 11 80 11 78.57 11 11 11

77 12 76 12 74.5 12 12 12

719 TOTAL 715 TOTAL 690.21 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

TK TK TK TK TK

K K K K K

1 1 1 1 1

2 2 2 2 2

3 3 3 3 3

4 4 4 4 4

5 5 5 5 5

6 6 6 6 6

7 7 7 7 7

8 8 8 8 8

9 9 9 9 9

10 10 10 10 10

11 11 11 11 11

12 12 12 12 12

0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00

2022-23

ADA

2022-23 2022-23

2022-23

8/16/2022

2022-23

8/1-8/26/22

ADA ADA

2022-23

ADA

2022-23

ADA

2022-23

ADA

2022-23
ADA

2022-23

ADA

P
age 12 of 245



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2022-23

For September 28, 2022 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through September 19, 2022

PO #/Pymt ID Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

252-2475134 7/12/2022 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 2022-23 750.00$                No

PO23-00161 8/17/2022 Division of the State Architect (DSA) Filing fees for Elem Trash Project 500.00$                
Total expenditures through 9/19/2022 1,250.00$             

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.

P
age 13 of 245



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2021-22

For August 24, 2022 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through June 30, 2022

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

PV 16 9/8/2021 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; RE: Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 750.00$                 No

22-105 8/18/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,400.00$             Yes

22-105 10/13/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,680.00$             Yes

22-105 3/16/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,080.00$             Yes

22-105 5/27/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,500.00$             Yes

22-105 6/22/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 2,520.00$             Yes

20-495 10/20/2021 Integrated Educational Planning & Programming Building/Expansion Project 22,740.00$           

22-287 12/1/2021 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 1,150.00$             n/a

22-287 3/2/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 447.50$                 n/a

22-287 5/27/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 447.50$                 n/a

22-287 6/22/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 1,342.50$             n/a

22-287 6/30/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 2,237.50$             n/a
Total expenditures through 6/30/2022 41,295.00$           

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.

P
age 14 of 245



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2020-21

For September 22, 2021 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through June 30, 2021

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

PV 1 7/22/2020 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; RE: Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 750.00$                No

423 9/23/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 490.50$                Yes

423 10/21/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 2,256.00$             Yes

423 12/2/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 90.00$                   Yes

423 12/9/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 12,913.50$           Yes

423 2/3/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 3,598.50$             Yes

423 2/24/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 10,069.50$           Yes

423 3/24/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 14,973.00$           Yes

423 4/28/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 8,113.50$             Yes

423 5/26/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 5,380.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 2,130.00$             Yes

423 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 5,023.50$             Yes

EP 71 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 306.00$                Yes

PV 12 10/7/2020 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property purchase testing 577.58$                Yes

21-150 8/19/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,360.00$             Yes

21-150 9/16/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,480.00$             Yes

21-150 10/14/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,920.00$             Yes

21-150 11/10/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,200.00$             Yes

21-150 12/9/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 2,520.00$             Yes

21-150 1/13/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             Yes

21-150 2/10/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             Yes

21-150 6/30/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,680.00$             Yes

PV 32 11/10/2020 Hamilton Unified Revolving Fund for Glenn County File a parcel map in Glenn County 1,136.00$             No

PV 91 6/2/2021 Hamilton Unified Revolving Fund for Glenn County Timios Title - closing costs for purchase of property 2,335.28$             No

ER 5 6/30/2021 Revolving Ck# 1678 refund refund - parcel map - See PV 32 dated 11/10/20 (1,136.00)$            No

20-495 6/16/2021 Integrated Educational Building/Expansion Project 10,260.00$           No

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,097.38$             Yes

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,186.63$             Yes

21-152 8/19/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,650.00$             Yes

21-152 10/21/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                Yes

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 540.00$                Yes

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,105.00$             Yes

21-152 2/3/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 180.00$                Yes

21-152 2/24/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                Yes

21-152 6/23/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,225.00$             Yes

448 9/2/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal ad for public hearing related to high school expansion 82.00$                   Yes

TV 301 3/19/2021 Timios Escrow Deposit into escrow for acquisition of property 50,000.00$           Yes

TV 353 5/7/2021 Timios Escrow Purchase of property 1,073,500.00$     Yes
Total expenditures through 6/30/2021** 1,235,713.37$     

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.
 

** Total expenditures through 6/30/21 after year end closing entries.

P
age 15 of 245



FUND 21 (Bond) Expenditures

FY 2019-2020

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable

423 9/27/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 802.00$                Yes

423 10/30/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,126.00$             Yes

423 11/13/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 165.00$                Yes

423 12/11/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,969.00$             Yes

423 1/8/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518/1103 807.00$                Yes

423 5/6/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 754.50$                Yes

423 5/20/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,833.50$             Yes

423 6/24/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,194.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,179.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 9,317.00$             Yes

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,057.63$             Yes

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,445.00$             Yes

19397 10/16/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 2,960.00$             Yes

19397 10/23/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 171.62$                Yes

19397 12/11/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,940.58$           Yes

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,895.93$           Yes

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 560.00$                Yes

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,475.12$             Yes

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,252.38$             Yes

19397 6/17/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,366.98$             Yes

19515 9/27/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 4,692.02$             Yes

19515 10/2/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 5,009.48$             Yes

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,667.98$             Yes

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 14,715.59$           Yes

19515 6/17/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 15,933.69$           Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 430.49$                Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,341.19$             Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 2,588.26$             Yes

20202 9/27/2019 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property Purchase Testing 14,480.00$           Yes

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,040.00$             Yes

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             Yes

20219 11/13/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             Yes

20219 12/11/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,080.00$             Yes

20219 1/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,520.00$             Yes

20219 2/12/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,380.00$             Yes

20219 3/11/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             Yes

20219 4/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,320.00$             Yes

20219 5/20/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,920.00$             Yes

20219 6/17/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             Yes

20219 6/30/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,180.00$             Yes

20247 11/20/2019 Timios Title Title Report for new property 400.00$                Yes

20287 10/9/2019 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             Yes

20287 6/30/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             Yes

20495 6/30/2020 Integrated Educational Planning & Programming Building/Expansion Project 4,800.00$             No

PV 98 3/11/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Notice of Prep. of a Prelim. Environmental Assess. 90.20$                  Yes

PV 119 6/17/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Expansion Project 139.40$                Yes
Total expenditures through 6/30/2020 193,861.54$        

P
age 16 of 245



2018-19 Bond and Property Expenses

Vendor PO # Description Amount Reimbursable

California Appraisals 19-567 Appraisal for future site 4,000.00$   Yes

Educational Facilities Program Management LLC 19-134 Bond Development & Election 34,440.00$ Yes

Glenn County Elections PV#69 Bond Election Fees 3,466.00$   No

Holdrege & Kull (NV5) 19-309 Environmental Site Assessment 4,600.00$   Yes

Holdrege & Kull (NV5) 19-397 Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,060.62$   Yes

HUSD Revolving Fund 19-524 New property project 1,500.00$   Yes

Placeworks Inc. 19-514 Title 5 Risk Assessment 15,210.00$ Yes

Placeworks Inc. 19-515 CEQA Review; Expansion Project 5,877.75$   Yes

School Works Inc. 18-639 Development Fee Study 6,000.00$   No

Western Valuation Professional 19-596 Appraisal - new property 3,500.00$   Yes

Dannis Woliver Kelley 423 matter # 10518 Property Purchase Negotiaion 6,470$         Yes

Dannis Woliver Kelley 423 matter # 10418 2018 Bond Discussions 1,017$         No

Total Amount Expended 90,140.87$ 

Reimbursable Total 79,657.87$ 

2018-2019 Bond and Property Related Expenses

P
age 17 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

Agenda Item Number: 13a Date: 9/28/2022 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve updated 2022-23 Classified Confidential/Classified Management salary schedule. 

Background: 
A salary study was conducted on the Director of Nutrition and Student Welfare and the Director of 
Maintenance and Transportation. It was discovered that these two positions were well below the 
average salary of similar positions within our study.  

• Range 2 on the Classified Confidential/Classified Management salary schedule was increased by 5%.

• The Director of Nutrition and Student Welfare was moved from Range 3 to Range 2 on the salary
schedule.

Status: 
Pending board approval. 

Fiscal Impact: 
Classified Confidential/Classified Management 2022-23 salary schedule containing a 5% increase on 
Range 2 and move Director of Nutrition and Student Welfare from Range 3 to Range 2 on the salary 
schedule is $11,364.53 (salary cost) and $4,093.51 (benefit cost) respectively. 

Educational Impact: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
Approve updated 2022-23 Classified Confidential/Classified Management salary schedule containing a 
5% increase on Range 2 and move Director of Nutrition and Student Welfare from Range 3 to Range 2. 

Page 18 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
CLASSIFIED MANAGEMENT/CONFIDENTIAL

SALARY SCHEDULE FOR 2022-23
CAP $12,370

Step 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9-10 11 12-15 16 17-21 22 23-26 27-30 31
1% 1% 1% 5%

Range
1 69,398 72,174 75,061 78,063 81,185 84,433 87,811 91,324 94,977 95,926 99,765 100,762 104,792 105,840 110,073 114,477 120,201

2 58,828 61,183 63,631 66,175 68,822 71,575 74,438 77,416 80,512 81,318 84,570 85,415 88,832 89,720 93,309 97,042 101,895
61,770 64,242 66,812 69,484 72,263 75,154 78,160 81,287 84,538 85,384 88,798 89,686 93,274 94,206 97,975 101,894 106,989

3 54,524 56,708 58,976 61,332 63,787 66,338 68,991 71,751 74,621 75,367 78,383 79,167 82,334 83,156 86,481 89,943 94,438

4 48,641 50,588 52,611 54,716 56,903 59,181 61,547 64,010 66,572 67,238 69,926 70,625 73,450 74,185 77,153 80,239 84,250
    

Range 1 Director of Technology
Range 2 Director of Maintenance & Transportation

Director of Nutrition & Student Welfare Additional changes for 22-23 for approval 9/28/22, Range 2
Range 3 Confidential HR and Payroll Specialist

District Executive Assistant
Range 4 Administrative Assistant

Social Services Coordinator
 

Salaries are based on 260 day contracts.
*Director of Nutrition & Student Welfare is an 11 month employee (contract prorated for 11 months), and
Social Services Coordinator is an 11 month employee (contract prorated for 11 months).

Effective July 1, 2022
Additional changes for 22-23 for approval 9/28/22, Range 2 increase 5% and Director of Nutrition & Student Welfare
  moved from Range 3 to Range 2.

CAP $12,370 effective 10/1/2022
Master's stipend $800, BS/BA stipend $600, AS/AA stipend $400
Employees on the Classified Confidential/Management Salary schedule will receive an annual cell phone stipend amount of $600 (BP/AR 3513.1).

*Removed District Case Manager/Parent/Family Coordinator from 

Range 3 on 12/15/20 per Board action on job description at 12/9/20 

board meeting. Position title is now: Social Services Coordinator and 

is paid on Range 4.

COLA of 5.0% board approved 3/23/22. 

Page 19 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number:  13b Date: 9/28/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified School District. 
 

Background: 
 
The Classified Unit (CSEA) and Hamilton USD agreed on a 3 Year Agreement for 2020-23. 
As approved in the June 27, 2022 board meeting packet, negotiated Articles included: 

• Article 4: Organizational Rights 

• Article 10: Pay and Allowances 

• Article 11: Health and Welfare Benefits 

• Article 20: Layoffs 

• Article 21: Classification and Salary Assessments 

Status: 
 
Pending board approval. 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
 
Changes to Article 10: Pay and Allowances, Article 11: Health and Welfare Benefits and Article 21: 
Classification and Salary Assessments were outlined and approved during the June 27, 2022 board 
meeting (6/27/22 agenda Item Number: ACTION ITEMS: “f”). 
 

Educational Impact: 
 
None. 
 

Recommendation: 
 
Recommend board approve the 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified 
School District. 
 

 

Page 20 of 245



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

Between 
 

Hamilton Unified School District 
 

And 
 

California School Employees Association 
 

Chapter 623 
 
 

July 1, 2020 – June 30, 2023

Page 21 of 245



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT ............................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION .......................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 3 – DISTRICT RIGHTS .................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 4 – ORGANIZATIONAL RIGHTS .................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 5 – PERSONNEL FILES ................................................................. 87 

ARTICLE 6 - EVALUATIONS ........................................................................ 98 

ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE .................................................. 109 

ARTICLE 8 – TRANSFERS & PROMOTIONS .......................................... 1413 

ARTICLE 9 – HOURS AND OVERTIME ................................................... 1514 

ARTICLE 10 – PAY AND ALLOWANCES ............................................... 1918 

ARTICLE 11 – HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS ............................ 2423 

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS ......................................................................... 2625 

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES .............................................................................. 2826 

ARTICLE 14 – DISCIPLINE ............................................................................ 31 

ARTICLE 15 – VACATION ............................................................................. 35 

ARTICLE 16 – WORKING CONDITIONS ..................................................... 37 

ARTICLE 17 – SUMMER SESSION EMPLOYMENT .................................. 38 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ........................................ 39 

ARTICLE 19 – NO DISCRIMINATION.......................................................... 40 

ARTICLE 20 – LAYOFFS ................................................................................ 41 

SIGNATURE PAGE ......................................................................................... 43 

APPENDIX A – CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE .................................. 45 

APPENDIX B – DEFINITIONS ....................................................................... 46 

 

  

Page 22 of 245



1 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT 
 

1.1. The articles and provisions contained herein constitute a bilateral and binding agreement 
(“Agreement”), by and between the Hamilton Unified School District, hereinafter referred 
to as District, and the California School Employees Association and its Hamilton Chapter 
#623, hereinafter referred to as CSEA. 

 
1.2. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from July 1, 2020 through June 30,  

2023.   
 
1.3. If any provision of this Agreement, or any application thereof, to any classified employee 

represented by CSEA is held by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction 
to be contrary to law, then such provision or application will be deemed invalid (to the 
extent required by such decision) but all other provisions or applications shall continue in 
full force and effect.  In the event of invalidation of any portion of this Agreement, the 
parties agree to meet after such determination for the purpose of seeking to reach an 
agreement for the replacement of the invalidated article or section. 

 
1.3.1. In the event of invalidation of any portion of this Agreement, the parties agree to 

meet within thirty (30) working days after such determination for the purpose of 
seeking to reach agreement for the replacement of the invalidated article or section. 

 
1.4. RATIFICATION OF ADDITIONS OR CHANGES 

 
Any additions or changes in this Agreement shall not be effective unless reduced to writing 
and properly ratified and signed by both parties. 

 
1.5. REOPENERS 

 
For the 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 school years, eEither Pparty may reopen negotiations 
related to salary, health, and welfare benefits and up to two (2) Aarticles of each Pparty’s 
choosing.  during the term of this contract (see any tentative agreements for limitations). 
 
Per Tentative Agreement dated June 22, 2022 between the Hamilton Unified School 
District and the California School Employees Association and it’s Hamilton Chapter No. 
623 (“CSEA”). “This agreement shall close negotiations between the Parties for the 2021-
22 and the 2022-23 school years, and neither party shall be entitled to request reopeners 
for this term. Agreement is hereby signed by the Parties on this 22 day of June, 2022.” 

Page 23 of 245



2 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION 
 

1.1. The District hereby acknowledges that CSEA is the exclusive representative of all 
classified employees who are not management, supervisory, confidential, substitutes or 
certificated. 

 

Page 24 of 245



3 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 3 – DISTRICT RIGHTS 
 

3.1. It is understood and agreed that the District retains all its powers and authority to direct, 
manage and control to the full extent of the law.   Included in but not limited to those duties 
and powers are the exclusive right to: 

 
a. Determine its organization. 
b. Direct the work of its employees. 
c. Determine the times and hours of operation. 
d. Establish its educational policies, goals, and objectives. 
e. Insure the rights and educational opportunities of students. 
f. Determine staffing patterns. 
g. Determine the number and kinds of personnel required. 
h. Determine the curriculum. 
i. Maintain the efficiency of District operations. 
j. Build, move, or modify facilities. 
k. Establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation. 
l. Determine the methods of raising revenue. 
m. Take action that is supported by law on any matter in the event of an emergency. 
n. In addition, the District retains the right to hire, classify, assign transfer, evaluate, 

promote, terminate and discipline employees. 
 
3.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the 

District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, 
and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by 
the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such specific 
and express terms are in conformance with law. 

 
3.3 The provisions of this Article shall not be construed to override specific terms of this 

Agreement or to abrogate or limit rights guaranteed or provided by legal decisions or the 
operation of the law. 

 

Page 25 of 245



4 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 4 – ORGANIZATIONAL RIGHTS 
 

4.1 CSEA shall have the following rights in addition to those which are expressly set forth in 
other Articles of this Agreement.  See Appendix B for definitions. 

 
a. The right to reasonable release time and access to areas in which employees work for 

the purpose of representing bargaining unit members on grievances. 
b. The right to review employee’s personnel files and any other records dealing with 

employees when accompanied by the employee or upon written authorization of the 
employee. 

c. The right to use, without charge, facilities, buildings, bulletin boards, mailboxes and 
the use of the school mail system for official communication directed to members by 
CSEA on matters related to representation. 

d. To be supplied with an updated alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members to 
include the hire date, classification, contract hours and work location by the 1st of 
October each year. 

e. The right to review or receive upon request, copies of materials related to wages, hours, 
other terms and conditions of employment or any other documents which are relevant 
for CSEA to fulfill its duties and obligations as the exclusive representative of 
bargaining unit employees covered by this Agreement. 

f. The right to reasonable release time for the purpose of negotiating reopener and 
successor agreements. 

g. The right to release time for one elected CSEA conference delegate to attend the annual 
CSEA conference. 

h. The right to reasonable release time for the Chapter President or his/her designee for 
the purpose of attending to CSEA business. 

 
4.2 VOLUNTARY DEDUCTIONS 
 

The District shall, upon appropriate written authorization from any employee, deduct for 
any insurance premiums, credit union payments, savings bonds, or other plans or programs, 
which have been jointly approved by CSEA and the District.  The District shall pay to the 
designated payee, within a reasonable time of the deductions, all sums so deducted. 

4.3 DUES 

4.3.1 The District shall distribute CSEA-supplied membership applications to new hires 
but not make any statement suggesting employees must join. The District shall refer 
all employee questions about CSEA or dues over to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative. CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising 
from its compliance with this clause. It is the mutual intention of the parties that the 
provisions of this Article protect the rights of individual bargaining unit members 
without restricting CSEA’s right to require every bargaining unit member, except 
those exempt from these provisions, to pay a fair share of the cost of collective 
bargaining activities. 

4.3.2 The District shall not interfere with the terms of any agreement between CSEA and 
the District’s employee with regard to that employee’s membership in CSEA, 

Page 26 of 245



5 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

including but not limited to automatic renewal yearly unless the employee drops 
out during a specified window period. The District need not need keep track of this 
period which shall be tracked by CSEA within its membership database. Except as 
expressly exempted herein, all bargaining unit members who do not maintain 
membership in good standing in CSEA are required to pay service fees to CSEA in 
amounts that do not exceed the periodic dues of CSEA for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

4.3.3 Bargaining unit members shall maintain membership in good standing in CSEA, 
pay service fees or, if a religious exemption is granted by CSEA, make equivalent 
payment to charity in lieu of service fees. 

4.3.4 No bargaining unit member shall be obligated to pay dues or service fees to CSEA 
until the first of the month following thirty (30) calendar days after the bargaining 
unit member first comes into the bargaining unit. 

4.3.5 Any bargaining unit member who is a member of a religious body whose traditional 
tenets or teachings include objections to joining or paying service fees to employee 
organizations shall not be required to join, maintain membership in, or pay service 
fees to CSEA as a condition of employment.  However, such bargaining unit 
member shall be required, in lieu of a service fee required by this Agreement, to 
pay sums equal to such service fee to one of the following non-religious, non-labor 
organizations, charitable funds exempt from taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. 

4.3.5.1 A charity, as defined above, acceptable to the District and the 
Association.  

4.3.5.2 A scholarship for the benefit of Hamilton Unified School District 
students.  

4.3.6 Any bargaining unit member claiming this religious exemption must file a written 
request for exemption with CSEA Legal Department.  If the request is granted, the 
bargaining unit member shall, as a condition of continued exemption from the 
requirement of paying service fees to CSEA, furnish CSEA Headquarters with 
copies of receipts from the charity selected, as proof that such payments have been 
made, or shall authorize payroll deduction of such payments. 

4.3.7 CSEA has the sole and exclusive right to have employee organization membership 
dues and service fees deducted by the District for bargaining unit members. 

4.3.8 The District shall deduct dues and service fees or payments to charity in accordance 
with the CSEA dues and service fee schedule from the wages of all bargaining unit 
members who have submitted payroll deduction authorization forms to the District 
unless CSEA notifies the District that the bargaining unit member is paying such 
fees directly to CSEA.  Such authorization shall remain in effect until expressly 
revoked in writing by the bargaining unit member.  A payroll deduction 
authorization form shall not be required for deduction of service fees or payments 
to charity. 

Page 27 of 245



6 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

4.3.9 The District shall, without charge, pay to CSEA within fifteen (15) days of the 
deduction all sums so deducted, except that the District shall pay to the designated 
charity sums deducted in lieu of service fees from the wages of bargaining unit 
members whose requests for religious exemption have been approved by CSEA 
Headquarters pursuant to this Agreement. 

4.3.10 Along with each monthly payment to CSEA, the District shall furnish without 
charge an alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members identifying them by 
name, hourly rate of pay, and days per year in paid status and indicating the amount 
deducted, if any, and whether such deduction is for dues, service fees or charitable 
contributions. 

4.3.11 Nothing contained herein shall prohibit a bargaining unit member from paying 
service fees directly to CSEA accounting department. 

4.3.12 The District shall immediately notify the CSEA Chapter Treasurer if any member 
of the bargaining unit revokes a dues, service fee or payment in lieu of service fee 
deduction authorization. 

4.3.13 CSEA agrees to reimburse the District, its officers and agents for reasonable 
attorney fees and legal costs incurred after notice to CSEA in  defending 
against any court or administrative action challenging the legality of the 
organization security provisions of this Agreement or the implementation thereof 
providing the District has complied with the terms of this Article and has promptly 
notified CSEA of its awareness of such an action.  The Association agrees that 
payments under this provision shall be made on a semiannual basis. 

4.3.14 The Chapter agrees to indemnify and hold the District harmless from any award or 
judgment, which may result from a court action or administrative action referenced 
in 4.3.12 above. 

4.3.15 CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such 
action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed. 

4.3.16 Bargaining unit members on voluntary leave without pay, on laid off status, 
terminated from employment or not on the District’s payroll for any reason for more 
than thirty (30) days shall be exempt from the above provisions. 

4.4 DUES DEDUCTION 
 

4.4.1 The District shall deduct, in accordance with the CSEA dues schedule, dues from 
the wages of all employees who are members of CSEA. 

 
4.4.2 The District shall not be obligated to put into effect any new or changed 

deductions until the pay period commencing thirty (30) days or more after such 
submission. 

 
4.4.3 There shall be no charge by the District to CSEA for regular membership dues 

deductions. 

Page 28 of 245



7 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

4.4.4 CSEA has the sole and exclusive right to have employee organization 
membership dues deducted by the District for bargaining unit members. 

 
4.4.5 The District shall, without charge, pay to CSEA within fifteen (15) days of the 

deduction all sums so deducted. 
 
4.4.6 Along with each monthly payment to CSEA, the District shall furnish without 

charge an alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members identifying them by 
name, hourly rate of pay, and days per year in paid status and indicating the 
amount deducted, if any. 

 
4.5       MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 
 

4.5.1 The District shall take all reasonable steps to safeguard the privacy of CSEA 
member’s personal information, including but not limited to members Social 
Security Numbers, personal addresses, personal phone number, personal cellular 
phone number, and status as a union member. 
 

4.6 HOLD HARMLESS PROVISION 
 

4.6.1 CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising from its 
compliance with this Article and for any claims made by the employee for 
deductions made in reliance on information provided by the employee 
organization to the District to cancel or change membership dues authorization. 
The District shall be required to promptly notify CSEA of any claims made by 
employees relating to dues authorization. 
 

4.6.2 CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such 
action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed. 

 

Page 29 of 245



8 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 5 – PERSONNEL FILES 
 
5.1 Personnel files of each bargaining unit member shall be maintained in the District’s central 

administrative offices. 

5.2 Every bargaining unit member shall have the right to examine his/her file upon request 
provided such inspection takes place outside the employee’s normal working hours. 

5.3 Employees shall be provided with a copy of any derogatory material before it is placed in 
the employee’s personnel file.  The employee’s written response, if submitted within ten 
(10) workdays shall be attached to the material. 

5.4 Any person who places written material or drafts written material for placement in the 
bargaining unit member’s file shall sign the material and signify the date on which such 
material was drafted.  Any written materials placed in a personnel file shall indicate the 
date of such placement. 

5.5 Information of a positive nature will be entered into the personnel file of a bargaining unit 
member provided it was written by the immediate supervisor or is related to the bargaining 
unit member’s job performance. 

5.6 All personnel files shall be kept in confidence and shall be available for inspection only to 
other employees of the District when actually necessary in the proper administration of the 
District’s affairs or the supervision of the Bargaining Unit Member. 

5.7 Upon request, a bargaining unit member shall be provided a copy of any material included 
in his/her personnel file.  A bargaining unit member shall have the right to authorize a 
CSEA representative to examine their file and obtain a copy of material in the file. The 
CSEA representative shall provide a form with the bargaining unit member’s signature 
authorizing the review of materials. 

5.8 Material not subject to inspection by the bargaining unit member includes rating reports or 
records which were obtained prior to the employment of the bargaining unit member or 
obtained in connection with a promotional examination. 

Page 30 of 245



9 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 6 - EVALUATIONS 
6.1 Evaluations shall be considered as a tool to provide bargaining unit member with 

information related to job performance and shall include not only a review of the past but 
a plan for future improvement as well as a provision for commendations for exemplary 
employees. 

6.2 Evaluations shall be conducted by the bargaining unit member’s immediate supervisor. All 
evaluations of classified employees shall be reviewed by the site administrator for which 
the employee works. If the immediate supervisor’s assessment is in conflict with that of 
the site administrator, the matter will be reviewed by the Superintendent, or in his absence, 
the Chief Business Officer, to gain clarity prior to the evaluation being shared with the 
employee.  

6.3 Permanent bargaining unit members shall be evaluated once each year prior to May 1st.  
Such evaluation shall consist of an overview of the current school year. 

6.4 Probationary bargaining unit members shall be evaluated two times during the first year of 
employment. Preliminary progress evaluations shall occur once at four months and once at 
eight months.  The employee shall receive a final evaluation prior to their 1st anniversary 
date.  Should the District fail to conduct at least the final evaluation prior to the employee’s 
anniversary date, the employee shall be deemed a permanent employee.   

6.5 No evaluation shall be based on statements or events which cannot be investigated.  
Evaluations shall be made based upon the direct observation and knowledge of the 
evaluator. 

6.6 Within ten (10) days of learning of any matter which may warrant placement of a negative 
rating on a bargaining unit member(s) evaluation, the immediate supervisor shall discuss 
with the bargaining unit member his/her concerns. No negative rating shall be placed on a 
bargaining unit member(s) evaluation without this discussion. 

6.7 Any negative evaluation shall include specific deficiencies and specific recommendations 
for improvement and provisions for assisting the employee in implementing any 
recommendations made. Additional training, courses and counseling referrals are options 
for specific recommendations for improvement. 

6.8 At any meeting to discuss an evaluation, the bargaining unit member is entitled to the right 
to representation if the bargaining unit member feels that the evaluation might lead to 
discipline.  Such representative shall have the right to speak on behalf of the bargaining 
unit member. 

6.9 The signing of an evaluation by a bargaining unit member only means that the bargaining 
unit member has received a copy of the evaluation, not that the bargaining unit member 
agrees with the contents of the evaluation.   

6.10 Bargaining unit members shall be given release time without loss of pay for the opportunity 
to review and comment on any evaluation before it is entered into the District personnel 
files.   

Page 31 of 245



10 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

7.1 DEFINITIONS 

7.1.1. A “grievance” is a claim by a bargaining unit member or CSEA that there has been 
a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of this Agreement. 

7.1.2. A “grievant” is the person or person, including CSEA or representatives, making 
the claim. 

7.1.3. A “day” is any day in which the district office is open for business. 

7.2 GENERAL 

7.2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to secure at the lowest possible administrative level 
a resolution to the grievance caused from the interpretation and application of this 
Agreement. 

7.2.2 The time limits specified should be considered firm, but may be extended by mutual 
agreement in writing. 

7.2.3 Bargaining Unit members will inform their representative, i.e. local CSEA 
Representative/President their desire to file a grievance prior to the actual filing. 

 

7.2.4 Bargaining unit members are entitled to representation by CSEA at all levels. 

 

7.2.5 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by any person against any aggrieved person, 
any party in interest, any member of CSEA, or any other participant in the grievance 
procedures by reason of such participation. 

 
7.2.6 A bargaining unit member may be represented at all stages of the grievance 

procedure by himself or herself or, at their option, by a representative of CSEA.  A 
bargaining unit member may at any time present grievances to the District and have 
such grievance adjusted without the intervention of CSEA as long as the adjustment 
is reached prior to arbitration and the adjustment is consistent with the terms of this 
written Agreement.  The District shall not agree to a resolution of the grievance 
until CSEA has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and 
has been given the opportunity to file a response. 

 
7.2.7 CSEA shall (on its own behalf or on the behalf of the affected employee(s)) initiate 

with the Superintendent a grievance which affects more than one bargaining unit 
member at more than one location or if the immediate supervisor does not have the 
authority to remedy the grievance. 

7.2.8 Time limits shall begin the day following receipt of a written decision.   

Page 32 of 245



11 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

7.2.9 All documents, communication, and records resulting from the processing of a 
grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel file of any participant. 

7.2.10 Appropriate forms for the filing and processing of grievances will be developed 
jointly by the District and CSEA and provided to bargaining unit members, as 
necessary, at the cost of the District. 

7.2.11 If the District does not respond in a timely fashion, the grievance automatically 
proceeds to the next level. 

7.2.12 Appropriate forms for the filing and processing of grievances will be developed 
jointly by the District and CSEA and provided to bargaining unit members, as 
necessary, at the cost of the District. 

7.2.13 If the District does not respond in a timely fashion, the grievance automatically 
proceeds to the next level. 

 
 

7.3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

7.3.1 Level One (Informal) 

7.3.1.1 Alleged grievances should be discussed in a private, informal 
conference between parties involved.  At least one such private meeting 
should take place between the parties before the grievance procedure is 
involved.  Grievant may request presence of CSEA representative. 

7.3.1.2 If the same alleged grievance is made by more than one employee 
against one respondent, only one employee on behalf of self and the 
other complainants may process the complaint through the adjustment 
procedure upon signed written consent of other involved grievants. 
Names of all aggrieved parties shall appear on all documents related to 
the settlement of the grievance. 

7.3.1.3 The administrator/supervisor has five working (5) days to respond to 
any informal grievance.   

7.3.1.4 The time limit provided for in this policy may be extended by mutual 
written agreement of the parties.  Any decision not appealed within the 
limits from one level to the next level in the grievance policy shall be 
considered settled on the basis of the last decision and not subject to 
further appeal. 

7.3.2 Level Two (Formal) 

7.3.2.1 Within five (5) working days of receipt of the administration or 
supervisor informal decision, the grievant has the right to move to 
formal level two of the grievance process should the decision not settle 
the issue.  The formal level two grievance shall be delivered in writing 

Page 33 of 245



12 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

to the site administrator/immediate supervisor stating the reasons for 
disagreement, specific contract violations, and an acceptable solution.   

7.3.2.2 Within five (5) working days the site administrator/supervisor shall 
communicate his/her decision to the employee in writing.  If the 
administrator does not respond or the grievance is not settled with the 
grievant in an acceptable solution, within five (5) working days from 
receipt of the written decision of the site administrator/supervisor, the 
grievant may appeal to the next level.   

7.3.3 Level Three 

7.3.3.1 Within five (5) working days the grievant shall submit in writing a 
request to have the matter mediated with the Superintendent. The 
Superintendent shall call a meeting within ten (10) working days 
between the grievant and the supervisor to hear the level-three 
grievance. In the event the Superintendent is the immediate supervisor, 
the time period shall be automatically extended for up to five (5) 
additional days so that the President of the Governing School Board or 
his/her appointee may hear the grievance and render a decision.   In 
either case, the grievant shall submit to the Superintendent a formal 
statement of grievance that includes the sections of the contract and an 
acceptable solution to the grievance.  The site administrator/supervisor 
shall forward all responses of the prior grievance level(s) prior to the 
level-three conference. 

7.3.3.2 Within five (5) working days, the Superintendent or in the event the 
President of the Governing School Board sits as moderator, shall in 
writing notify all parties of their decision.  If this decision is an 
acceptable conclusion or a negotiated agreement is reached to the 
grievance, the grievance shall be deemed settled.  If the decision or an 
agreement is not accepted/reached, the grievant may request in writing 
to have the grievance move to level four (Hearing before the School 
Board).   

7.3.4 Level Four 

7.3.4.1 Within thirty-two (32) working days of receipt of the appeal from the 
grievant, the School Board shall conduct a hearing on the grievance in 
an open or closed public session as requested by the grievant.  At the 
hearing, the grievant shall have an opportunity to testify, present 
evidence, and present witnesses pertaining to the grievance. 

7.3.4.2 Prior to the final resolution of the grievance, the district Board shall 
provide a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution to CSEA.  
CSEA shall have seven (7) days to comment on the proposed resolution. 

7.3.4.3 If the decision is not satisfactory, the grievant has the option of 
requesting of CSEA that the grievance be submitted to arbitration.  

Page 34 of 245



13 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

7.3.4.4 CSEA shall notify the District in writing of its determination within 
thirty (30) days of the Board’s written decision. 

7.3.4.5 Either party may call witnesses and present evidence relevant to the 
arbitration issues.  Bargaining unit members called as witnesses will be 
released from duty without loss of pay to testify at the arbitration. 

7.3.4.6 The arbitrator’s decision will be in writing and will set forth to all parties 
his/her findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions on the issues 
submitted.  The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make 
any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law 
or which is in violation of the terms of this Agreement.  The arbitrator 
will have no power to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of this 
Agreement.  Should it become necessary to decide an issue, an arbitrator 
is required to review issues of “external law”.  

7.3.4.7 Provided the arbitrator abides by his or her jurisdictional mandates, 
doesn’t commit fraud, or have a conflict of interest, the decision of the 
arbitrator shall be binding. 

7.3.4.8 All costs, for the direct services of the arbitrator will be borne equally 
by the District and CSEA.  Other costs will be borne by the party 
incurring them. 

Page 35 of 245



14 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 8 – TRANSFERS & PROMOTIONS 

8.1 DEFINITIONS 

8.1.1 A transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one school to another 
regardless of the number of hours per day or days per year.  A transfer shall not 
involve a change in classification or job title. 

8.1.2 A promotion shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification to a 
higher classification. 

8.1.3 A demotion shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification to a 
lower classification. 

8.1.4 A lateral transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification 
to a different classification on the same salary range. 

8.1.5 An involuntary transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one school 
to another regardless of the number of hours per day or days per year that the 
employee has not initiated.  An involuntary transfer shall not involve a change in 
classification or job title and shall not be used for disciplinary purposes.  Any 
employee who will be involuntary transferred shall be given at least ten-(10) 
working-days-notice along with the reason for the transfer. 

 
8.2 POSTING OF NOTICE 

8.2.1 Notice of job vacancies shall be posted on bulletin boards in prominent locations at 
each district job site for not less than six (6) full working days.  Employees meeting 
the minimum requirements for the vacancy shall apply by sending notice to the 
Personnel Department prior to the deadline.  Bargaining unit members who are on 
leave or layoff shall be sent a copy of the notice by first class mail on the date of 
the position posting. 

8.2.2 The job vacancy notice shall include, the job title, a brief description of the position 
and duties, the minimum qualifications required for the position, the assigned job 
site, the number of hours per day, work shift times, days per week and months per 
year assigned to the position, the salary range and the deadline for filing to fill the 
vacancy. 

8.2.3 Vacancies shall be filled in the following priority order: 
 

a. Reemployment Lists (if in effect) 
b. Transfers 
c. Lateral Transfers 
d. Demotions 
e. Promotions 
f. Outside candidate - If no bargaining unit member applies for the vacancy 

or meets the minimum qualifications 

Page 36 of 245



15 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 9 – HOURS AND OVERTIME 
9.1 Workweek – The workweek for each regular employee shall consist of five (5) consecutive 

workdays, Monday through Friday, unless otherwise designated by the District as posted 
in the job announcement. (TA-5-13-2014) 

9.2 Workday – The length of the workday shall be designated by the District for each classified 
assignment in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement.  At the time of 
employment, bargaining unit employee shall be assigned a fixed, regular, and ascertainable 
minimum number of hours. (TA 5-13-2014) 

9.2.1 The District and/or an employee may wish to propose a special project that requires 
modification of the employees shift days/hours. When a project is proposed, the 
District and Employee may sign a side letter that states the following: 

9.1.1.1 The date, duration, and details will be delineated in the side letter. 

9.1.1.2 Either the District or the employee may cancel the side letter by a written 
notice to the other party with 30 day notice to canceling.  

9.3 Adjustment of Assigned Time – Any part time employee in the bargaining unit who works 
an average of thirty (30) minutes or more per day in excess of his/her regular part-time 
assignment for a period of twenty (20) consecutive working days or more shall have his/her 
regular assignment adjusted upward to reflect the longer hours, effective with the next pay 
period. Employees who work over assigned hours must have pre-approval of their 
supervisor before working overtime.  

9.4 Rest Periods – All bargaining unit employees shall be granted rest periods which, insofar 
as practicable, shall be in the middle of each work period at the rate of fifteen (15) minutes 
per three and three quarters (3 ¾) hours worked or more; two rest periods of fifteen (15) 
minutes shall be granted to an employee who works at least six (6) hours.  Employees who 
work less than three (3) hours shall have a ten (10) minute rest period.  Rest periods are a 
part of the regular workday and shall be compensated at the regular rate of pay for the 
employee. 

9.5 Overtime – All overtime hours shall be compensated at a rate of pay equal to one and one-
half the regular rate of pay of the employee for all work required or permitted.  Overtime 
is defined to include any time worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day or of forty (40) 
hours in any assigned work week.  Any employee that works over eight (8) hours in a day 
or 40 hours in an assigned work week without prior approval from the employee’s 
supervisor will not receive overtime compensation or compensatory time off. 

9.5.1 Compensatory Time – Compensatory time off (CTO) in lieu of cash compensation 
may be accrued in lieu of compensation for overtime.  CTO shall be taken, at a time 
that is mutually acceptable to the employee and the District.  All paid overtime or 
CTO must have prior authorization for the overtime/CTO from the employee’s 
supervisor.  Any approved overtime will be submitted monthly to your supervisor 
on a timesheet denoting your request for overtime or CTO.  The supervisor will 
forward this request to the district payroll clerk for documentation.  All requests for 
Comp time off will be submitted through the AESOP system.  

Page 37 of 245



16 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

9.5.2 Employees may accrue and carry up to 40 hours of CTO.  The employee may 
request to be paid for their CTO bank of time once annually in June.  The employee 
must submit in writing a request for payment of their CTO bank to the District Chief 
Business Officer prior to the last day business day in May of the school year. If no 
such written request is received, it will be assumed the employee wishes to carry 
over the accrued CTO bank to the following school year. (TA 6-19-2012) 

9.5.3 In economic times of financial hardship, the District may require employees to use 
any compensatory time that is recorded in lieu of overtime.  In these events, the unit 
will be notified in writing after the District issues a first or second interim report 
showing the District is presenting a qualified or negative budget to the School 
Board.  In such events, the District will work with the unit members to schedule 
time off that will minimally impact the operation of the department, site or district 
office.   

 
9.5.4 Transportation Assignments – Whenever it is necessary to provide the use of a 

school vehicle to transport more than eight (8) students, the District shall assign the 
task to a classified employee. 

 
9.5.5 Overtime shall be distributed to employees in the bargaining unit within each 

department in order of bargaining unit seniority.  If the employee with the greatest 
bargaining unit seniority elects to refuse the overtime assignment, it shall be offered 
to employees in the bargaining unit in descending order of seniority until the 
assignment is made. If overtime is mandatory and no unit member volunteers, the 
supervisor will distribute equally among unit members the required overtime on a 
reverse seniority rotational basis. Refusal by a senior employee in the bargaining 
unit of any overtime assignment shall not waive his/her right under this section to 
be offered any subsequent overtime assignment in order of seniority. Under 
extraordinary circumstances CSEA and the District agrees that a department head 
may work overtime usually owned by CSEA. (TA 5-13-2014) 

 
9.6 When a classified employee is requested to work on any paid holiday, he/she shall be paid 

compensation, or elect to take compensatory time off for such work, in addition to the 
regular pay received for the holiday, at the rate of time and one-half (1½) of his/her regular 
rate of pay. 

 
9.7 Minimum Call In Time – Any employee called in to work at a time when the employee is 

not scheduled to work, shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the appropriate 
rate of pay under this agreement. 

 
9.8 Right of Refusal -- Any employee shall have the right to reject any offer or request for 

overtime, or call back or call in time, except in the case of an emergency declared by the 
Superintendent or his/her designee. 

 
9.9 Hours Worked – For the purpose of computing seniority, all time during which an 

employee is in regular paid status, excluding overtime, as a probationary or permanent 
employee, shall be construed as hours worked. 

 

Page 38 of 245



17 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

9.10 Standby Time – All standby time shall be considered as regular hours worked and shall be 
compensated on a straight time or overtime basis as are other hours worked under this 
Agreement. 

 
9.10.1 Bus drivers on special trips, including but not limited to athletic events, field trips 

and curricular trips who are required to remain on standby for the duration of the 
event for which the special trip is made, shall be paid for all standby hours at their 
regular rate of pay. 

 
9.10.2 Whenever any combination of driving and standby hours in a day exceeds the 

established workday, all excess hours shall be compensated at the appropriate 
overtime rate based on the employee’s regular pay rate. Unit members may choose 
to adjust their work schedules for the day that they are assigned to drive if the 
trip/event exceeds their scheduled work time. (TA 5-13-2014) 

 
9.10.3 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, if a special trip requires 

an overnight stay, the District shall be relieved of the obligation of standby payment 
for any hours between the time a bus driver is relieved of duties for the evening and 
the time resumed the following morning. 

 
9.11 COMPENSATION DURING REQUIRED TRAINING PERIODS 
 

9.11.1 An employee who is required to attend training sessions or otherwise engage in 
training of any kind in order to continue his/her employment in a position shall 
receive compensation as follows: 

 
9.11.1.1 When the training occurs during the employee’s regularly assigned 

working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay 
and shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. All employees 
attending the two formal days of training shall complete a timesheet for 
the amount of hours worked in excess of their regular contract hours.  
All ten (10), eleven (11) and 12 month shall receive two formal days of 
training per school year. One day shall be during the district in-service 
at the beginning of the school year, and one at the direction of the district 
during the school year. When the training occurs during the regularly 
assigned working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular 
rate of pay and shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. Ten 
(10) and eleven (11) employees, and twelve (12) month employees (who 
exceed their daily contracted hours) attending the two formal days of 
training shall complete a timesheet for the amount of hours worked in 
excess of their regular  contract hours. (TA 3/2/18) 

 
9.11.1.2 When the regularly assigned hours of work and training combined total 

in excess of eight (8) hours on a regularly assigned work day, or when 
the training occurs at any time other that the regularly assigned work 
week, the employee shall be paid at the overtime rate appropriate for the 
day and/or time at which training occurs.  The overtime rate shall be 
based on the employee’s regular rate of pay. 

Page 39 of 245



18 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
 Training days that require adjustment of work-day/work-schedule shall 

be stated with a minimum of 10 days notice. 
 
9.11.1.3 All costs incurred under a district mandated training program for 

employee transportation, registration  fees, and supplies, shall be 
paid by the District. 

 
9.11.1.4 12 month employees will be granted one half day of leave before the 

following holidays in lieu compensation of the additional District 
training days annually: one half day prior to Christmas Eve holiday and 
one half before the New Year’s Eve holiday, i.e. “Bolt Days”. 

 

Page 40 of 245



19 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 10 – PAY AND ALLOWANCES 

10.1 The regular rate of pay for bargaining unit members shall be in accordance with Appendix 
“A.” 

10.2 Employees whose current salary schedule is higher than the salary at the corresponding 
step in the new salary schedule (Appendix A) shall be “Y-rated” and continue to receive 
their present salary until their rate of pay according to Appendix A reaches or exceeds their 
current rate.  When an employee on a “Y-rate” vacates that position, the employee who 
occupies the position shall be compensated on the applicable step in the Appendix A.  The 
“Y-rate” shall not apply in such instance unless the employee is also entitled to a “Y-rate” 
designation as defined in this article. 

10.310.2 All employees in the bargaining unit shall be paid at least once per month payable 
on or before the last working day of the month.  If the normal pay date falls on a holiday, 
the paycheck shall be issued on the preceding workday. 

10.410.3 Any error that is discovered that affects the salary of an employee shall be adjusted 
up to a three (3) year period.  If the error is in favor of the employee, the employee will be 
compensated by the amount plus five percent (5%) interest for a period of no more than 
three (3) years.  The amount will be paid within a forty-five (45) calendar day period.  If 
the error is in favor of the District, a mutually acceptable repayment plan will be undertaken 
which will reduce the employee’s monthly check accordingly. 

10.510.4 Any payroll adjustment due an employee in the bargaining unit as a result of 
working out of class, working overtime, or reasons other than payroll errors shall be 
included in either the following end-of-the-month or the 10th of the month payroll check.  
The supplemental pay period is from the 11th of the previous month to the 10th of the current 
month. 

10.610.5 Any paycheck for an employee in the bargaining unit which is lost after receipt or 
which is not delivered within seven (7) days of mailing, if mailed, shall be replaced not 
later than five (5) working days following the employee’s notice to the payroll department 
for replacement of the check. 

10.710.6 The District shall offer less than full time unit employees the opportunity to 
substitute for absent bargaining unit members.  This opportunity shall be subject to the 
following: 

10.7.110.6.1 Absent unusual circumstances, there will be no overlap in hours (i.e. the 
employee must first be able to perform his/her regular assignment). 

10.7.210.6.2 The substitute assignment shall not result in overtime costs for the District.  
In such cases, the District may split the assignment or may offer the substitute 
opportunity to persons who are on the Classified substitute list. 

10.7.310.6.3 The District and Unit agree that parental involvement is critical to maximize 
the educational opportunities for all students. Further, District and Unit agree that 
Unit members and certain classifications within the Unit require training and 

Page 41 of 245



20 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

background parameters that are preserved by this agreement and state and federal 
laws. 

10.7.410.6.4 Certain classifications that require certain certifications as a means to 
protect children are as follows: 

a. Paraprofessionals as detailed in the Elementary and Secondary Education 
Act (ESEA, see below) (3/2/18) 

b. Preschool Assistant and Preschool Teacher. 

10.7.510.6.5 Title I Paraprofessionals whose duties include instructional support must 
have: 

a. High school diploma or the equivalent, and 

b. Two years of college (48 units), or 

c. AA Degree (or higher), or 

d. Pass a local assessment of Knowledge and Skills in assisting in instruction. 

10.7.610.6.6 Other classifications who directly supervise children who are required to 
submit to a background check as prescribed by Ed Code 44830.1, 45125, 45125.01. 
(3/2/18) 

a. Child Nutrition Staff 

b. Yard Duty Supervisors 

c. District Universals 

d. District Bus Driver 

e. Office Clerical 

10.7.710.6.7 The District and Unit wish to ensure that parent involvement is protected 
while complying with state and federal statutes requiring the protection of children. 
The District and Unit agree that parents may volunteer in their child’s classroom 
up to five (5) hours weekly per child in their respective family. Such volunteerism 
is under the direct supervision of a classroom teacher and is not considered to 
infringe upon the aforementioned legal requirements or this agreement. 

10.7.810.6.8 This agreement does not inhibit parental involvement with those activities 
that are usual and customary known as parent involvement, for example PTO, 
Boosters and other like committees. 

10.810.7 When a bargaining unit member substitutes in a higher bargaining unit position, 
they shall be paid as follows: 

Page 42 of 245



21 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

10.8.110.7.1 If his/her regular hourly rate of pay is less than Step 1 of the classification 
in which they will substitute, they shall receive Step 1. 

10.8.210.7.2 If his/her regular hourly rate of pay is more than Step 1 of the 
 classification in which they will substitute, they shall receive one hundred five 
percent (105%) of Step 1, or an additional $1.00 per hour of the employee’s current 
hourly rate, whichever is higher. (3/2/18) 

10.8.310.7.3 If a unit member is appointed in writing by the Superintendent to conduct 
the duties of a department manager, that unit member shall receive one hundred ten 
percent (110%) of that unit member’s current hourly rate of pay. If more than one 
unit member is undertaking the duties of the manager, the compensation will be 
split equally. This clause shall exclude coverage for vacations. (Contingent upon 
acceptance of the district counter offer, the district will agree to retro current food 
service employees who are serving during the 2017-2018 school year during the 
second semester.). (3/2/18) 

10.8.410.7.4 A bargaining unit member may substitute in the place of a department 
manager up to one full school year at step one of that particular manager’s pay rate. 
The selection of the bargaining unit member to cover the absence of that manager 
will be solely at the discretion of the district. (3/2/18) 

 
10.910.8 Split Shift Differential – Based upon District needs, bargaining unit employees may 

be assigned to a split shift assignment.  A split shift assignment is one which has more than 
one (1) hour between the work segments (e.g. work from 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m., no 
assignment from 11:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., work from 3:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.).  Each 
employee assigned a split shift shall be paid a differential.  The differential shall be: 

10.9.110.8.1 Two and one-half percent (2½%) of his/her step placement on the salary 
schedule if the actual “split” (excluding up to one hour for a meal break) is three 
hours or less. 

10.9.210.8.2 Five percent (5%) of his/her step placement on the salary schedule if the 
actual “split (excluding up to one hour for a meal break) is more than three 
hours. 

 
10.1010.9 Mileage Reimbursement – Employees required to use his/her own automobiles in 

the performance of their assigned duties, or if attendance is required at job related meetings 
or conferences, shall be reimbursed for mileage at the IRS mileage rate.  If requested use 
by the District results in an increase of employee insurance premiums, the District will pay 
for the increase in premium costs. 

 
10.1110.10 Lodging and Meals – Any employee, who as a result of a work assignment, must 

be lodged away from home overnight shall be reimbursed by the District for the cost of 
lodging and meals in accordance with Board Policy.  If requested by the employee, the 
District shall provide advance funds to the employee for such lodging and meals. 

 

Page 43 of 245



22 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

10.1210.11 Compensation During Required Training Periods – An employee who is 
 required to attend training sessions or otherwise engage in training of any kind in 
order to continue his/her employment in a position shall receive compensation as follows: 

 
10.12.110.11.1 When the training occurs during the employee’s regularly assigned 

working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay and 
shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. 

 
10.12.210.11.2 All costs incurred under a District mandated training program for 

employee transportation, registration fees, and supplies, shall be paid by the 
District. 

 
10.1310.12 Physical Examination – The District agrees to provide the full cost of any medical 

examination of regular employees, including TB test or X-rays, required for continued 
employment or when directed by the employee’s supervisor or required for license renewal. 

10.14 Medical Administration Activities (MAA): 
 

(The Unit and District agrees that the tentative agreement dated June 19, 2012 for MAA is 
the prevailing language.  The District and Unit agree that this side letter dated June 19, 
2012 will be a common reopener each year until a successor agreement is reached or the 
MAA program is discontinued.  MAA will remain a reopener each year.) 

10.14.1 In the absence of the District issuing a Negative or Qualified Certification on 
the First or Second interim reports, the District will distribute all Medical 
Administrative Activities funds accumulated from the previous fiscal year by 
the District and allocated to eligible employee units no later than December 31 
following receipt of those funds.  Subsequent to the issuance of a Negative or 
Qualified Certification, all aforementioned MAA funds shall be retained by the 
District until such time as the District issues a Positive Certification on Either 
the First or Second Interim report. 

 
10.14.2 Eligible employees: 

 
a. Those unit members, who complete the MAA survey participant 

requirements and qualifying and completing quarterly time surveys for each 
are qualified to participate in the random moment survey process and who 

complete the survey if selected, each program year, will be eligible to 
receive their portion of unrestricted MAA funds for that year.   

b. Those who replace and serve in the same position as the employee who 
generated the funds. 

c. All Classified unit employees who meet the requirements will receive 100% 
of MAA allocations to the unit.  All unit members who meet the 
qualifications in “a” and “b” shall receive an equal portion of the 
unrestricted MAA funds allocated to the classified unit for that survey year.  

d. Employee listed in January 2012 MAA time survey participate list, to be 
updated annually.  A list of Employees who qualify to survey under the 
random moment survey process shall be updated annually.   

Page 44 of 245



23 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
10.14.3 Direct costs of operating the MAA program shall receive first priority for 

funding to include the MAA portion of salaries of the MAA Coordinator and 
the Business Manager as well as program supplies and equipment.  Not to 
exceed $12,500.  

 
10.14.4 $15,000 of the High School Librarian/Technology Coordinator’s Salary and 

$7,500 of the Counseling Secretary salary and up to $15,000 of the elementary 
school librarian salary shall receive second priority for funding.  

 
10.14.5 $7,500 for computer technician and $15,000 of the Counseling 

Secretary’s/High School Library Technician salary and up to $15,000  of the 
Elementary School Library Technician’s salary shall receive second priority 
funding.   

 
10.14.6 $2,000 dollars MAA funding for Agricultural Instructors Stipend to be split 

between the agriculture teachers. 
 
10.14.7 A $20,000 Contribution to the post retirement fund shall receive third priority 

for funding.   
 
10.14.8 $10,000 annually for new computers/new labs at either at any district site as 

funding and space becomes available.  This may be used to upgrade teacher 
computers as well; Classified Employees and District Administration would not 
be included in these funds.  

 
10.14.9 Remaining MAA funds shall be allocated to eligible employees 
 
10.14.10 Classified: 15 percent of funds divided by the number of employees who 

generate MAA funds. 
 
10.14.11 The Business Manager shall keep a record of MAA account balances for all 

employees. Funds will be carried over from the current program, to the next 
program year, year-to-year. If an eligible employee is no longer employed by 
the district, the remaining fund balance shall be returned to the eligible 
employee’s unit (classified CSEA) to be reallocated and redistributed the 
following December 31st deadline to the remaining participating unit members.   

 
10.14.12 MAA fund expenditures must receive prior approval from the 
Superintendent and CBO District Administration as is the case with any 
Purchase Order/Reimbursement payable.  MAA funds are unrestricted and may 
be used on, but are not limited to, equipment, supplies, staff development, 
student enrichment, instructional materials and site improvements. (TA July 25, 
2012) 

10.12.1  
 

Page 45 of 245



24 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 11 – HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS 
 

11.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

11.1.1 The District will not change the level of existing health benefit coverage except 
through the negotiations process. 

11.1.2 The District contribution to health benefits for medical, dental, and vision coverage 
for full time employees shall be capped at the annualized rate of  $11,370 
12,370 as of July 1, 2017  October 1, 2022 and until the district and CSEA negotiate 
a successor agreement. (TA 4-25-2017) 

11.1.3 Employees whose current benefit coverage is higher than that as defined in this 
article shall continue to receive their current benefits until such time as they are no 
longer employed by the district. 

11.1.4 In addition to the benefits listed in 11.1.2, the district shall provide at no expense 
to the employee a $25,000 life insurance policy.   

11.1.5 Beginning with the 2011-2012 fiscal year, the District will no longer pay the costs 
of disability insurance (1.19% of the salary) for unit members. Unit members may 
individually elect to pay the cost of disability insurance.  In response to this, the 
salary schedule for the 2010-2011 (Appendix A) shall be increased by 1.19% at 
each step and range effective July 1, 2011.  

11.1.6 Eligible employees who began employment after the beginning of a new fiscal year 
shall receive the prorated portion of the District’s contribution to health benefits for 
medical, dental, and vision coverage. 

11.2 FULL TIME EMPLOYEES 

11.2.1 A full-time employee for purposes of this article shall be defined as an employee 
who works a minimum of six hours per day/thirty (30) hours per week. 

11.2.2 The district shall contribute the annualized cap of $11,370 per year for health 
benefits to qualifying unit members. (TA 4-25-2017) 

11.3 PART TIME EMPLOYEES 

11.3.1 A part time employee for purposes of this article shall be defined as an employee 
who works less than six hours per day/ thirty hours per week. 

11.3.2 The district shall provide life insurance at no cost to the employee. 

Page 46 of 245



25 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

11.4 RETIRED EMPLOYEES 
 
11.4.1 For each eligible fulltime employee who retires during the life of this contract, the 

district shall provide health benefits (medical, dental, vision). 
 
11.4.2 The district contribution for the benefits shall be set at the same dollar level as that 

for active employees each year. 
 
11.4.3 To be eligible for health benefit coverage, the unit member must have served a 

minimum of fifteen (15) years in the district (Hamilton Union High School District, 
Hamilton Union Elementary School District, and Hamilton Unified School District) 
and have reached the age of fifty-five (55). 

 
11.4.4 The district shall continue to provide coverage until one of the following occurs: 

11.4.4.1.1 The death of an employee; 

11.4.4.1.2 The employee reaches the age of sixty-five (65); 

11.4.4.1.3 The employee becomes eligible for Medicare or Medical; 

11.4.4.1.4 The employee gains active employment elsewhere and becomes 
eligible for health insurance at his/her new employment; or 

11.4.4.1.5 The retiree’s dependents will be added to the retiree’s coverage for 
as long as the retiree is eligible. 

 
11.5 TRANSITION COVERAGE 

 
11.5.1 Pursuant to federal law (COBRA), an employee who has been receiving health 

benefits, and who terminates his/her position or is terminated (except for gross 
misconduct), is entitled to continue group coverage at his/her expense for up to 
eighteen (18) months).    Note: For a limited time pursuant to federal law, an 
eligible employee who is terminated may purchase health insurance for up to nine 
(9) months and pay 35% of the insurance premium. 

 
11.5.2 In certain circumstances, the employee’s spouse, former spouse, or dependent child 

may have a right to continued coverage for up to thirty-six (36) months. 
 
11.5.3 Continued coverage may be subject to an administrative fee levied by the program 

administrator 
 

 

Page 47 of 245



26 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS 
 

12.1 The parties agree to provide a floating holiday to all eligible unit members for the 
Juneteenth Holiday from 2020/2021 School Year for use during the 2021/2022 School 
Year. The District agrees to provide all employees in the bargaining unit with the following 
paid holidays: 

 
a. New Year’s Day – January 1 
b. Martin Luther King Day  
c. Lincoln’s Birthday - February 
d. President’s Day - February 
e. Spring Vacation Day – Good Friday 
f. Memorial Day – Last Monday in May 
g. Independence Day – July 4 
g.h.Juneteenth Day – June 19 
h.i. Labor Day – First Monday in September 
i.j. Admission Day – September 9 (Floating holiday selected by employee requires prior 

District approval) 
j.k. Veteran’s Day – November 11 
k. Bolt Day (½ Day) – Tuesday prior to Thanksgiving* 
l. Thanksgiving Travel Day – Day before Thanksgiving Day 
m. Thanksgiving Day – Thursday proclaimed by the President 
n. Thanksgiving Travel Day – Day after Thanksgiving Day 
o. Bolt Day (½ Day) – Day prior to Christmas Eve* 
p.o.Christmas Eve – December 24 
q.p.Christmas Day – December 25 
r.q. New Year’s Eve – December 31 

 

12.2 Additional Holiday – Any day proclaimed by the President of the United States or the 
Governor as a mandatory holiday shall be observed by the District office.  

12.3 Holiday Eligibility – Except as otherwise provided in this Article, an employee must be in 
a paid status on his/her normal working day preceding or succeeding the holiday to be paid 
for the holiday. 

12.3.1 Employees in the bargaining unit who are not normally assigned to work during the 
Christmas recess shall be paid for any holidays above provided they were in a paid 
status during any portion of their normal working day immediately preceding or 
succeeding the holiday period. 

12.4 Holidays on Saturday or Sunday or on Day Off – When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the 
preceding workday, not a holiday, shall be deemed to be that holiday. When a holiday falls 
on a Sunday, the following workday not a holiday shall be deemed to be that holiday. 

12.4.1 The operation of this section shall not cause any employee to lose any of the 
holidays clearly indicated in this Article. 

Page 48 of 245



27 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

12.5 If any holiday as listed in 12.1 is a student attendance day in any given year, eligible 
employees shall be awarded a floating holiday to be designated by the employee and 
approved by the District.  
 

Page 49 of 245



28 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES 
 
13.1 Sick leave for illness or injury will accrue to all bargaining unit members on the basis of 

one (1) day’s leave for each month of service rendered.  If a bargaining unit member works 
at least five (5) days in any month, the bargaining unit members shall accrue sick leave for 
that month.   Sick leave for  part-time employees shall be computed proportionately.  Pay 
for any day of such absence shall be the same as the pay which would have been received 
had the employee served during the day of illness. 

 
13.1.1 Credit for sick leave need not be accrued by the employee prior to taking leave; 

such leave may be taken at any time during the year.  However, a new employee of 
the District shall not be eligible to receive more than six (6) days credit, or the 
proportionate amount to which he/she may be entitled until the first day of the 
calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the 
District.   

 
13.1.2 Permanent employees shall be credited on the employee’s first workday of the 

school year, with one (1) year’s allowance (e.g. 12 days for a 12 month employee) 
of sick leave, which must be subsequently earned.  In the event an employee leaves 
the classified service after having used more than the total amount earned to date at 
the rate of one (1) day per month, the unearned portion shall be deducted from 
his/her final warrant.  In case the final warrant is insufficient to compensate for 
unearned leave, the separated employee shall reimburse the District by cash 
payment. 

 
13.1.3 Unused sick leave credit may be accumulated without limit and may be transferred 

to any other California school district with the transferring employee pursuant to 
law. 

 
13.1.4 Injury or illness attributed to pregnancy shall be treated as an illness for the purpose 

of sick leave. 
 
13.1.5 An employee is required to notify the District Office, on a daily basis, of his/her 

absence for reasons of personal illness and the anticipated date of return.  Exception 
to this requirement shall be made when the employee’s absence beyond one day is 
based upon advice from a qualified medical practitioner. 

 
13.1.6 Upon retirement, an eligible employee may convert all unused sick leave into 

service credits in accordance with PERS regulations. 

13.2 Extended Illness Leave 
 
Article 13.2 per Education Code Section 45196….  A regular classified employee shall 
once a year be credited with a total of not less than 100 working days of paid sick leave, 
including days to which he or she is entitled under Education Code Section 45191 (Article 
13.1). Such days of paid sick leave in addition to those required by Education Code Section 
45191 shall be compensated at not less than 50 percent of the employee's regular salary. 
The paid sick leave authorized under such a rule shall be exclusive of any other paid leave, 

Page 50 of 245



29 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

holidays, vacation, or compensating time to which the employee may be entitled. (TA 
9/9/2015) 
 

13.3 Entitlement to Other Sick Leave – When a permanent classified employee  who is  on 
illness or injury leave has exhausted all paid leave he/she is entitled to, he/she may be 
placed on a six month unpaid leave.  If at the end of the six  months unpaid leave the 
employee is still unable to return to work, he/she shall be placed on a reemployment list of 
39 months. 

13.4 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave – In addition to other benefits that an employee may 
be entitled to under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this State, employees shall be 
entitled to the following benefits: 

 
13.4.1 An employee suffering an injury or illness arising out of, and in the course and 

scope of his/her employment shall be entitled to a leave of up to sixty (60) work 
days in any one fiscal year for the same accident or illness.  This leave shall not be 
accumulated from year to year; when any leave will overlap a fiscal year, the 
employee shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at the end of the fiscal 
year in which the injury or illness occurred. 

 
13.4.2 Payment for wages lost on any day shall not, when added to an award granted the 

employee under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this state, exceed the normal 
wage for the day(s). 

 
13.4.3 The industrial accident or illness leave is to be used in lieu of normal sick leave 

benefits.  When entitlement to industrial accident or illness leave under this section 
has been exhausted, entitlement to other sick leave, vacation or other paid leave 
may be used.  If, however, an employee is still receiving temporary disability 
payments under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this state at the time of the 
exhaustion of benefits under this section, he/she shall be entitled to use only so 
much of his/her accumulated and available normal sick leave and vacation leave 
pay which, when added to the Worker’s Compensation award, provides for a day’s 
pay at the regular rate of pay. 

 
13.4.4 An employee absent from duty because of an industrial accident or illness leave, 

who has used all available paid leave pursuant to this Agreement and is unable to 
return to duty, may be granted a leave of absence without pay for further 
recuperation. 

 
13.4.5 Any time an employee on industrial accident or illness leave is able to return to 

work, he/she shall be reinstated in his/her position. 
 
13.4.6 The District reserves the right at District expense to require a medical 

examination by a District selected doctor at any state of an industrial accident 
claim. 

 
13.4.7 Any employee on industrial accident leave shall not leave the state without 

written consent from the District. 

Page 51 of 245



30 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
13.5 Catastrophic Leave 13.5 

 
13.5.1 Under the catastrophic leave program, District employees may voluntarily donate 

sick leave credits to other eligible employees within their employment group who 
have been granted leaves of absence due to a catastrophic illness or injury. Leave 
credits may not be exchanged between classified and certificated employees. 

 
13.6 Sick Leave Credits. 13.6 

 
13.6.1 Credits are received and donated on an hourly basis. 

 
13.7 Recipients. 13.7 

 
13.7.1 To be eligible to receive donations, the employee must satisfy all of the following 

conditions. 
a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the collective bargaining 

agreement. 
 

b. Provide medical written verification from his/her licensed physician of a 
catastrophic illness or injury, indicating the capacitating nature and probable 
duration of the illness or injury. 

 
c. Have used all available sick leave credits. 

 
d. Not be receiving other salary replacement credits such as worker’s 

compensation. 
 

13.8 Donations may be solicited through an announcement by the District on behalf of an 
eligible recipient. 

 
13.9 All transfers of eligible leave credit shall be irrevocable. The Superintendent shall ensure 

that all donations are confidential. 
 
13.10 To donate sick leave credits, the employee must satisfy all of the following conditions: 

 
a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the collective bargaining 

agreement. 
 

b. Donation per employee not to exceed ten days (10 days) accumulated sick 
days. (TA 9/9/2015) 

Page 52 of 245



31 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

13.11 Bereavement Leave – Employees of the bargaining unit shall be granted a leave with full 
pay in the event of a death in the employee’s immediate family.  The leave shall be for a 
period not to exceed three (3) days or five (5) days if travel is over 200 air miles one way 
or out-of-state travel is required to attend services. 

13.11.1. Immediate Family shall mean and include the following: husband, wife, 
mother, father sister, brother, son, step and foster son, daughter, step and foster 
daughter, grandparent, grandchild, stepmother, stepfather, stepson, 
stepdaughter of the employee or the employee’s spouse and any other relative 
person of either the employee or the spouse living in the immediate household 
of the employee. 

13.11.2. Additional time off, with pay shall be granted by the District, when an 
employee’s emotional condition warrants such consideration; however, such 
additional time off shall be subtracted from the employee’s accumulated sick 
leave. 

13.12 Jury Duty – An employee shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay for  any time the 
employee is required to perform jury duty.  The employee will reimburse the District that 
amount that he/she receives from the County for jury duty.  Any meal, mileage, and/or 
parking allowance provided the employee for jury duty shall not be considered in the 
amount reimbursed to the District.   

13.13 Personal Necessity Leave – Any seven (7) days of absence per year earned for sick leave 
under Section 13.1 of this Article may be used by the employee, at his/her election, in cases 
of personal necessity on the following basis. 

13.13.1 The death of a member of the employee’s immediate family when additional 
leave is required beyond that provided in Section 13.11 13.5 (will need to 
change with numbering of bereavement) of this Article or death not covered 
under bereavement leave but which of great personal concern to the employee; 

13.13.2 As a result of an accident or illness involving an employee’s person or property 
or the person or property of his/her immediate family as listed in Section 
13.11.1 13.5.1 or an incident of such an emergent nature that the immediate 
presence of the employee is required during his/her work day; 

13.13.3 Appearance in court as a litigant or as a witness under an official order; 

13.13.4 Illness of a member of the immediate family as defined in 13.11.1  13.5.1 of 
such a nature as to require the presence of the employee during his/her normal 
workday. 

13.13.5 Employees shall be granted up to two (2) days for paternity or adoption leave. 
(see 2017-18 TA) 

13.13.6 One (1) day of this leave may be used in each fiscal year for Compelling 
Personal Importance.  The employee using such leave shall be required to file 
a written statement with the Personnel Department that such leave was not used 
for any of the following purposes: 

Page 53 of 245



32 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
a. Engaging in other employment 
b. Work stoppage or strike  

c. Other personal reasons approved by the Superintendent, which cannot 
reasonably be taken care of outside the hours of assigned duty. 

13.14 Military Leave – An employee shall be entitled to military leave as provided for in the 
Military and Veteran’s Code and the Education Code. 

13.15 Pregnancy Disability Leave – A Unit member may use all available leaves for disability 
due to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions and recovery from these 
conditions. 

13.15.1 The length of pregnancy disability leave, including the date on which the leave 
shall begin and the date on which the unit member is no longer disabled because 
of pregnancy and shall return to work shall be determined by the unit member’s 
physician. 

13.15.2 Before returning to work from a pregnancy disability leave, the unit member 
shall obtain a “return to work” certification from her health care provider stating 
that she is able to resume her job duties. 

13.15.3 Pregnancy disability leave shall not be granted to provide periods of 
convalescence beyond disability prior to or following child birth. Pregnancy 
disability leave shall not be granted for childcare. 

13.16 Parental/Child Bonding Leave – Employees may elect to utilize up to 12 weeks of child 
bonding leave occasioned by the birth of the employee’s child, or the placement of a with 
the employee in connection with the employee’s adoption or foster care of the child as 
provided by the California Family Rights Act (CFRA). 

13.16.1 Eligibility for Parental Leave: 

13.16.1.1 All full-time and part-time employees who have been employed for 
12 months with the employer are entitled to utilize parental leave. 

13.16.1.2 There is no threshold number of hours that part-time employees, as 
well as full-time employees, must work in order to be eligible for 
parental leave. 

13.16.2 Commencement of Leave 

13.16.2.1 For birthing mothers, the 12 week child bonding leave shall 
commence after the conclusion of any pregnancy disability leave. 

13.16.2.2 For non-birthing mothersparents, the 12 work week child bonding 
leave shall commence on the first day of such leave. 

Page 54 of 245



33 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

13.16.2.3 Child bonding leave shall run concurrently with the CFRA Leave 
and the total amount of child bonding leave and the CFRA Leave 
shall not exceed 12 work weeks in a 12 month period.  

13.16.3 A unit member may use accumulated sick leave for the purpose of Child 
Bonding Leave. Pursuant to Education Code Section 45196.1, if an employee 
exhausts his/her sick leave prior to expiration of the 12 week child bonding 
leave, the employee shall be entitled to differential pay (no less than 50% of 
regular pay, Education Code Section 45196.1) as defined in 1.12 of Appendix 
B Definitions, for the balance of the 12 week period. Should the employee 
choose not to use available sick leave, the employee will not receive 
differential pay. 

13.16.4 Pursuant to CFRA, child bonding leave may be used within one year of the 
birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child. 

13.16.5 The employee must provide the district with at least thirty (30) days prior 
notice of intent to take child bonding leave, except in case of emergency. 

13.16.6 Where both parents are employees of the District, the two parents are entitled 
to share a total of 12 work weeks of bonding leave. 

13.16.7 The employee is entitled to take parental leave in intermittent periods within 
the 12 month period; however, the aggregate amount of parental leave taken 
shall not exceed 12 works weeks in the 12 month period. 

13.16.8 If a school year concludes before the 12 work week period is exhausted, the 
employee may take the balance of the 12 work week period in the subsequent 
school year. 

13.16.9 The employee is also entitled to use his or her vacation leave in taking parental 
leave, if the employee choses to do so. 

13.16.10 Other Leaves – The District expressly reserves the sole right to grant or deny, 
on any terms mutually acceptable to the District and the employee, any other 
leave which may be requested by an employee. 

13.16.11 Break In Service – No absence under the provisions of any paid leave provided 
for in this Article shall be considered a break in service.  During the period the 
employee remains in paid status, all benefits provided to an active employee 
under the provisions of this Agreement shall continue to accrue. 

13.17 MISCELLANEOUS 

13.17.1 Each absence must be reported in AESOP. The absence must explain the 
reasons for the leave. 

13.17.2 Leaves of absence may be taken in hourly increments. 

Page 55 of 245



34 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 14 – DISCIPLINE 

14.1 PROCEDURES 

14.1.1 Bargaining unit members shall be disciplined for violation of the rules and 
regulations of the District, this Agreement and the law. 

14.1.2 Unsatisfactory performance or misconduct of a major nature or serious situations 
involving the health and welfare of students or employees shall bypass the 
progressive discipline procedures. 

14.1.3 Recommendations for discipline shall be for reasonable cause including but not 
limited to unsatisfactory performance.   

14.1.4 Prior to the imposition of discipline of five (5) days or more suspension without 
pay or greater penalty, the bargaining unit member will be provided an opportunity 
for a “Skelly hearing” and the bargaining unit member given the opportunity to 
respond orally or in writing.  Preliminary charges will be provided in writing to the 
bargaining unit member and a copy also shall be sent to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative in advance of the “Skelly hearing” which will give the bargaining 
unit member a reasonable opportunity of not less than five (5) days prior to the 
hearing.  A copy of the preliminary charges provided to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative does not prejudice the right of a bargaining unit member to select 
his/her representative in the discipline proceeding.   

14.1.4.1 A Skelly officer shall be assigned to the bargaining unit member who 
shall not be the person who initiated and/or recommended that the 
bargaining unit member be disciplined. 

14.1.4.2 The Skelly officer shall provide a written response after the Skelly 
conference with a decision as to whether the charges are to be upheld, 
the recommended discipline reduced, or the charges dropped. 

14.1.5 After the Skelly officer has provided a written response and prior to a formal 
evidentiary hearing, the bargaining unit member shall be informed of the specific 
charges against him or her and the evidence which supports it.  The bargaining unit 
member shall also be given a statement of his or her right to a formal hearing on 
such charges.  The bargaining unit member may request a hearing within ten (10) 
days after service of the notice to the bargaining unit member.  Failure to request 
the hearing within ten (10) days means the bargaining unit member has waived the 
right to a hearing.  The hearing may not be scheduled sooner than thirty (30) days 
from the time the charges were originally served.  The notice shall include a card 
or paper which when signed constitutes a demand for hearing and a denial of all 
charges. 

14.1.5.1 The burden of proof shall be the District’s. 

14.1.6 The District will provide one (1) copy each to the bargaining unit member and to 
the CSEA Labor Relations Representative of all necessary and relevant documents 
the District intends to introduce at the hearing or requested by CSEA.  The District 

Page 56 of 245



35 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

and CSEA will identify any exhibits, any physical items, and any witnesses that the 
parties expect to introduce or to call at the hearing by no later than ten (10) working 
days prior to the hearing. 

14.1.7 Any bargaining unit member against whom a recommendation of disciplinary 
action has been issued shall remain on active duty status and responsible for 
fulfilling the duties of the position pending his/her appeal or waiver. 

14.1.8 The District shall use a hearing officer to hear disciplinary actions whose decision 
shall be final and binding.  The hearing officer is limited to the following: 

14.1.8.1 Adopt the proposed decision in its entirety. 
14.1.8.2 Reduce the disciplinary action. 
14.1.8.3 Reject the proposed disciplinary action in its entirety. 

Page 57 of 245



36 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

14.2 CAUSES 

14.2.1 Grounds for discipline of any bargaining unit member include but are not limited 
to the following: 

 
a. Falsifying any information supplied to the school district, including, but not 

limited to, information supplied on application forms, employment records, or 
any other school district records. 

b. Incompetency. 
c. Inefficiency. 
d. Neglect of duty. 
e. Insubordination. 
f. Dishonesty. 
g. Drinking alcoholic beverages while on duty or in such close time proximity 

thereto as to cause any detrimental effect upon the employee or upon employees 
associated with him/her. 

h. Possessing or being under the influence of a controlled substance at work or 
away from work, or furnishing alcohol or a controlled substance to a minor.  
Possessing or being under the influence of a controlled substance while not on 
duty shall be cause for discipline if the conduct adversely affects the district or 
the employee’s ability to perform the duties or responsibilities of his/her 
position. 

i. Conviction of a felony, conviction of any sex offense made relevant by 
provisions of law, or conviction of a misdemeanor which is of such a nature as 
to adversely affect the district or the employee’s ability to perform the duties or 
responsibilities of his/her position.  A plea or verdict of guilty, or a conviction 
following a plea of no contest, is deemed to be a conviction for this purpose. 

j. Absence without leave. 
k. Immoral conduct which adversely affects the district or the employee’s ability 

to perform the duties or responsibilities of his/her position. 
l. Discourteous treatment of the public, students, or other employees. 
m. Improper political activity. 
n. Willful disobedience. 
o. Misuse of district property. 
p. Violation of district, board or departmental rule, policy, or procedure. 
q. Failure to possess or keep in effect any license, certificate, or other similar 

requirement specified in the employee’s job description or otherwise necessary 
for the employee to perform the duties of the position. 

r. A physical or mental disability which precludes the employee from the proper 
performance of his/her duties and responsibilities as determined by competent 
medical authority, except as otherwise provided by a contract or by law. 

s. Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, on the basis of race, religious 
creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, marital status, sex, or 
age while acting in the capacity of a district employee. 

t. Unlawful retaliation against any other district officer or employee or member 
of the public who, in good faith reports, discloses, divulges, or otherwise brings 
to the attention of any appropriate authority any information relative to an actual 

Page 58 of 245



37 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

or suspected violation of state or federal law occurring on the job or directly 
related thereto. 

u. Any other misconduct either during or outside of duty hours which is of such 
nature that it adversely affects the district or the employee’s ability to perform 
the duties or responsibility of his/her position. 

 
14.2.2 Except as defined in the items above, no disciplinary action shall be taken for any 

cause which arose before the bargaining unit member became permanent, nor for 
any cause which arose more than two (2) years before the date of the filing of the 
notice of cause unless this cause was concealed or not disclosed by the bargaining 
unit member when it could be reasonably assumed that the bargaining unit member 
would have disclosed the facts to the District. 

Page 59 of 245



38 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 15 – VACATION 
 

15.1 Applicable employees in the bargaining unit shall earn paid vacation time under this 
Article. 

 
15.2 Pay for vacation days for bargaining unit employees shall be the same as that which the 

employee would have received had he/she been in a working status. 
 
15.3 Vacation time shall be earned and accumulated on an annual basis in accordance with the 

following schedules: 
 

a. 1 year   = 10 days vacation 
b. 2 years = 11 days vacation 
c. 3 years = 12 days vacation 
d. 4 years = 13 days vacation 
e. 5 years = 14 days vacation 
f. 6 years through 15 years = 15 days vacation 
g. 16 years and over = 20 days vacation 

 
15.4 Less than full-time employees (8 hours per day) shall earn the same number of vacation 

days listed above regardless of the number of months the employee works per year.  
(Example:  A 5-hour employee working 10 months per year shall be entitled to earn 10 
days of vacation at 5 hours per day for a total of 50 hours vacation for the year.) 

15.5 Vacation shall be scheduled in advance at times requested by employees, to the extent 
practicable as determined by the employee’s immediate supervisor and within the work 
requirements of the District.  

15.6 Employees submitting vacation requests shall be given priority by the date the vacation 
request was submitted to and approved by the immediate supervisor.  If vacation requests 
are submitted on the same date from the same site, the supervisor shall approve the request 
of the employee with greater seniority.   

15.7 An employee may carry over one year’s earned vacation days from the previous year.  
Excess days, above one year, will be paid off to the employee in the September 10th pay of 
each year at the employee’s previous year’s hourly rate. 

15.8 An employee may request in writing that vacation of up to twenty days may be carried over 
into the next work year for a total of 40 days. The employee must include in their written 
request a plan for the use of the excessive days prior to June 30, of each year to avoid an 
additional cost to the District.  Special request for an additional carryover in the third year 
will be on a case by case basis.  In the event that a third year of carryover is approved, the 
employee agrees to take the time off as planned and will not incur additional costs to the 
District.    

15.9 An employee in the bargaining unit shall be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation 
leave in order to begin another leave authorized by this Agreement or mandated by law.  
Upon request, the employee shall supply notice and supporting information regarding the 
justification for such interruption or termination. 

Page 60 of 245



39 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
15.10 Vacation shall not be scheduled during the first six (6) months of employment. 
 
15.11 When a holiday, as defined in this Agreement, falls during the scheduled vacation of any 

employee, such holiday shall not be charged against the employee’s vacation balance, 
provided the employee was in paid status on the day preceding the holiday or the day 
following the holiday. 

 

Page 61 of 245



40 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 16 – WORKING CONDITIONS 
 

16.1 Any personal tools and equipment used by an employee at District request shall, in the 
event of loss or damage, be full compensated for at District expense. 

 
16.2 The District shall provide, and pay for, TB tests and bi-annual bus driver physicals which 

are required by the Education Code and/or Title 5.  If required, TB testing shall also include 
chest x-rays. 

 
16.2.1 The District specifically reserves the right to meet this requirement by arranging 

for such tests to be performed at the (1) District, or (2) a clinic or a practitioner’s 
office which is acceptable to the District and CSEA. 

 
16.3 The District shall make every reasonable effort to conform to and comply with all health, 

safety and sanitation requirements imposed by state or federal law regulations adopted 
under state or federal law. 

 
16.4 Should the employment duties of an employee in the bargaining unit require the use of 

specialized equipment or gear to insure the safety of the employee or others, the District 
agrees to furnish such equipment or gear or to reimburse the employee for the full cost of 
procuring such. 

 
16.5 No employee shall be in any way discriminated against as a result of reporting any 

condition believed to be a violation of health, safety, and sanitation requirements imposed 
by state or federal law or regulations adopted under state or federal laws. 

 

Page 62 of 245



41 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 17 – SUMMER SESSION EMPLOYMENT 
 

17.1 Unless precluded by the funding source, when the District maintains school sessions at 
times other than during the regular August to June academic year, it shall assign bargaining 
unit members of the District to perform the required services. 

 
17.2 No bargaining unit member who is not normally required to render services between the 

end of the academic year in June to the beginning of the next academic year in August shall 
be required to perform services during such period. 

 
17.3 Assignments during the summer session shall typically be made on the basis of seniority 

for employment in the classification of service that is required. 
 
17.4 A bargaining unit member shall, for services performed in the summer session, receive a 

prorated portion of the compensation and benefits which are applicable to that employee 
and classification during the regular academic year. 

 

Page 63 of 245



42 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

18.1 This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations or practices of the District which 
are inconsistent with its terms. 

 
18.2 Upon initial employment, each employee of the bargaining unit shall receive a copy of: 
 

a. The applicable job description; 
b. A statement of the monthly or hourly rate for his/her classification; 
c. A statement of the employee’s regular work site; 
d. The assigned hours per day, days per week and months per year, and; 
e. A statement of the accrual rate for days of sick leave and vacation. 

 
18.3 The above information in 18.2 shall be provided to each employee, at the employees 

request, at the beginning of each school year.  This information shall be consistent with 
the provisions of this contract. 

 
18.4 The District shall provide each bargaining unit employee and each new bargaining unit 

employee with a copy of this Agreement at no cost to the employee. 
 

Page 64 of 245



43 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 19 – NO DISCRIMINATION 
 

19.1 The District shall not discriminate in any manner against a unit member because of race, 
religion, creed, national origin, age, or sexual orientation as provided by Title VII, Civil 
Rights Act. 

 
19.2 The District shall not threaten or discriminate against a unit member for the exercise of any 

rights guaranteed by law. 
 

Page 65 of 245



44 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 20 – LAYOFFS 
 

20.1 Bargaining unit members shall be subject to layoff for lack of work or lack of funds.  
Bargaining unit members shall be subject to layoff for the reasons set forth in Education 
Code Section 45117, due to lack of work or lack of funds, and are entitled to the layoff 
procedures including layoff notice and right to hearing, per this Section. Affected employee 
shall be given notice of layoff not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of 
layoff and informed of their displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights.  When 
employees in the bargaining unit are laid off for lack of work or lack of funds, layoffs shall 
be made in reverse order of seniority in the classification in which the layoff occurs.  The 
employee who has been employed the shortest time in a classification, plus higher 
classifications, shall be considered to have the least seniority and, therefore, shall be laid 
off first. 

 
20.2 No permanent nor probationary classified employee shall be laid off from any position 

while employees serving under emergency, substitute, or limited-term employment are 
retained in positions of the same classification or similar classifications. When, as a result 
of the expiration of a specially funded program, classified positions must be eliminated at 
the end of any school year, and classification employees will be subject to layoff for lack 
of funds, the employees to be laid off at the end of such school year shall be given written 
notice on or before April 29 informing them of their layoff effective at the end of such 
school year and of their displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights.  However, 
if the termination date of any specially funded program is other than June 30, such notice 
shall be given not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of their layoff. 

 
20.3 A written notice of layoff shall be personally delivered to the bargaining unit member(s) 

or mailed by certified or registered mail to the employee’s last address on file at the District 
office. No permanent nor probationary classified employee shall be laid off from any 
position while employees serving under emergency, substitute, or limited-term 
employment are retained in positions of the same classification or similar classifications. 

 
20.4 The names of permanent and probationary employees laid off shall be placed on a 

reemployment list for the classification for which they were laid off.  Names on the 
reemployment list shall be in the order of seniority and shall continue for thirty-nine (39) 
months from the date of layoff.A written notice of layoff shall be personally delivered to 
the bargaining unit member(s) or mailed by certified or registered mail to the employee’s 
last address on file at the District office not less than sixty (60) days (except in emergency 
situation as stipulated in Ed Code Section 45117) prior to the effective date of the layoff. 

 
20.5 Employees on reemployment lists shall be hired over outside applicants for vacant 

positions for which he/she meets the qualifications for the position. (Tucker v. Grossmont 
decision). The names of permanent and probationary employees laid off shall be placed on 
a reemployment list for the classification for which they were laid off.  Names on the 
reemployment list shall be in the order of seniority and shall continue for thirty-nine (39) 
months from the date of layoff. 

 
20.6 Any employee on a reemployment list shall be notified in writing by the District a vacancy 

exists along with a notice of the job posting.  The written notice will be mailed to the last 

Page 66 of 245



45 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

address given to the District office by the employee. Employees on reemployment lists 
shall be hired over outside applicants for vacant positions for which he/she meets the 
qualifications for the position. (Tucker v. Grossmont decision). 

 
20.7 Refusal of an offer of employment shall not affect the standing of any employee on a 

reemployment list. Any employee on a reemployment list shall be notified in writing by 
the District a vacancy exists along with a notice of the job posting.  The written notice will 
be mailed to the last address given to the District office by the employee. 

 
20.8 If the employee is reemployed in a permanent position, the employee will receive the 

accumulated sick leave and seniority that he/she accrued prior to the layoff. Refusal of an 
offer of employment shall not affect the standing of any employee on a reemployment list. 

 
20.9 After job site transfers have been considered, if a vacant position exists, an employee who 

has been laid off and is on a reemployment list may, based on seniority, elect to be placed 
into a vacant position within the classification from which he/she was laid off. If the 
employee is reemployed in a permanent position, the employee will receive the 
accumulated sick leave and seniority that he/she accrued prior to the layoff. 

a. If the employee accepts reemployment into the same classification from which the 
employee was laid off, the employee shall be restored to his/her former step on the 
salary schedule. 

 
20.10 In lieu of being laid off, an employee may bump to any classification in which he/she had 

previous served under permanent or probationary status providing the employee has 
seniority over an employee already in the classification.  Seniority in the current 
classification plus higher classifications in which the employee served shall be counted. 
After job site transfers have been considered, if a vacant position exists, an employee who 
has been laid off and is on a reemployment list may, based on seniority, elect to be placed 
into a vacant position within the classification from which he/she was laid off. 

 
a. If the employee accepts reemployment into the same classification from which 

the employee was laid off, the employee shall be restored to his/her former step 
on the salary schedule. 

 
20.11 In order to bump into a previous classification, the employee must notify the District office 

in writing not later than ten (10) calendar days after receiving a layoff notice. In lieu of 
being laid off, an employee may bump to any classification in which he/she had previous 
served under permanent or probationary status providing the employee has seniority over 
an employee already in the classification.  Seniority in the current classification plus higher 
classifications in which the employee served shall be counted. 

 
20.12 An employee electing to bump into a lower classification shall be placed on a 

reemployment list for thirty-nine (39) months, plus an additional twenty-four (24) months. 
In order to bump into a previous classification, the employee must notify the District office 
in writing not later than ten (10) calendar days after receiving a layoff notice. 

 
20.13 If eligible, an employee who is scheduled for layoff may elect service retirement from the 

Public Employee’s Retirement System.  The employee’s name will be placed on a 

Page 67 of 245



46 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

reemployment list.  Upon receipt of notification from the employee that he/she has elected 
service retirement, the District office will notify PERS that the employee’s retirement was 
due to a layoff. An employee electing to bump into a lower classification shall be placed 
on a reemployment list for thirty-nine (39) months, plus an additional twenty-four (24) 
months. 

 
20.14 Should an employee who elects service retirement subsequently accept, in writing, 

reemployment, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed 
the request for reinstatement from retirement. If eligible, an employee who is scheduled 
for layoff may elect service retirement from the Public Employee’s Retirement System.  
The employee’s name will be placed on a reemployment list.  Upon receipt of notification 
from the employee that he/she has elected service retirement, the District office will notify 
PERS that the employee’s retirement was due to a layoff.  

 
20.15 Should an employee who elects service retirement subsequently accept, in writing, 

reemployment, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed 
the request for reinstatement from retirement. 
 

  

Page 68 of 245



47 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
ARTICLE 21 – CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY ASSESMENTS 

 
21.1 The classifications established within the Hamilton Unified School District are as 

follows: 
 

a. Yard Duty Supervisor/Crossing Guard 
b.a. Child Nutrition Assistant 
b. Office Assistant I 
c. Library Media Technician 
d. Campus Supervisor/Crossing Guard 
e. Paraeducator/Library Media Technician 
f. Child Nutrition Lead 
c.g. District Bus Driver 
d.h.District Custodian 
e. Paraeducator 
f.i. Preschool Assistant 
g. Library Media Technician 
h. Child Nutrition Lead 
i. District Bus Driver 
j. Special Education Paraprofessional 
j.k. Administrative Technician 
k. District Account Clerk 
l. District Data Analyst 
m. Student Services and Library Coordinator 
n. Preschool Teacher 
o. District Universal - Maintenance & Transportation 
l.p. Business Services Technician  
q. Information Systems Technician 
m.r. Licensed Vocational Nurse 
n. Preschool Teacher 
o. Student Services and Library Coordinator 
p. District Universal – Maintenance and Transportation 

 
21.2 For the purposes of salary/duty assessment the following job alike or similar jobs will be 

grouped for reevaluation on an every five year rotational process beginning with the 
2018-19 school year. CSEA joint committee with the District will choose the positions to 
be evaluated. 

 
21.3 The District and Unit may regroup any or all classification upon mutual agreement. 
 
21.4 The process of salary/duty assessment: 
 

21.4.1 The Unit will appoint one member of the negotiation committee to serve as 
liaison for each classified group during the salary duty assessment process. 

 
21.4.2 The Superintendent or his designee shall meet with each classification to 

review the current job description to determine any changes in the job duties 

Page 69 of 245



48 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

and responsibilities. This meeting will be during the usual and customary 
work times of the classification under review. If an employee works a PM or 
alternative time other than 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, that 
employee or representative shall be provided adequate release time to 
accomplish the job description assessment. 

 
21.4.3 The Unit and District shall establish 16 (including Hamilton Unified School 

District) districts for comparison taking into account the following factors (the 
District and Unit agree to split the survey work equally): 

 
21.4.3.1 Demographic make-up of student populations 
 
21.4.3.2 Average Daily Attendance (ADA) to be similar to Hamilton 

Unified School District 
 
21.4.3.3 Economical stats (Free and Reduced lunch percentage and/or 

number with dictate supplemental and concentration data that 
supports the LCAP (Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
conditions of learning) 

 
21.4.3.4 Geographical similarities (similar characteristics to the HUSD 

boundaries) 
 
21.4.3.5 Market availability (those districts similar to the items listed above 

but close enough to create competition for workers in similar 
fields) 

 
21.4.4 Once the list of schools/districts are agreed upon, a survey shall be created to 

garner the following information: 
 

a. Similar job tasks 
b. Work hours/days 
c. Salary schedules (once acquired, remove the high salary and low salary 

from survey) 
d. Benefits 
e. Competencies 
f. Education 

 
21.4.5 The District and Unit agrees that should the district fall into financial distress, 

this article may be suspended under the following: 
 

21.4.5.1 Decrease of ADA over 10 and a sustained projected decline can be 
established. 

 
21.4.5.2 The District financial report known as Second Interim falls into 

Qualified or Negative status. 
 
21.4.5.3 To avoid layoffs of current Unit members. 

Page 70 of 245



49 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
21.5 The suspension of this article will remain in place until all layoffs, ADA or financial 

hardship due to a Qualified or Negative budget status have been lifted and all unit 
members who were placed on the 39 month rehire list have been re-employed or have 
removed themselves due to other employment opportunities outside the district. 

  

Page 71 of 245



50 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

 

Agreement  

Between Hamilton Unified School District  

And  

California School Employees Association 

Chapter 623 

July 1, 20172021-June 30, 20202023 

 

Signed and entered this ___________day of_____________, 20172021 
 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Charles TracyJeremy Powell,      Chris DeVries, CSEA 
President 
District Superintendent 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Diane LyonKristen Hamman, Chief Business     Derek HawleyErin 
Johnson , CSEA Vice President 
Official 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Matt Juhl-Darlington     Sean MontgomeryRowan Dietle, CSEA 
Member 
District Legal Council  
 
 
       ____________________________ 
       Erin JohnsonDave Elkin, CSEA Member 
 
        
       ____________________________ 
       Nanci EastmanWilliam Pope, CSEA Field  
       RepresentitiveRepresentative 

Page 72 of 245



51 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 

Page 73 of 245



52 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

SIGNATURE PAGE 

Page 74 of 245



53
 

R
ev

is
ed

 –
 M

ar
ch

 6
, 2

01
9 

D
ra

ft,
 J

. T
ow

ne
 &

 C
. D

eV
rie

s 
– 

C
ha

ng
es

 b
y 

TW
 1

1-
29

-2
1 

– 
C

ha
ng

es
 b

y 
JT

 7
-2

2-
22

   
 

A
PP

E
N

D
IX

 A
 –

 C
L

A
SS

IF
IE

D
 S

A
L

A
R

Y
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
 

 

P
ag

e 
75

 o
f 

24
5



54 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

[TW1] 

Page 76 of 245



55 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

Page 77 of 245



56 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

APPENDIX B – DEFINITIONS 

“Academic/Traditional school year” is the period normally from August to June, as designated by 
the district board, when students are normally required to be in attendance, usually defined by the 
annual district calendar that is published each year. 

 “Administrative leave” means that an employee is placed on leave with pay pending an 
investigation of disciplinary charges. 

“Allocation” Is the placement of a classification on a specific salary schedule range or rate. 

“Anniversary date” is the initial date of employment, Salary changes such as step increments shall 
occur concurrently with the first date of employment in a given fiscal year and monthly salaries 
shall successively include, up to the amount of eligible total, any prorated amounts of longevity 
for which the employee has qualified during the preceding year. 

 “Bolt Day” is a ½ day of paid leave for all 12 month employees in lieu of an additional training 
day. 

“Bumping Right” is the right of an employee, under conditions as specified under Article 20, 
to displace an employee with less seniority in a classification. 

“Catastrophic illness” or “catastrophic injury” means an illness or injury that is expected to 
incapacitate the employee or his/her family members and that requires the employee to take time 
away from work. 

“Catastrophic leave credit” means sick leave donated from one employee’s accrued sick leave 
account to another employee. 

“Classification” is a position with defined duties, responsibilities, and authority, with the same job 
title, minimum qualifications, and salary range.   

“Classify” is the act of placing a position into a classification. 

“Compensatory Time” is time banked for use by the employee, upon approval of their supervisor, 
compensating the employee for work performed above 40 hours in an assigned work week.   

“Date of Hire” shall be understood to mean the first date of paid service to the employee. 

“Demotion” Means assignment to an inferior position or status previously held by the demoted 
employee.  

“Differential” is a salary allowances in addition to the basic rate or schedule based upon additional 
skills, responsibilities, hours of employment, or distasteful or hazardous work. 

“Disciplinary action” includes any action whereby a permanent employee is deprived of any 
classification or any incident of any classification in which he/she has permanence, including, 

Page 78 of 245



57 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

dismissal, suspension, demotion, or any reassignment, without his/her voluntary consent, except a 
layoff or reassignment because of lack of work or lack of funds. 

“Donor” means any person voluntarily transferring their sick leave credits to another employee.  

“E.E.R. Committee” is an employer/employee relations committee. 

“Extra Time” Any employee who’s shift is less than eight (8) hours, and must work beyond their 
regular assigned shift time, shall be paid at their regular rate up to (8) hours.  

“Fiscal Year” is July 1 through June 30. 

“Health and Welfare Benefits” mean any form of insurance or similar benefits programs, 
including, but not limited to, medical, hospitalization, surgical, prescription drugs, dental, optical, 
psychiatric, life, disability, prepaid legal, or income protection insurance, or annuity programs. (If 
such benefits are offered.) 

“Incumbent” is an employee assigned to a position and who is currently serving in or on leave 
from the position.  

“Industrial Accident or illness” is an injury or illness arising out of or in the course of employment 
of the District. 

“Involuntary demotion” is a demotion without the employee’s voluntary written consent.   

“Job description” is the description of the duties, responsibly, minimum qualifications, and 
authority of a classification.   

“Job Family” is a group of classifications within the same occupational area.  

“Minimum qualifications” are qualifications mandated for the position and which must be 
possessed by an employee before he/she can be considered for employment in a specific 
classification.   

“Notice” whenever notice is required under this agreement, and no form of notice is otherwise 
designated, notice to the district shall be by personal delivery to the office of the Superintendent 
of written notice or First Class Mail notice to the Office of the Superintendent and notice to CSEA 

Page 79 of 245



58 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

shall be written notice by personally delivered to the President of the local chapter or First Class 
Mail Notice directed to the Hamilton Chapter 623, 620 Canal Street, Hamilton City CA 95951. 

“Overtime” is compensation paid at one and one half (1½) of the employee’s hourly rate to any 
employee who works beyond eight (8) hours in a work day and/or 40 hours in an assigned work 
week.  (Overtime must be pre-approved by the employee’s supervisor.) 

“Participant” means any unit member. 

“Permanent Employee” is a regular employee who successfully completes an initial probationary 
period of one year6 months.   

“Probationary Employee” is a regular employee who will become permanent upon successful 
completion of a probationary period of one year6 months. 

“Progressive discipline” includes but may not be limited to oral warning, written warning, 
unsatisfactory evaluation, written reprimand, suspension of less than five (5) days.  Bargaining 
unit members shall be progressively disciplined.  For these levels of discipline an employee may 
respond in writing and have it attached to any materials placed in the personnel file. 

 “Promotion” is a change in the assignment of an employee from a position in one classification to 
a vacant position in another classification with a higher maximum salary rate.   

“Reallocation” is a movement of an entire classification from salary range or rate to another salary 
range or rate. 

“Recipient” means any person meeting the eligibility requirements. 

“Reclassification” Means the upgrade of a position to a higher classification as a result of the 
gradual increase of the duties being performed by the incumbent in such position. 

“Reemployment” is the return to duty of an employee who has been placed on a reemployment 
list. 

“Reemployment List” is a list of names of person who have been laid off for lack of work or lack 
of funds, or exhaustion of sick leave, industrial accident or illness leave, or leave privileges, and 
who are eligible for reemployment without examination in their former classification for a period 
of thirty-nine (39) months, said list arranged in order of their right to reemployment (seniority). 

“Regular employee” is any employee, whether permanent, probationary, full time or part time, 
who is not a restricted, substitute, short term, temporary, or student employee.   

“Restricted Employee,” is an employee hired pursuant to any local, state, or federally funded 
program which restricts employment to persons in the low income groups, from designated 

Page 80 of 245



59 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

impoverished areas, and any other criteria which restricts the privilege of all citizens to complete 
for employment in such positions, except as may otherwise be specified by this agreement.   

“Safety” conditions of employment” means any work-related conditions affecting the health and 
safety of the employee. 

“Suspension” means temporary removal of any employee from his/her position with loss of pay 
as a disciplinary measure.  Any suspension shall not be for more than twenty (20) work days. 

“Voluntary demotion” means the assignment of an inferior position or status with the employee’s 
written consent.  

 
  
 
 

Page 81 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13c Date:  9/28/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
 
Approve 3 Year Agreement 2021-24 between HTA and Hamilton Unified School District. 
 

Background: 
 
The Certificated Unit (HTA) and Hamilton USD agreed on a 3 Year Agreement for 2021-24. 
As approved in the March 23, 2022 board meeting packet, negotiated Articles/Appendix’s included: 

• Article XII: Work Hours/Work Year 

• Article XIII: Leaves 

• Article XIV: Class Size 

• Article XVII: Evaluations 

• Article XXI: Salary Regulations 

• Article XXII: Employee Benefits 

• Article XXVII: Duration 

• Appendix A 

• Appendix B 

• Appendix C 

• Appendix C1 

• Appendix D 

• Appendix E 

• Appendix F 
 

Status: 
 
Pending board approval. 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
 
Changes to Article XXI: Salary Regulations, Appendix A (Certificated Salary Schedule), Appendix C (Extra 
Duty Salary Schedule) were outlined and approved during the March 23, 2022 board meeting (3/23/22 
agenda Item Numbers: 13.0 ACTION ITEMS: “f.” “g.” and “h.”). 
 

Educational Impact: 
 
None 
 

Recommendation: 
 
Recommend board approve the 3 Year Agreement 2021-24 between HTA and Hamilton Unified School 
District. 
 

 

Page 82 of 245



DR
AF
TAGREEMENT

BETWEEN THE

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
AND

HAMILTON TEACHERS ASSOCIATION/CTA/NEA

JULY 1, 2021 – JUNE 30, 2024

1

Page 83 of 245



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I: Agreement 4

Article II: Recognition 5

Article III: Definitions 6

Article IV: Non-Discrimination 7

Article V: Negotiation Procedures 8

Article VI: Personnel Files 9

Article VII: Association Rights 10

Article VIII: District Rights 11

Article IX: Personal and Academic Freedom 12

Article X: Grievance Procedure 13

Article XI: Public Charges 19

Article XII: Work Hours/Work Year 21

Article XIII: Leaves 26

Article XIV: Class Size 35

Article XV: Teaching Conditions 36

Article XVI: Transfer and Reassignment 37

Article XVII: Evaluations 44

Article VXIII: Discipline 51

Article XIX: Staff Development Days 52

Article XX: Reduced Work Year Employment Status 53

Article XXI: Salary Regulations 54

Status Article XXII: Employment Benefits 57

Article XXIII: Peer Assistance and Review 61

Article XXIV: Medical Administrative Administration Activities (M.A.A.) 72

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 2

Page 84 of 245



Article XXV: Shared Contracts 73

Article XXVI: Miscellaneous Provisions 74

Article XXVII: Duration 75

Signature Page 76

APPENDIX A: Certificated Salary Schedule 77

APPENDIX B: Employee Benefits 79

APPENDIX C: Extra Duty Salary Schedule 80

APPENDIX D1: Certificated Probationary Evaluation Form 82

APPENDIX D2: Certificated Permanent Evaluation Form 85

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 3

Page 85 of 245



ARTICLE I: AGREEMENT

1.1 The Articles and provisions contained herein constitute a bilateral and binding agreement
(“Agreement”) by and between the Governing Board of the Hamilton Unified School
District (“District” or “Board”) and the HTA-Hamilton Teachers’ Association (“HTA” or
“Association”), an employee organization.

1.2 This Agreement is entered into pursuant to Chapter 10.7, Sections 3540-3549, of the
Government Code (“Act”).

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 4

Page 86 of 245



ARTICLE II: RECOGNITION

2.1 The District recognizes HTA as the exclusive representative of all certificated employees
of the District, for the purposes of meeting and negotiating, excluding:

2.1.1 Management as designated by District;

2.1.2 Long-term and day-to-day substitutes; and

2.1.3 Adult Education teachers.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 5

Page 87 of 245



ARTICLE III: DEFINITIONS

3.1 “Unit Member” refers to any employee who is included in the appropriate unit as defined
in Article II: Recognition, and is therefore covered by the terms and provisions of this
Agreement.

3.2 “Work Days” means school days that are days of active duty assignment for unit
members.

3.3 “Negotiate in good faith” means a serious and honest effort on the part of each party to
reach agreement, and also the duty to meet and negotiate as provided by Section 3543.7
of the Act.

3.4 “Emergency” is defined as a sudden, unforeseen situation that is caused by factors
beyond the control of the District including but not limited to: natural disaster,
quarantine, government order, or traumatic event, such as the death of a student or staff,
and that the Superintendent determines requires immediate action to avoid disaster, or
where the HTA President and the Superintendent agree that a staff meeting should be
called.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 6

Page 88 of 245



ARTICLE IV: NON-DISCRIMINATION

4.1 Neither the District nor the Association shall discriminate against any teacher on the basis
of membership in any employee organization, participation in the activities of an
employee organization, race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, mental or physical
disability, medical condition, marital status, age or gender, in the management of this
contract.

4.2 Teacher application forms and oral interview procedures shall not refer to membership in
or preferences for employee organizations.

4.3 All provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all unit members.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 7

Page 89 of 245



ARTICLE V: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURES

5.1 Negotiations shall take place at mutually agreeable times and places. The times of the
sessions, to the extent feasible, shall be equally divided between release time from duty
and use of after-duty hours of members of the unit.

5.2 The Teachers will designate no more than four representatives for purposes of
negotiations with the District during hours of duty assignment.

5.3 Agendas for subsequent negotiation sessions shall be mutually developed at the close of
each meeting.

5.4 The Teachers shall be entitled to all district publications relating to negotiations that are a
matter of public information, and an at-cost charge may be made for these publications if
appropriate and necessary.

5.5 Either party may caucus as necessary during negotiations. Either party may request that a
caucus period be expedited.

5.6 Either party may use representatives or consultants to assist in the negotiation process.

5.7 Any agreements reached by the parties shall be reduced to writing and signed by both
parties.

5.8 Within thirty (30) days of ratification of the Agreement by both parties herein, the
District shall post the contract on the District website and place a hard copy of the
contract at the HES and HHS school offices.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 8

Page 90 of 245



ARTICLE VI: PERSONNEL FILES

6.1 The District shall not base any adverse action against a teacher upon materials which are
contained in such teacher’s personnel file unless:

6.1.1 The materials had been placed in the file within a reasonable time of the
incident giving rise to such materials; and

6.1.2 The teacher was notified at such time that such materials were being placed in
his/her file.

6.2 A teacher shall be provided a copy of any negative or derogatory material before it is
placed in his/her personnel file and shall be given reasonable opportunity up to fifteen
(15) calendar days to initial and date the material. Employees shall have a minimum of
thirty (30) calendar days from the time of receipt of materials to respond to said
materials.  Any written response (optional) shall be attached to the material.

6.3 Access to personnel files shall be limited to members of District administration, the
teacher, and confidential clerical employees on a need-to-know basis. Contents of all
personnel files shall be kept in the strictest confidence.

6.4 Upon written authorization by the teacher, a representative of the Association shall be
permitted to examine and/or obtain copies of materials in that teacher’s personnel file.

6.5 The person or persons who draft and/or place material in a teacher’s personnel file shall
sign the material and signify the date on which such material was drafted and placed in
the personnel file.

6.6 Education Code Section 44031 states that employee personnel records are permanent.
ECS 44031 protects employees from arbitrary or prejudicial materials from being placed
into the respective employee’s personnel file. Further, the law states that an employee
must be notified and provided a copy of any materials being placed into the personnel file
prior to the document being placed within. Further, the employee will have the right to
respond in writing as described in Education Code Section 44031 (see also Title 5 Cal.
Regs. Section 16023, subd. (c)).

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 9

Page 91 of 245



ARTICLE VII: ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

7.1 The Association and its members shall have the right to make use of school equipment,
buildings and facilities upon prior approval of the Superintendent and at times which do
not interfere with the educational program of the District.

7.2 The Association shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of
Association concern on designated Association bulletin board space which shall be
provided for each school in areas frequented by teachers. The Association may use
District resources for communications to teachers, as subject to reasonable rules and
regulations.

7.3 Authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact official
Association business on school property at locations approved by the Superintendent or
designee, and at times that do not interfere with assigned duties of employees.

7.4 The District shall place on the agenda of each Board meeting any matters brought to its
consideration by the Association, provided that such matters are made known to the
Superintendent’s office five (5) workdays prior to said meeting. Exceptions shall be
made for emergencies in accordance with provisions of the Brown Act.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 10

Page 92 of 245



ARTICLE VIII: DISTRICT RIGHTS

8.1 The District, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains
and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties, and
responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and the Constitution of the
State of California, and of the United States, including but without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, the right:

8.1.1 To the executive management organization and administrative control of the
District and its properties and facilities, and the activities of its employees;

8.1.2 To direct the work of its employees, determine the time and hours of
operation, and determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided and
the methods and means of providing those services including entering into
contracts with private vendors for services;

8.1.3 To hire all employees, and, subject to the provisions of law, to determine their
qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, discipline,
dismissal or demotion; and to promote, assign, and transfer all such
employees;

8.1.4 To establish educational policies, goals and objectives; to insure rights and
educational opportunities of students; to determine staffing patterns; to
determine the number and kinds of personnel required in order to maintain the
efficiency of district operations; and

8.1.5 To build, move, or modify facilities, establish budget procedures, and
determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of raising revenue;
and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency.

8.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities by the
District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices in furtherance thereof,
and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by
the specific and express terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent such specific
and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State
of California and the Constitution and laws of the United States.

8.3 The District retains its right to amend, modify, or rescind policies and practices referred
to in this Agreement in case of “emergency.” The determination of whether or not an
emergency exists is as defined in Article III: Definitions.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 11

Page 93 of 245



ARTICLE IX: PERSONAL AND ACADEMIC FREEDOM

9.1 Unit members shall be entitled in private life to full rights of citizenship and no personal,
religious, or political activities of any teacher (or the lack thereof) shall be grounds for
any disciplinary action or discrimination in regard to employment – providing that these
activities do not violate any reasonable District regulation and/or state or federal law.

9.2 Unit members shall have the right to join or not to join a union of their choice without the
District interfering in their decision.

9.3 District shall not interfere with a unit member’s freedom to exercise professional
judgment – in speech, skills, creativity, materials, and the like – while teaching the
curriculum and managing the classroom according to District-adopted content, state and
federal law, and professional ethics.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 12

Page 94 of 245



ARTICLE X: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

9.1 Definitions

A “grievance” is a formal written allegation by a unit member, a group of unit members,
or an Association representative on behalf of, and with written authorization from, a unit
member or group of unit members, that there has been a violation or misapplication of the
specific provisions within this Agreement which has resulted in an adverse effect upon
that member or member(s).

9.1.1 A grievance shall not include, and this grievance procedure shall not apply to,
any of the following:

9.1.1.1 Any matter upon which the District is without authority to act;

9.1.1.2 Any alleged violation of law that does not also state a violation of
a specific provision of this Agreement;

9.1.1.3 The evaluation of members of the unit, except for alleged
violations of procedural matters;

9.1.1.4 Any attempt to alter or change this Agreement;

9.1.1.5 An appeal of any Board/District decision if such decision is a
result of a state or federal regulatory commission or agency rule or
decision; or state or federal law or court decision;

9.1.2 A “grievant” is:

9.1.2.1 A unit member;

9.1.2.2 A group of unit members; or

9.1.2.3 An Association representative acting on behalf of, and with written
authorization from, a unit member or members.

9.1.3 A “day” is any day the District office is open for business.

9.1.4 The “immediate supervisor” is the lowest level administrator having line
supervisory authority over the grievant who has been designated to adjust
grievances.

9.1.5 A “party of interest” is the District, the grievant or the designated
representative.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 13

Page 95 of 245



9.2 Procedures

10.2.1 Informal Level

10.2.1.1 Within fifteen (15) days of the alleged misinterpretation,
misapplication, or violation giving rise to the grievance, the
grievant shall attempt to resolve it by an informal conference with
his/her immediate supervisor.

10.2.1.2 If the grievant is not satisfied with the informal resolution the
grievant shall, within ten (10) days of the immediate supervisor’s
decision, proceed to Formal Level I.

10.2.2 Formal Level I

10.2.2.1 At the conclusion of the informal level, the grievant must present
the grievance in writing to the immediate supervisor.

10.2.2.2 This statement shall be a clear, concise statement, specifying the
article and section violated; circumstances involved, fully stating
the facts surrounding the grievance; the decision rendered at the
informal conference; and the specific remedy sought. This
statement must be signed and dated by the grievant.

10.2.2.3 The immediate supervisor shall communicate his decision to the
grievant in writing within ten (10) days after receiving the
grievance. If the immediate supervisor does not respond within the
time limits, the grievant may appeal to the next level.

10.2.2.4 Within the above time limits either party may request a personal
conference.

10.2.3 Formal Level II

10.2.3.1 If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision at Level I, he/she
may, within five (5) days, appeal the decision in writing to the
Superintendent.

10.2.3.2 This statement shall include a copy of the original grievance and
appeal, the decisions rendered, and a clear, concise statement of the
reasons for the appeal. The employee must sign and date the
appeal.

10.2.3.3 The Superintendent shall communicate his decision to the grievant
within ten (10) days. If the Superintendent does not respond within
the time limits provided, or if the grievant is not satisfied with the
decision rendered, the grievant may appeal to the next level.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 14

Page 96 of 245



10.2.4 If the immediate supervisor and Superintendent are the same person, Level II is
omitted.

10.2.5 Formal Level III - Mediation

10.2.5.1 If the grievant and/or the Association is not satisfied with the
disposition of the grievance, or if no disposition has occurred
pursuant to the provisions of Formal Level II, the grievance may
be referred to grievance mediation. Mediation will occur only with
the concurrence of the District and Association.

10.2.5.2 If mediation is not chosen by both parties within 15 (fifteen) days,
the grievance will proceed to Formal Level IV – Binding
Arbitration.

10.2.5.3 Should mediation be agreed upon, the Association shall request
that the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service assign
a mediator to assist the parties in the resolution of the grievance.

10.2.5.4 The mediator, within 30 (thirty) days of request, shall meet with
the Association and the District, at a time and place mutually
agreeable to both parties.

10.2.5.5 If the grievance was initially filed by or on behalf of one or more
individual unit members, such members may be present during
mediation upon request of the Association.

10.2.5.6 If an agreement is reached, the agreement shall be reduced to
writing and shall be signed by the grievant, the Association, and
the District. This agreement shall be nonprecedential and shall
constitute a settlement of the grievance.

10.2.5.7 In the event that the Association and the Superintendent or his/her
designee has not resolved the grievance with the assistance of the
conciliator/mediator, the Association may terminate Formal Level
III and the grievance shall proceed to Formal Level IV.

10.2.6 Formal Level IV – Binding Arbitration

10.2.6.1 If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the
grievance at Level II, or III, they may submit the grievance to
Binding Arbitration. The grievant and the Association shall notify
the Superintendent or designee within 15 (fifteen) days of the
receipt of the response, or within ten (10) days of the Level III
final mediation meeting, if the grievance is being submitted to
Binding Arbitration.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 15

Page 97 of 245



10.2.6.2 The arbitration proceeding shall be conducted by a professional
arbitrator to be selected by the District and Association within
seven (7) days after the request is received by the Superintendent.
If an arbitrator cannot be agreed upon, the following selection
procedure will be employed:

a. If any questions arise as to whether a grievance can be
arbitrated or not, such question will be ruled upon by the
arbitrator only after he/she has had an opportunity to hear
the merits of the grievance.

b. The Association and the District shall jointly request a list
of seven (7) qualified arbitrators experienced in arbitrating
public school grievances from the California State
Mediation and Conciliation Service.

c. The selection of an arbitrator shall be determined by an
elimination process in which the first party shall be
determined by a flip of the coin; then each party shall
alternately remove a name until only one name remains.

d. HTA and HUSD shall request in writing a mutually
agreed-upon deadline for the decision by the arbitrator, and
shall include the deadline in the arbitration contract.

10.2.6.3 The arbitrator’s decision will be in writing and will set forth his
findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions on the issues submitted
unless expedited rules apply.

10.2.6.4 The Superintendent, Association, and grievant shall be given
copies of the decision and the arbitrator’s report. The decision of
the arbitrator shall be final and binding on all parties.

10.2.6.5 The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any
decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by
law or which violates the terms of this Agreement. However, it is
agreed that the arbitrator is empowered to include in any award
such financial reimbursement or other remedies as he/she judges to
be proper, with the exception that it is understood that the
Association and District shall always be responsible for paying for
their own respective costs (attorneys’ fees, etc.) for preparing and
presenting a case for arbitration. The arbitrator is specifically
prohibited from including these fees in any award.

10.2.6.6 All costs for the services of the arbitrator, including but not limited
to per diem expenses, travel, and subsistence expenses, and the
cost of any hearing room, will be borne equally by the District and
the Association.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 16

Page 98 of 245



10.2.6.7 The voluntary labor arbitration rules of the American Arbitration
Association shall apply to all arbitrations conducted under this
section.

10.2.6.8 All documents, communications, and records dealing with the
processing of a grievance will be filed in a separate grievance file
and will not be kept in the regular personnel file of any of the
participants.

10.3 Guidelines

9.3.1 A grievant may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by
himself/herself or (at his/her option) by any representative. If the grievant is
not represented by the Association or its representative(s), the Association
shall still have the right to be present and to state its views at all stages of the
grievance procedure.

9.3.2 In the event that a grievant chooses self-representation, no final solution of a
grievance shall be made by District until the Association has received a copy
of the grievance, any proposed solution, and has been provided an opportunity
to file a written response. The Association must exercise its response
privilege within ten (10) days of its receipt of the grievance and offer a
proposed solution.

9.3.3 Nothing in this Article shall be construed as preventing any party to a
grievance from seeking the advice and counsel of a representative of choice.

9.3.4 All communications required to be in writing shall be served by U.S. certified
mail or shall be delivered personally with acknowledgment via signed receipt
notice during non-student contact time.

9.3.5 Unit members required to be absent from their duties when directly involved
in a grievance hearing as an Association representative or witness shall not
suffer any loss of pay.

9.3.6 A separate grievance file for each grievance shall be maintained at the District
Office. During processing of the grievance, materials relating to the grievance
shall be maintained in this file.

9.3.7 Forms for filing and processing grievances shall be prepared by the
Superintendent in consultation with the Association, and copies shall be
available at each school site office.

9.3.8 Timelines as stated in the grievance procedure are maximums. Every effort
should be made to expedite a grievance as quickly as is feasible. If the
grievance is filed at a time when vacation and/or summer schedules would
make its resolution difficult, its processing may, by mutual consent, be
postponed until an appropriate time.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 17

Page 99 of 245



9.3.9 A grievance filed against a supervisor shall have its first hearing at the next
appropriate level of this procedure. All established time lines will be adhered
to beginning with the informal level.

9.3.10 If the grievant introduces new evidence at any level in the grievance
procedure, the District may require that the grievance be returned to the prior
level.

9.3.11 Meetings for the processing of grievances shall be scheduled as much as
possible at times which will not interfere with the regular workday of the
participants. If any grievance meeting or hearing must be scheduled during
the regular workday, any unit member required by either party to participate
as a witness or grievant in such meeting or hearing shall be released from
regular duties without loss of pay for a reasonable amount of time.

9.3.12 The grievant shall be entitled, upon request, to representation by the
Association or another teacher at any or all grievance conferences.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 18

Page 100 of 245



ARTICLE XI: PUBLIC CHARGES

11.1 Any parent or citizen complaint directed to the school administration about a unit
member shall be communicated to the member and, if deemed to be serious enough to
warrant investigation, shall be processed through the following procedures.

11.1.1 The Superintendent or designee will investigate charges made. If no
substance to the complaint is found, the issue will be dropped and no entry
will be made in the personnel file.

11.1.1.1 A copy of the complaint will be given to the employee within the
ten (10) school day period, unless precluded by law or by board
policy.

11.1.1.2 Every effort should be made to resolve a complaint at the earliest
possible stage. Whenever possible, the complainant should
communicate directly to the employee in order to resolve concerns.

11.1.1.3 A written complaint shall include:

a. The full name of each employee involved
b. A brief but specific summary of the complaint and the facts

surrounding it.
c. A specific description of any prior attempt to discuss the

complaint with the employee and the failure to resolve the
matter.

11.1.2 If the Superintendent or designee and/or unit member deems that an
administrative conference is advisable, an appropriate conference will be held.
The complainant will be notified and requested to be present and to submit the
complaint in writing.  The unit member may elect to attend the conference.

11.1.3 If a mutually satisfactory resolution is achieved, the matter will be closed.
Failure of the complainant to attend the conference and to submit written
charges will cause the matter to be dropped.

11.1.4 A copy of the complaint with the resolution attached will be placed in the unit
member’s personnel file.

11.1.5 If either party at the administrative conference is not satisfied with the
findings of the conference, that person may appeal the entire matter to a
closed hearing of the Board unless the unit member requests a public hearing.
The Board’s decision will be the final decision of the District.

11.1.6 Either party at the Board Hearing may be represented by an advisor of choice.
A copy of the complaint, with the Board’s resolution attached, will be placed
in the personnel file of the unit member.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 19

Page 101 of 245



11.1.7 A teacher shall be provided a copy of any negative or derogatory materials
before it is placed in his/her personnel file and shall be given reasonable
opportunity up to fifteen (15) calendar days to initial and date the material.
Any written response (optional) shall be attached to the material.

11.1.8 Violations of procedures specified in this Article are grievable. Resolutions
made under this article are not grievable.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 20

Page 102 of 245



ARTICLE XII: WORK HOURS/WORK YEAR

12.1 Work Year

12.1.1 The regular school year for classroom teachers will consist of a total of 184
work days.

12.1.2 All classroom teachers shall be required to be present as assigned by the
District on each work day during the regular school year.

12.1.3 Of the total 184 workdays during the regular school year, there shall be a total
of 180 teacher workdays. The remaining four (4) days of the total 184
workdays during the regular school work year shall be considered
non-teaching work days. If all requirements are met, the Superintendent may
allow for flexibility regarding the non-teaching days.

12.1.4 The scheduling of all work days, both teaching and non-teaching, during the
regular school year shall be at the discretion of the District with input from the
certificated staff. These days shall not be on a weekend or a holiday except by
mutual agreement between the Association and the District.

12.1.5 Nothing in this Article is to be interpreted as prohibiting a unit member from
serving an extended year on terms mutually agreed to by the members and the
District.

12.1.6 A mandatory check out procedure at the conclusion of a school year shall be
on a contract work day. There shall be sufficient time prior to this date for any
appropriate forms to be processed by district personnel as needed. This
procedure will be developed at each site.

12.2 Work Day

12.2.1 The teacher’s normal work day in fulltime status shall be seven and
one-quarter (7.25) hours and normal work week shall be thirty-six and one
quarter (36.25) hours including at least a thirty (30) minute duty-free lunch
period providing at least a 5-minute transition allowance. Each unit member
will be at work fifteen (15) minutes before the beginning of his/her class or
the beginning of the school day as determined by the District.

12.2.2 The classroom teacher shall complete such additional duties or activities that
are necessary to complete their professional responsibilities.

12.3.0 Preparation Period

12.3.1 The District shall minimize disruption of teachers prep time by scheduling
legally required meetings (IEP, SST, or 504 meetings) outside of prep time
when possible. Unscheduled parent visits to campus do not constitute a
legally required meeting however the parties agree that it is a professional

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 21

Page 103 of 245



responsibility as stated in 12.2.2 and is in compliance with Board Policy
6020 Parental Involvement.

12.3.2 Elementary Schools

12.3.2.1 Elementary/Middle School Prep Time will be designated
Monday-Friday, following the release of students until the end of contractual
time to be no less than 50 minutes unless needed to be used for instructional
minutes.

12.3.3High Schools

12.3.3.1 One Preparation Period equivalent in length of time to one of the
teaching periods of the school will be assigned to the teacher.

12.3.3.2 A teacher may be assigned to teach a class absented by another
teacher during a regular preparation period.

12.3.3.3 When such assignment is made the unit members shall be paid the
percentage of the daily rate applicable to each period or shall be
given one period credit toward compensatory time off to be taken
during the year. The District will be responsible for recording the
unit members’ preference at the beginning of the year.

12.3.3.4 Such accumulation of time shall be taken in one-half or one full
day increments up to a total of one full instructional day per year.

12.3.3.5 The teacher shall be required to perform those duties normally
performed during the regular preparation period during an
equivalent period of time at the end of the student school day.

12.3.3.6 When economically practicable the regular teacher preparation
period shall be preserved and a substitute employed.

12.4     Professional Collaboration (PC)

12.4.1 80 minutes each week will be allotted for Professional Collaboration. 
Professional Collaboration is defined as time in which Professional
Learning Communities, Professional Development, and Staff Meetings
will take place as determined by the Administration.  It is understood that
the district focus is to incorporate Professional Learning Environments as
a premier focus of school improvement.

12.5 District Directed In-service Minimum Day Fridays

12.5.1 Any District directed minimum days will be set by the District and reviewed by
the HULC. This calendar of preliminary dates will be published no later than the

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 22

Page 104 of 245



first week of school. To the best of the district’s ability to set these dates, it is
understood that modifications may be made to this calendar with prior notice.

12.5.2 District directed in-service minimum day Fridays will not be those dates set aside
for Early Release Fridays (12.7), Fair week minimum days or the last week of
school.

12.5.3 District wide minimum days

12.5.3.1 Of the thirty-eight (38) minimum day Fridays, there will be not
more than 9 minimum day Fridays designated by the District for
Staff Development, PLC or vertical articulation (this excludes the
minimum days for fair and bolt days).

12.6 Early Release

12.6.1 In consideration for the additional staff hours required for professional
development/staff meetings/PLC commitments listed in sections above
release time will be allowed as described below.

12.6.1.1 At the conclusion of the student day on minimum day
Fridays that are scheduled within the district calendar
directly prior to the major school breaks of Thanksgiving,
Winter Break, and Spring Break (if it falls on a Friday),
unit members may leave upon completion of professional
responsibilities (as stated in Article XII, 12.2, 12.2.2).

12.7 Extra Pay Positions

11.6.1 Any extra duty position filled is paid per the Extra Duty Salary Schedule;
Appendix C.

11.6.2 Each unit member who has served in an extra-pay position during the current
school year and expresses a willingness to be appointed to the same extra-pay
position for the following year will be notified by May 1, of his/her
reappointment, which is at the discretion of the District, for the next school
year.

11.6.3 An extra-pay position that is not filled via the reappointment process will be
declared an open position. When a position is declared open, the District will
publicize the open position by posting a notice of the open position at each
school. The notice will include a list of qualifications for the position. All unit
members who are interested in being considered for the position may submit
an application to the District.

11.6.4 The District will first consider unit member applications for the open position.
If a unit member candidate is properly qualified, as determined by the District,
he/she will be appointed to the position. In the event that no unit member is
HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021

Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22
pg. 23

Page 105 of 245



appointed to the position, other applicants will be considered. Appointments
to all extra-pay positions will be based on District timelines and contingent on
the program being offered in the school for the following year.

Unit members may make a written request of the district to open a coaching
position held by a walk-on coach not employed as a certificated or classified
unit member of the district. The district has full discretion when considering
the request to open or not to open the position. Such requests must be made by
April 1st of the current school year for the following school year.

11.6.5 Each unit member who is appointed to an extra-pay position will work such
time as necessary to complete the responsibilities in a professional manner as
set forth in the District-adopted job description.

11.6.6 Coaches will receive an additional stipend of $250 for any post season games
per sport. The additional stipends will be paid to head coaches and assistant
coaches who are paid during the regular season of play. Excluded would be
non-paid /volunteer coaches. Coaches who choose to split the regular season
stipends would also split the post season stipend of $250.00.

11.7.0 Athletic Supervision

12.8.1 The District and Unit agree that athletics is a primary support for student
learning that builds interest and attracts students to our district. The District
and Unit agrees that supervision of athletic events outside the contract day are
necessary for student, staff and community safety as well as a requirement to
participate in the State of California Interscholastic Federation (CIF) that
federation regulating high school sports. The District and Unit agree that
supervision within a small district is cumbersome on all and further
understand the need to have members of the unit assist administration with
athletic supervision. Therefore this agreement is to encourage sharing the load
between high school staff, site and district administration. The District and
Unit agrees to the following procedures:

12.8.1.1 The District and Unit agrees that High School Teachers may cover
Minor Games and school dances as the administrative designee.
Minor Games are defined as Soccer, Softball, Baseball and some
Volleyball/Basketball games where coverage does not warrant both
an administrator and/or Dean of Students supervision.

12.8.1.2 The District and Unit agrees that High School Teachers could also
serve as an additional site administrative designee at such games
that warrant more supervision.

12.8.1.3 The District agrees to create an administrative designee sign-up
schedule in sufficient time for each of the fall, winter and spring
sports.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 24

Page 106 of 245



12.8.1.4 The District agrees to provide training to the High School Staff
annually regarding the procedures and process needed for each
administrative duty while serving as the administrative designee
for game supervision.

12.8.2 Compensation

12.8.2.1 The District agrees to compensate unit members with one hour of
compensatory time for each hour of athletic supervision coverage
served outside the contract day up to 21.75 (3 days) hours per
school year (as described in article 12.3 section 12.3.3.3). The unit
members shall place all athletic coverage hours onto a district
timesheet and the district will enter the compensatory time into the
district employee attendance system (AESOP) (note, compensatory
time shall be paid to all unit members who are acting as
administrative designee beyond their required duties).

12.8.2.2 All requests for compensatory time off must be submitted through
AESOP and approved by the site administrator in a timely manner
to ensure that a substitute teacher is secured for the vacancy.

12.8.2.3 Unit members who choose to accrue additional coverage over the
maximum compensatory bank will be paid at a rate of $30.00 per
hour. Unit members may choose to be compensated at the rate of
$30.00 per hour for athletic coverage and not accrue compensatory
time if they so desire.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 25

Page 107 of 245



ARTICLE XIII: LEAVES

13.1 Definitions

13.1.1 “Paid Leave” is a leave during which the employee receives pay and other
fringe benefits according to the terms of this contract.

13.1.2 “Unpaid Leave” is a leave during which the employee does not receive salary
payments. Other District benefits contributed to by District are continued in
effect.

13.1.3 “Unpaid Non-benefit Leave” is a leave during which employee does not
receive any salary or any benefits earned as an employee. The employee may
continue health and insurance coverages by reimbursing the District for the
full cost of these programs.

13.1.4 “Immediate Family” is defined as mother, father, grandmother, grandfather,
grandchild, spouse, registered domestic partner, or significant other, son,
daughter, step-children, step-parents, brother, sister, in-laws, aunt, uncle,
nieces or nephews, any other person living in the immediate household of the
employee.

13.2 Sick Leave

13.2.1 Every teacher shall be entitled to ten (10) days of paid sick leave for each full
year of employment.

13.2.1.1 Unused sick leave shall accrue from school year to school year.

13.2.1.2 At the beginning of each school year, every teacher shall
receive a sick leave allotment credit equal to the sick leave
entitlement for the school year. A teacher may use credited
sick leave at any time during the school year.

13.2.1.3 With advance notice, the District may require a physician’s
verification of illness and/or ability to return to work if a
teacher has been on sick leave for three (3) or more
consecutive days.

13.3 Maternity Leave

13.3.1 Maternity leave shall be granted according to state law. Absence due to
pregnancy, or to illness/injury caused by pregnancy, childbirth, miscarriage or
recovery therefrom shall, upon certification of a physician, be considered as
sick leave according to the sick leave provisions of this contract.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 26

Page 108 of 245



13.3.2 The length of the leave, including the date on which the leave shall begin and
the date on which the member shall resume duties, shall be determined by the
unit member and the physician of the unit member.

13.4 Child-Rearing Bonding Leave

13.4.1 Employees may elect to utilize up to 12 weeks of child bonding leave
occasioned by the birth of the employee’s child, or the placement of a child
with the employee in connection with the employee’s adoption or foster care
of a child as provided by the California Family Rights Act (CFRA).

13.4.2 Such leave shall be paid leave consistent with Education Code section
44977.5. Employees shall be permitted to use accumulated leave credits
during child bonding leave. If an employee exhausts his/her accumulated sick
leave prior to the expiration of the 12-week child bonding leave, she/he shall
be entitled to differential pay as defined in Education Code section 44977.5
for the balance of the 12-week period.

13.4.3 At least four (4) weeks prior to the anticipated date on which child-rearing
leave is to commence, the unit member will notify the District of intention to
take such leave and will specify the length of the leave (special provisions will
be made for emergencies). For birthing parent, the 12-week child bonding
leave shall commence at the conclusion of any pregnancy disability leave. For
non-birthing parents, the 12-week child bonding leave shall commence on the
first day of such leave.

13.5 Child Adoption

13.5.1 Any unit member shall be entitled to Child Bonding Leave consistent with
13.4 above.

13.6 Paternity Leave

13.6.1 Non-Birthing Teachers will be afforded leave consistent with Child-Bonding
Leave allowed in 13.4 above.

13.6.2 Non-Birthing Teachers may also be allowed an unpaid leave of absence for
childcare for up to one (1) full year; concurrent with 13.4 and in compliance
with the Family and Medical Leave Act.

13.7 The District and Unit understand that 13.4 Child-Rearing Bonding Leave is currently in
law and agree that the contained language in 13.4 Child-Rearing Bonding Leave will be
in effect upon signing of this MOU.

13.8 Extended Sick Leave

13.8.1 Any unit member who is absent from duties on account of illness or accident
for a period of five (5) or fewer months shall receive the regular salary due

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 27

Page 109 of 245



that employee less the amount actually paid the substitute to fill the position
during the absence of the regular employee.

13.8.2 Benefits accruing under this provision shall be used only after entitlement to
all regular sick leave, accumulated sick leave, or other available paid leave has
been exhausted.

13.8.3 During each school year, when a person employed in a position requiring
certification qualifications has exhausted all available sick leave, including all
accumulated sick leave, and continues to be absent from his or her duties on
account of illness or accident for an additional period of five school months,
whether or not the absence arises out of or in the course of the employment of
the employee, the amount deducted from the salary due him or her for any of
the additional five months in which the absence occurs shall not exceed the
sum that is actually paid a substitute employee employed to fill his or her
position during his or her absence or, if no substitute employee was employed,
the amount that would have been paid to the substitute had he or she been
employed. The school district shall make every reasonable effort to secure the
services of a substitute employee. See Ed. Code 44977.

13.8.3.1 For purposes of 13.8.3:

13.8.3.1.1 The sick leave, including accumulated sick leave, and
the five-month period shall run consecutively.

13.8.3.1.2 An employee shall not be provided more than one
five-month period per illness or accident. However, if a
school year terminates before the five-month period is
exhausted, the employee may take the balance of the
five-month period in a subsequent school year.

13.8.3.2 The governing board of every school district shall adopt a salary
schedule for substitute employees. The salary schedule shall
indicate a salary for a substitute for all categories or classes of
certificated employees of the district.

13.8.3.3 Excepting in a district the governing board of which has adopted a
salary schedule for substitute employees of the district, the amount
paid the substitute employee during any month shall be less than the
salary due the employee absent from his or her duties.

13.8.3.4 When a person employed in a position requiring certification
qualifications is absent from his or her duties on account of illness
for a period of more than five school months, or when a person is
absent from his or her duties for a cause other than illness, the
amount deducted from the salary due him or her for the month in
which the absence occurs shall be determined according to the rules
and regulations established by the governing board of the district.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 28

Page 110 of 245



The rules and regulations shall not conflict with rules and
regulations of the State Board of Education.

13.8.3.5 Nothing in this section shall be construed so as to deprive any
district, city, or city and county of the right to make any reasonable
rule for the regulation of accident or sick leave or cumulative
accident or sick leave without loss of salary for persons acquiring
certification qualifications.

13.8.3.6 This section shall be applicable whether or not the absence from
duty is by reason of a leave of absence granted by the governing
board of the employing district.

13.9 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave

13.9.1 Industrial accident and illness leave is granted to a unit member involved in an
industrial accident or illness which results directly from his/her employment
with the District.  Such member shall qualify for the following benefits.

13.9.1.1 Allowable leave shall be sixty (60) working days in any one (1)
fiscal year for the same accident or illness.

13.9.1.2 Allowable leave shall not be cumulative from year to year.

13.9.1.3 All industrial accident or illness leave will commence on the first
day of absence.

13.9.1.4 Payment for wages lost on any one (1) day due to an industrial
accident or illness shall not, when added to an award granted the
unit member under the Workers’ Compensation laws of the state,
exceed that unit member’s normal daily wage.

13.9.1.5 Industrial accident or illness leave will be reduced by one (1) day
for each day of authored absence regardless of any compensation
award made under Workers’ Compensation.

13.9.1.6 If an industrial accident or illness overlaps into a second fiscal year,
the unit members shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at
the end of the fiscal year in which the injury or illness occurred.

13.9.1.7 Industrial accident or illness leave is to be used in lieu of other Sick
Leave entitlement until such entitlement under Industrial Accident
or Illness Leave is exhausted. However, if a unit member is
receiving Worker’s Compensation, the unit member shall be entitled
to use only so much of the accumulated or available Sick Leave
benefits or other paid benefits that, when added to the Workers’
Compensation award, will provide for a full day’s wage or salary.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 29

Page 111 of 245



13.9.1.8 Periods of leave of absence, whether paid or unpaid, will not be
considered a break in service. Any unit member receiving benefits
as a result of this section shall remain within the State of California
unless the Governing Board formally authorizes travel outside the
state.

13.9.1.9 The Superintendent may request a unit member to submit to an
examination by a competent practitioner of the Superintendent’s
choice in order to maintain eligibility for leave provisions under this
subsection.

13.9.1.10 A unit member who has been medically released for return to duty,
and who fails to accept an appropriate assignment, shall be
considered as dismissed.

13.10 Professional Opportunity Leave

13.10.1 Upon the recommendation of the Superintendent, the Governing Board may
grant a year’s leave without pay to certificated staff members of advanced
study in their major or minor fields, to improve their competency in current
teaching assignments, or to obtain competencies in other fields of education.

13.10.1.1 Professional Leave recipients shall receive advancement on the
salary schedule as though they remained in the District.

13.10.1.2 This leave will be considered after five (5) years in the District or
after five (5) years since a similar leave has been granted by the
District.

13.10.1.3 Unit members on professional leaves shall notify the District of
their intended return not later than March 1 of the school year prior
to their return.

13.10.1.4 If a Unit member wishes to extend the leave beyond one year, a new
request must be submitted for an additional year by March 1 of the
professional-leave year. The District, at its discretion, will consider
such a request.

13.11 Personal Necessity Leave

13.11.1 Every unit member shall be entitled to use seven (7) days of his/her paid sick
leave allotment during each school year in the case of the following:

13.11.1.1 The death or serious illness of a member of the immediate
family as defined in Section 10.1 of this Article.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 30

Page 112 of 245



13.11.1.2 Serious accident involving the unit member’s person or
property, or the person or property of a member of the
immediate family.

13.11.1.3 Eminent danger to the home or personal property of the unit
member occasioned by flood, storm, fire or other natural
calamity.

13.11.1.4 The unit member shall not be required to secure advance
permission to use personal necessity leave for situations
described in Section 13.11.1.1, 13.11.1.2, and 13.11.1.3 above.

13.11.2 Upon prior 24-hour notice to the District (exceptions at Superintendent’s
discretion), a unit member may use, at his/her election, up to three (3) days of
unused sick leave for the purposes of personal business leave not listed in
Section 13.10.1.1, 13.10.1.2, and 13.10.1.3 above. The unit member shall
notify the District the anticipated length of absence as soon as practicable.

13.11.3 Upon application of the unit member and approval of District Governing
Board, personal necessity leave under this subsection may be extended up to
an additional five (5) days.

13.11.4 Faculty/Student Bereavement Leave

13.11.4.1 Unit members may be granted release time during the work day for
attending funerals of District employees or students in their
classrooms, or parents, or siblings of such students. Such release
time may be charged to Personal Necessity Leave, subject to
finding qualified substitutes.

13.12 Bereavement Leave

13.12.1 Every unit member shall be entitled to three (3) days’ paid leave of absence
(or five (5) days if travel of more than four hundred (400) miles is involved)
on account of the death of any member of that person’s immediate family.

13.12.2 Bereavement leave shall not be deducted from sick leave. The employee may
petition the Superintendent or designee about bereavement leave for person(s)
other than immediate family as defined in Section 13.1.4 of this Article.

13.13 Catastrophic Leave

13.13.1 Under the catastrophic leave program, District employees may voluntarily
donate sick leave credits to other eligible employees within their employment
group who have been granted leaves of absence due to a catastrophic illness or
injury. Leave credits may not be exchanged between classified and
certificated employees.  (E.C. 44043.5)

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 31

Page 113 of 245



13.13.2 All transfers of eligible leave credit shall be irrevocable. The Superintendent
shall ensure that all donations are confidential.

13.13.3 Definitions

13.13.3.1 “Catastrophic illness” or “catastrophic injury” means an illness
or injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee or
his/her family members and that requires the employee to take
time away from work in excess of 72.5 hours (or ten days).

13.13.3.2 “Catastrophic leave credit” means sick leave donated from one
employee’s accrued sick leave account to another employee.

13.13.3.3 “Recipient” means any person meeting the eligibility
requirements.

13.13.3.4 “Donor” means any person voluntarily transferring their sick
leave credits to another employee.

13.13.3.5 “Participant” means any unit member.

13.13.4 Sick Leave Credits.

13.13.4.1 Credits are received and donated on an hourly basis. A day’s
sick leave is counted as seven and one-quarter (7.25) hours.
Part-time employees may donate or receive sick leave on a
pro-rated basis.

13.13.5 Recipients.

13.13.5.1 To be eligible to receive donations, the employee must satisfy
all of the following conditions.

a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the
collective bargaining agreement.

b. Be a participant in the catastrophic leave.

c. Provide medical written verification from his/her licensed
physician of a catastrophic illness or injury, indicating the
capacitating nature and probable duration of the illness or
injury.

d. Have used all available sick leave credits.

e. Not be receiving other salary replacement credits such as
worker’s compensation.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 32

Page 114 of 245



f. Not receive leave credits for the purpose of qualifying for
STRS disability.

g. Use the donated leave credits within twelve (12)
consecutive months.

13.13.6 Donors

13.13.6.1 Donations may be solicited through an announcement by the
District on behalf of an eligible recipient.

13.13.6.2 All transfers of eligible leave credit shall be irrevocable. The
Superintendent shall ensure that all donations are confidential.

13.13.6.3 To donate sick leave credits, the employee must satisfy all of
the following conditions:

a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the
collective bargaining agreement.

b. Must be able to maintain a minimum of ten (10)
accumulated sick days.

13.13.6.4 Unit members may donate a minimum of one full day of sick
leave per year to a maximum contribution of ten (10) days.

13.14 Jury and Witness Duty Leave

12.14.13.4 The employee must return to work when it is not necessary for him/her to report
for jury duty.

13.14.2 An employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of pay for any
regularly scheduled jury duty when directed to appear as a witness in court
other than as a litigant. The employee shall include the subpoena with the
application directed to the Superintendent. If the leave of absence is approved
with pay, the employee shall make payment to the school district the fees
received for his/her services to the court as a juror or witness; exclusive of
transportation, food, and lodging expense.

13.14.3 The employee must return to work in cases when it is not necessary for
him/her to be absent the entire day. In the event an employee is excused from
jury duty prior to noon, he/she shall return to work unless serving in Federal
Court.

13.14.4 This policy shall not preclude the District Superintendent from discussing
with the affected employee the practicality of seeking exemption when
acceptance would tend to materially disrupt the district’s operation.

13.14.5 If a litigant, the employee:
HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021

Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22
pg. 33

Page 115 of 245



13.14.5.1 Shall be granted leave not to exceed five (5) days.

13.14.5.2 Shall be required to pay the substitute pay up to five (5) days.

13.14.5.3 Shall be limited to five (5) paid days.

13.15 Leave Status

13.15.1 Unit members on District-approved leave will maintain their seniority rank in
terms of District service unless otherwise agreed.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 34

Page 116 of 245



ARTICLE XIV: CLASS SIZE

14.1 Conceptually, the parties agree that 24:1 ratio of pupils to classroom teachers is desirable.
As options are evaluated, the District and the Association will consider this objective.

14.2 It is recognized that smaller class sizes in the primary grades are beneficial to the K-8
instructional program.

14.3 Class size, however, is dependent upon District resources, the educational needs of
pupils, and the enrollment trends of the District. The parties acknowledge that retention
of District flexibility in assignment and class load is essential to preserve jobs and
District function.

14.4 In so far as practicable within the constraints of offering a variety of subjects to a limited
number of students in a small high school, the District shall attempt to distribute students
in classes of the same course title as equitably as possible.

14.5 The District and HTA agree with the changes in language for ARTICLE XIV to keep
funds provided by the State of California flexible to the degree allowed under state law.
The District and Unit agree to immediately meet and negotiate the language should it be
found to be non-compliant with state laws regulating GSA (Grade Span Adjustment).

14.5.1 Class sizes in Kindergarten-3rd grade may be above the GSA 24-1 ratio set by
the State of California with the understanding that the District will balance the
number of students per grade level as closely as possible.

14.5.2 The maximum class size for K-3 will be as follows:
Kindergarten 28:1
First Grade 28:1
Second Grade 28:1
Third Grade 28:1
Combination Classes (K-5), if necessary   27:1

14.5.3 For any combination class or should the ratio exceed the above, the site
administrator will distribute classroom instructional support among those
classes, if available.

14.5.4 Should the class size average reported on P-2 on the Class Size Penalty Report
exceed 28:1 in a single grade span class or 27:1 in a combination class that
teacher would receive a one-time payment of $1000.00 to be paid in the June
pay period.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 35

Page 117 of 245



ARTICLE XV: TEACHING CONDITIONS

15.1 Association and unit members shall have the right to provide input to the District on
instructional materials and suitable facilities in which to teach.

15.2 Any condition deemed to be unsafe by a unit member shall be reported in writing to his
or her immediate supervisor. Any action or response shall be provided by the supervisor
in writing.  A copy shall be submitted to the Superintendent.

15.3 If delay of corrective action would result in the health or safety of unit members and/or
students being jeopardized, the Administration shall take all necessary steps to remove
unit members and/or students from endangerment immediately.

15.4 If the unit member is not satisfied with the action or response, he or she may file a
grievance. Once a condition has been reported by the unit member, in writing, the
condition becomes the responsibility of the immediate supervisor.

15.5 In the event that the DISTRICT receives any information from recognized public entity
(ies)/agency (ies), that a student, his or her parents or guardian have a known, established
history of dangerous, violent and/or disturbed behavior, the building administrator will
forward such information to the unit member(s) of that student within 24 hours when
school is in session. The Unit member and site administrator shall discuss student needs
and plan accordingly.

15.6 Conditions may arise which are not covered by the District safety plan. The unit member
shall consult the local administrator for direction in such situations. In the absence of
administrative direction, the unit member shall take reasonable and prudent action.

15.7 Unit members shall not be required to work under unsafe conditions or to perform tasks
which endanger health, safety or well-being.

15.8 Each unit member shall be given an opportunity to participate in the District’s decision to
assign an aide to their classroom.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 36

Page 118 of 245



ARTICLE XVI: TRANSFER AND REASSIGNMENT

16.1 Definitions

16.1.1 A transfer is the movement of a unit member from one work location to
another work location, or from one program to another program such as
year-round education, restructured schools, or reconfiguration. The transfer
may include a change in grades or subject area as long as the move involves
changing worksites.

16.1.2 A reassignment is the movement of a unit member from one subject area to
another subject area, one grade level to another grade level, or from one
configuration to another such as team teacher, restructuring or other
reconfiguration within the same worksite.

16.2 Voluntary Transfer/Reassignment

17.2.1 A unit member may submit a request for transfer to the District at any time,
whether or not a vacancy exists. A unit member may also submit a request for
a transfer subsequent to the posting of a vacancy notice pursuant to the
posting procedure of this Article.

17.2.2 If two (2) or more unit members with state required credentials for the
position apply for a vacancy, the unit member with the greatest seniority shall
receive first consideration.

17.2.3 A transfer request shall not be denied arbitrarily, capriciously, or without basis
in fact.

17.2.4 If a unit member’s request for a voluntary transfer is denied, the unit member,
upon request, shall be granted a meeting with the administrator who denied
the request to discuss the reasons for the denial. Following the meeting, the
unit member may request and shall receive written reasons for the denial.

17.2.5 Unit members returning from leave shall be afforded all rights provided under
this section.

16.3 Involuntary Transfer/Reassignment

16.3.1 Involuntary transfer/reassignment shall be made only for the following
reasons:

16.3.1.1 A decrease in the number of pupils which requires a decrease in
the number of unit members;

16.3.1.2 Elimination of program(s) and/or funding;

16.3.1.3 Worksite closings; or
HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021

Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22
pg. 37

Page 119 of 245



16.3.2 The needs and efficient operations of the District.  The compatibility of the unit
member with the school program and the ability of a unit member to teach a
specific program shall be considered.

16.3.3 If a decrease in the number of pupils or the elimination of program(s) and/or
funding occurs, the District shall seek volunteers prior to making any
involuntary transfer/reassignment.  If an involuntary transfer/reassignment
becomes necessary, the unit member with the least seniority with the
appropriate credential shall be considered first for reassignment.

16.3.4 Unit members returning from leave shall be afforded all rights provided under
this section.

16.3.5 Unit members who are transferred/reassigned during the work year shall be
allowed five (5) days of paid release time for preparation prior to the effective
date of the transfer/reassignment.  The District shall provide assistance in
moving a unit member’s material whenever a unit member is
transferred/reassigned.

16.3.6 If the Unit member is moved from one classroom to another, the unit member
will be given $150 a day for a maximum of $300 to complete the move as
follows:

16.3.6.1 The District will schedule District custodial staff and equipment to
assist in the movement.

16.3.6.2 Scheduled assistance will happen between the year end dismissal
of students and the beginning of Summer School or at another time
upon mutual agreement prior to the beginning of school.
Exceptions may occur due to summer school classroom usage, or
construction.

16.3.6.3 Unit member will submit a time sheet by June 30th of the fiscal
year of classroom movement.

16.3.7 These clauses shall not affect itinerant teachers who may have to move rooms
throughout the day when the normal and usual teaching assignments dictate
such movement.

16.4 Notification of Assignment

16.4.1 Each unit member shall be given written notice not later than the Third Friday
in May for next year’s assignment. Such notice shall specify the grade level,
subject/position to which the unit member will be assigned along with the
room or rooms assigned as a teaching station for that unit member. This clause
does not affect itinerate teachers who may change classrooms for subject
matter or whose classroom instruction is held in multiple locations on a
campus or in the district. In addition, such notice shall explain the nature of

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 38

Page 120 of 245



special problems, which may be experienced by pupils assigned to the unit
member, if known. The Unit agrees that service of such notice may be given
either by email or personal service by the conclusion of the contract day on the
third Friday of May. The unit and district understands that a unit member may
be temporarily assigned a classroom or teaching station when construction
occurs. In these cases, it is permissible to delay the actual teaching assignment
or location until construction can be complete for that classroom or teaching
station.

16.4.1.1 Assignment Limitations

16.4.1.1.1 Unit members shall be assigned only to positions for
which they hold a valid California credential, and for
which they are qualified.

16.4.1.1.2 At a unit member’s sole discretion, the unit member
may agree to an assignment outside the unit member’s
credential authorization(s), providing that the District
shall secure all the necessary waivers, emergency
credentials, and District Committee on Assignments
approval.

16.4.1.1.3 At the end of a school year, the unit member, at her/his
sole discretion, may withdraw from the voluntary
assignment referred to in Section 16.2 above.
Subsequently, the unit member shall be assigned in
accordance with Section 16.4.1.1.1 above.

16.5 Vacancies

16.5.1 A vacancy is any position that does not have a unit member assigned to it.
This includes any vacated, promotional, or newly created position, including
positions created by reconfiguration or restructuring and any supplemental
instructional programs offered by the District.

16.5.2 Upon knowledge of vacancies, the District shall deliver to the Association and
post in all work sites a list of all vacancies which occur during the work year
and for the following work year.  The list shall contain the following:

16.5.2.1 A closing date which is at least ten (10) working days following
the posting date.

16.5.2.2 A job description.

16.5.2.3 Credentials and qualifications necessary to meet the requirements
of the position.

16.5.3 No assignment to fill the vacancy shall be made until after the closing date.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 39

Page 121 of 245



16.5.4 The District shall notify unit members by mail of any posted
openings which may arise during the summer recess, intersession, or a
period of leave.

16.5.5 The District shall, upon request of the unit member, deliver in
writing, the reasons for the unit member not receiving the vacancy.

16.5.6 No outside applicant shall be selected to fill a vacancy if there is a
qualified unit member applicant.

16.6 Seniority

16.6.1 Seniority is defined as the unit member’s initial date of service in the
bargaining unit.

16.6.1.1 Unit members with the same initial date of service shall have
their seniority number determined by  the following criteria:

16.6.1.1.2 Credentials and experience to teach or serve in a particular
program or provide a particular service of need by the
District (e.g., bilingual, special education, etc.)

16.6.1.1.3 Years of experience previous to current employment as a
full-time credentialed teacher in a probationary/permanent
K-12 teaching situation in a public school

16.6.1.1.4 Credentials that permit supplementary authorization

16.6.1.1.5 Number of teaching and/or specialist service credentials

16.6.1.1.6 Earned degrees beyond the B.A. or B.S. level (e.g., masters,
doctorate)

16.6.1.1.7 Multiple language skills relevant to District need (e.g.,
Spanish)

16.6.1.1.8 Preliminary v. Clear/Life credentials

16.6.1.1.9 National Board Certification

16.6.1.1.10Application of Criteria as follows:

16.6.1.1.10.1

● Credentials and experience to teach or serve in a
particular program or provide a particular service of need
by the District (e.g., bilingual, special education, etc.)
Rating: +1 per credential, +1 per year of experience

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 40

Page 122 of 245



● Years of experience previous to current employment as a
full-time credentialed teacher in a
probationary/permanent K-12 teaching situation in a
public school Rating: +1 per year

● Credentials that permit supplementary authorizations
Rating: +1 per supplementary authorization

● Number of teaching and/or specialist service credentials
Rating: +1 per credential

● Earned degrees beyond the B.A. or B.S. level (e.g.,
masters, doctorate) Rating: +1 per degree

● Multiple language skills relevant to District need (e.g.
Spanish) Rating +1 for Spanish

● Preliminary v. Clear/Life credentials Rating: +1 per
preliminary +2 per Clear/Life Credential

● National Board Certification Rating: +1 per certificate

16.6.1.1.11Tie-Breaking Procedure: In the event that common day hires
have equal qualifications based on application of the above
criteria, the District will then break ties by utilizing a lottery.

16.6.1.2 If a unit member is assigned by the District to a non-bargaining
unit position, that unit member does accrue seniority for the
purposes of this Article while working on such an assignment.

16.6.1.3 A unit member on a District-approved leave of absence shall
continue to earn seniority while on leave.

16.6.1.4 A unit member’s seniority shall accrue during layoff.

16.6.2 The provisions of Education Code Sections 44256, 44258.5 and 46300,
44258.1, 44258.2, 44258.7 and by reference Section 44258.9, as they relate
to bargaining unit members, are incorporated into this section by the
District and the Association as though fully set forth.  In furtherance of this
provision:

16.6.2.1 Members of the bargaining unit shall be assigned or reassigned
to classes consistent with their credentials and major and/or
minor subjects of study except as may be hereinafter provided.
Where such exceptions are permitted, they shall occur only by
mutual agreement among the bargaining unit members
affected, the Association, and the District.

16.6.2.1.1 A bargaining unit member who qualifies under the
provisions of Education Code Section 44256(b) to
teach departmentalized classes or groups of pupils
below grade nine (9), and who applies for
authorization from the District, shall not be denied
such authorization.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 41

Page 123 of 245



16.6.2.1.2 A bargaining unit member who qualifies under the
provisions of Education Code Section 44258.2 to
teach classes in grades five (5) to eight (8),
inclusive, in a middle school and who applies for
authorization from the District, shall not be denied
such authorization.

16.6.2.1.3 A bargaining unit member who qualifies under the
provisions of Education Code Section 44258.5(a) to
teach any single subject classes and who applies for
authorization from the District shall not be denied
such authorization.

16.6.2.1.4 A bargaining unit member who qualifies under the
provisions of Education Code Section 44258.7(b) to
coach competitive sports for which pupils receive
physical education credit and who applies for
authorization from the District, shall not be denied
such authorization.

16.6.3 Bargaining unit members shall be held harmless from the effects of any
misassignment, whether voluntary or not, in any matter including, but not
limited to, evaluation, transfer, salary, including extra duty salary,
discipline, and layoff.

16.6.4 Any bargaining unit member who may have been inadvertently
misassigned shall be provided with a notice of possible misassignment
addressed to the County Superintendent. Such notice shall be signed by the
bargaining unit member and transmitted forthwith by the District to the
County Superintendent. A time-dated copy of this notice shall be provided
to the bargaining unit member and the Association.

16.6.5 All reports, notifications, certifications, or verifications whose submission
is required by Education Code Sections 44256, 44258.5 and 46300,
44258.1, 44258.2, 44258.7, and 44258.9 from the District to the County
Superintendent or from the District to any other agency shall be provided to
the Association.

16.7 School/Site Reconstitution

16.7.1 Unit members who are to be involuntarily transferred from a reconstituted
school/site shall be accorded the same rights as unit members leaving a
closed school.

16.7.1.1 The “first priority” to fill vacancies given to reconstituted and
closed      school unit members shall mean that such unit members
shall be placed in vacancies prior to placing voluntary transfers,

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 42

Page 124 of 245



new hires, and/or returning temporary and leave of absence unit
members into vacancies.

16.7.1.2 Unit members involuntarily transferred from a reconstituted school
site shall be given five (5) days of release time or paid time at unit
members’ pro-rata daily rate of pay for the purposes of moving to
their new assignment.  In addition, the District shall provide
packing and moving assistance of unit members’ materials to the
new assignment location.

16.8 Dual Immersion Program

16.8.1 The District agrees to follow the protocol as detailed in this article as it
relates to the implementation of the Dual Immersion Program.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 43

Page 125 of 245



ARTICLE XVII: EVALUATIONS

17.1 Definitions

17.1.1 “Job performance deficiencies” means in 3 or more elements in any two (2)
CSTP standards may qualify as an unsatisfactory rating.

17.2 General Provisions

17.2.1 A fundamental premise for a successful evaluation program includes the
necessity for honest and open communication between and among the
evaluator and the evaluatee.

17.2.2 This process is intended to evaluate and assess the performance of certificated
employees in accordance with the requirements set forth at Education Code
section 44660 et.seq. The objective is to assist the certificated employee to
establish, maintain, and improve the learning environment within the scope of
the unit members’ responsibility.

17.2.3      Evaluations shall be based in part on District goals, classroom objectives, and
the unit member’s professional growth plan.  Mutual agreement on these
factors between the evaluator and the evaluatee is highly desirable.

17.2.4      The written evaluation shall be narrative in nature and shall be based on the
requirements of law and the identified needs of the unit member being
evaluated.  The evaluator shall not base any evaluation of classroom
performance upon any information which is not within the scope of the unit
member’s responsibility.

17.2.5     Formal classroom observations shall be no fewer than 20 minutes in duration
for district schools, except by mutual consent of the evaluator and evaluatee,
and no longer than 60 minutes.

17.2.6     The evaluation process will be supported by regular and on-going instructional
coaching through focused inservice, District seminars, peer coaching,
collaborative support, and facilitation of the unit member’s growth plan as
established during the annual conference. (Appendix D-1)

17.2.7      No unit member shall be held accountable for any aspect of the educational
program over which the member has no authority.

17.2.8      Only alleged violations of procedure for evaluation are grievable.

17.2.9   Upon the request of the member and by agreement of the site administrator, the
District shall reschedule the evaluation to the following year when the unit
member serves on a committee in a lead role such as WASC, or BTSA. This also
includes extended service on CDE or other sponsored committees.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 44

Page 126 of 245



17.3 Frequency of Evaluation

17.3.1 Probationary/Temporary Unit Members:

17.3.1.1 All temporary/probationary employees shall be formally observed
two times before February 15 of the first and second year of
probation.

17.3.1.2 Every probationary and/or temporary member shall be formally
evaluated by their immediate supervisor each year by March 1
using the form in Appendix D1.

17.3.2 Permanent Employees:

17.3.2.1 Every tenured employee shall be evaluated every other year
pursuant to Education Code 44664 (a) (1) (2).

17.3.2.2 Employees with ten (10) or more years of service to Hamilton
Unified School District may be evaluated at least once during
every five (5) years.

17.3.2.3 All evaluations for permanent certificated employees shall be
completed, reviewed, and signed by the unit member and
administrator prior to May 1 of each year.

17.3.2.4 If a unit member is moved to a new program or grade level the
district may provide coaching and or additional services to support
quality teaching and content development to the unit member.

17.4 Alternative Evaluation Procedure

17.4.1 The District and the Association share the belief that offering alternatives to the
traditional evaluation system will improve excellence in instruction by promoting
the professional growth of experienced teachers.

17.4.1.1 Participants

17.4.1.1.1 The following certificated personnel will be eligible to
participate in an alternate evaluation system:

a) All permanent certificated employees who have worked for the
District six consecutive years and who have received two
satisfactory evaluations (excluding probationary evaluations)
and with agreement by the site administrator may participate in
the alternative evaluation process.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 45

Page 127 of 245



b) Participation will be voluntary by the permanent certificated
unit member with the approval of the site administrator.

c) There will be no limit on the number of participants at each
site.

d) The alternative evaluation option, if mutually agreed upon
between the evaluatee and the site administrator, shall take the
place of the traditional evaluation methods as outlined in
Article 17 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

17.4.1.1.2 (a) Teachers whose participation in the alternative
evaluation program is judged to detract from the
teacher’s instructional and professional
performance may be returned, during the
following evaluation period to the traditional
evaluation process, whereby the unit member
will not be evaluated that next year, unless they
have received an unsatisfactory evaluation under
the alternative evaluation process, as outlined in
Article 17 of the Collective Bargaining
Agreement between the District and HTA. The
administrator must specify to the affected
teacher, in writing, the reasons for the evaluation
reassignment.

17.4.1.1.3 (b) A unit member may request to have the
alternative evaluation process be extended
beyond the current evaluation year when the unit
member can demonstrate good cause for that
extension. The extension request must be
approved by the site administrator and the
Superintendent.

17.4.2 Process

17.4.2.1 Goal Setting

a. The certificated employee will develop goals as the foundation for
his/her alternative evaluation option. During the goal-setting
conference, the site administrator and the certificated employee
will:

i. Agree on the goals and the selection of the alternative
evaluation option.

ii. Develop timelines for completion.
iii. Review how the alternative evaluation option will

enhance student learning.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 46

Page 128 of 245



b. Alternative Evaluation Options

i. The certificated employee should select alternative evaluation
options that are in close alignment with his/her annual goals.
The district-wide approved alternative options are described as
follows:

I.Individual Growth Activities

Individual growth activities are designed to improve the
employee’s performance through the use of selected
professional growth activities combined with self-analysis
techniques. Examples of activities in this category are:

● Video-taping a classroom lesson (self-analysis)
● Portfolio assessments (training, development and
use)
● Self-evaluation (formative and summative)
● Teacher-created projects

II. Educational Team Growth Activities

These activities are designed to reduce the isolation of the
classroom teacher. The District and the Association agree that
an increased level of collaboration contributes to the
professional growth of each employee. Examples of
Educational Team Growth Activities are:

● Cognitive coaching
● Video-taped lessons (with peer/administrator

reviewers)
● Inter/infra disciplinary grade level teams
● Collaborative teaching and presentations to staff
● Teacher team created projects

III. Educational Research

The teacher may outline an instructional strategy or learning
theory to be researched and implemented in the classroom. The
design of the research and method of evaluation shall be
included in the project. This may be completed in conjunction
with graduate coursework or a District curriculum project.

17.4.3 Collaboration

17.4.3.1     The teacher and the site administrator will work together in the
selection of the options and the development of the specific activities.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 47

Page 129 of 245



17.4.3.2     All participants in the alternative evaluation option will be encouraged
to share the progress and results of their alternative individual or
educational team activities with other colleagues. The time and format
for this collaboration will be developed at each individual site in
collaboration with the site administrator.

17.4.4 Timelines

17.4.4.1     The certificated employee will submit written alternative evaluation
plan/goals no later than October 15 of each school year (this meets the
Stull Bill requirements).

17.4.5 Final Report

17.4.5.1     The teacher and administrator agree upon a timeline of monitoring and
progress of the selected teacher activities. The teacher must schedule
an appointment with the administrator on or before April 15 of each
year for their final review of their project. The teacher shall provide at
the final conference a written report summarizing the project, its
outcomes and areas of strength and areas of critical follow up for that
teacher to achieve before the next evaluation season (the following two
years). The written plan will be presented to the administrator in a
final evaluation conference on or before April 15. The administrator
may respond in writing providing additional guidance before May 1,
annually, or sign and accept the project and conclude the alternative
evaluation process for that unit member. It shall be the responsibility
of the site administrator to include the final report in the employee’s
personnel file at the District office.

17.5 Evaluation Forms

17.5.1        The documents which are in Appendix D shall be the forms used for this
process.

● D1: Certificated Probationary Evaluation Form
● D2: Certificated Permanent Evaluation Form

17.6 Evaluation Conferences

17.6.1        Prior to the start of school, the personnel office shall notify the site principals
in writing which unit members shall be evaluated that school year.

17.6.2        During the first two weeks of school each year a copy of either the
Certificated Probationary Form or Certificated Permanent Evaluation Form
shall be sent to each member who will be observed and evaluated that year.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 48

Page 130 of 245



17.6.3        Administrators shall schedule a pre-evaluation conference to take place prior
to October 15 of the school year. At this conference, evaluation forms will be
reviewed and a professional growth plan will be discussed and developed.

17.6.4        Observation dates shall be settled between the administrator and the
certificated member.  Sufficient time between observations for all teachers
shall be necessary.

17.6.4.1    No formal observation of a bargaining unit member shall be
conducted in the two weeks after the initial conference.

17.6.5        A post observation shall be held within a reasonable time period, (usually
within 10 days of the observation, barring unforeseen circumstances beyond
the control of the unit member or the administrator).

17.6.5.1 A mid-point conference may be requested by either administration
or unit member.

17.6.5.2 A draft summary of the evaluation (Appendix D) will be prepared
and given to the unit member ten (10) school days prior to the
summative conference.

17.6.5.3 The final Evaluation of Teaching Performance will be prepared and
discussed at a summative conference as follows:

17.7 Permanent Certificated Employee:

17.7.1 By May 1, the evaluator shall have met with each evaluated permanent unit
member in a private conference, at which time evaluation of the unit
member’s work shall have been discussed and, if necessary, specific
suggestions for improvement made.

17.8 Probationary/Temporary Unit Members:

17.8.1 By March 1, the evaluator shall have met with each evaluated Probationary/
Temporary unit member in a private conference, at which time evaluation of
the unit member’s work shall have been discussed and, if necessary, specific
suggestions for improvement made.

17.9 Probationary Non-Reelection

17.9.1 Prior to March 1, evaluators shall typically meet in a private conference with
any temporary/probationary unit member.

17.10 Three (3) copies of the summative evaluation are to be distributed as follows:

● One (1) copy to employee during the evaluation conference.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 49

Page 131 of 245



● One (1) copy may be retained by Superintendent/Principal/Evaluator.
● One (1) original placed in the personnel file of the evaluatee.

17.11 The unit member shall have the right to initiate a written response to the final Evaluation
of Teaching Performance form. Such response shall become a part of the final evaluation.

17.12 Procedures Applicable to Employees Receiving an Unsatisfactory Evaluation

17.12.1 Any certificated unit member who receives an unsatisfactory evaluation shall,
upon the member’s request, be entitled to at least one (1) subsequent observation,
conference and written evaluation.  Subsequent observations and evaluations
shall be mutually scheduled in the same year if possible.  If insufficient time
remains, then the subsequent observation conference and written evaluation shall
be scheduled for the next year.

17.12.2 The evaluator of the unit member shall assist the unit member in correcting any
cited deficiencies. Assistance shall include such items as specific
recommendations for improvement on the evaluation form D-4, direct assistance
in implementing such recommendations, and may include released time (as
determined by Superintendent) for the unit member to visit and observe effective
teachers in similar classes within the District or in other schools.  Resources for
the employee include, but are not limited to:

1. Peer helpers or colleagues
2. BTSA
3. Curriculum specialists
4. Mentor and/or
5. Teacher on Assignment

17.12.3 A permanent certificated employee who does not correct cited deficiencies, and
who continues to be rated unsatisfactory by the District, shall be assigned to the
PAR program as defined in ARTICLE XXIII.  The permanent employee then
may be subject to termination by the District for unsatisfactory performance after
completion of the PAR process.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 50

Page 132 of 245



ARTICLE VXIII: DISCIPLINE

18.1 Employee discipline shall be addressed pursuant to Government Code Section 3543.2(b),
Education Code Section 44932, and Education Code Section 44660.

18.2 Permanent certificated employees shall be subject to disciplinary action only for just cause
and with due process.

18.3 Progressive Discipline

18.3.1 The progressive discipline procedures will be applied except where the serious
nature of the offense may require the District to directly impose a written warning,
written reprimand, or suspension without pay. Whether or not the serious nature of
the offense required bypassing progressive discipline steps may be submitted to
arbitration under Article 10 (Grievance Procedure) of the Agreement. Progressive
discipline shall include any and all forms of discipline in an incremental manner,
including, but not limited to dismissal.

18.4 An employee shall not be disciplined without prior notice and an opportunity for a
conference prior to conclusion of any investigation.

18.5 Notice to employee must be fair and adequate: An employee, against whom disciplinary
action is taken, shall be provided the following in writing, either in person or by
certified/registered mail to the employee’s last known address.

18.5.1 Statement of Charges: A statement of the specific charges against the employee
shall be written in ordinary and concise language and shall include the cause and
the specific acts and omissions on which the disciplinary action is based.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 51

Page 133 of 245



ARTICLE XIX: STAFF DEVELOPMENT DAYS

19.1 Staff Development Days

19.1.1 Staff development day components shall be based on the in-service needs of
unit members and on the instructional program.

19.1.2 Unit members shall be scheduled for four (4) days per year for the purpose of
in-service training.

19.1.3 Attendance is mandatory. Make up time must be commensurate with the missed
in-service activity and must be approved by the site administrator.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 52

Page 134 of 245



ARTICLE XX: REDUCED WORK YEAR EMPLOYMENT STATUS

19.1 Certificated unit personnel desiring to participate in a part-time employment status may
do so under the following conditions.

19.1.1 Participation is on a voluntary basis and subject to Board approval.

19.1.2 Eligibility for this reduced work-year program is met only if unit member has
been employed full time in a position requiring certification for at least ten
(10) years, of which the immediately preceding five (5) years have been
full-time employment in the Hamilton Unified School District, Hamilton
Union High School District, or Hamilton Union Elementary School District.

19.1.3 The unit member must have reached the age of fifty-five (55).

19.1.4 Reduced workload status will be based on a full school work year as defined
in this contract; and the minimum equivalent days worked must be equal to
one-half (½) the number of days in a regular work year.

19.1.5 A unit member accepted into this program shall perform instructional services
at times mutually agreed upon and set forth in a written contract that specifies
services.

19.1.6 These activities and times, by definition, shall be in the best interests of the
District as determined by the District.

19.1.7 A unit member will be accepted into and allowed to continue in the reduced
work program on a year-to-year basis; but in no event shall period exceed ten
(10) years.

19.1.8 During the contract period, the unit member must submit contributions to the
STRS (State Teachers’ Retirement System) based on the amount the unit
member would have earned if he/she were employed on a full-time basis.

19.1.9 Medical (health, dental and vision) benefits shall remain in effect as if the unit
member were a regular full-time employee of the District during the contract
period pursuant to Article XXII, Employee Benefits, Item 22.1.3.

19.1.10 A unit member electing to participate in this program may return to a regular
full-time certificated position in the District only by mutual consent of the
member and District.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 53

Page 135 of 245



Article XXI: Salary Regulations

20.1.1 General

20.1.2 All current teachers shall be placed on the Teacher Salary Schedule. New
teachers shall be placed on the salary schedule in accordance with their
educational training and previous experience.

20.1.3 Teachers who serve less than the required annual number of working days or
hours for regular full-time teaching positions shall receive salary in the ratio
that the number of hours actually served bears to the total number of annual
working days or hours for full-time position.

20.1.4 Salary warrants for regular teachers shall normally be issued on the last
working day of the month. Salary warrants for services in addition to the
teacher’s regular assignment shall be made not later than the fifteenth day of
the payroll period in which the service was performed.

20.2 Initial Step Placement and Step Movement

20.2.1 Teachers shall be given up to ten (10) years maximum credit at the time of
initial placement on the salary schedule. Assignment of the number of years
awarded based on the discretion of the District.  Current Certificated
employees this applies to will receive service credit (up to year 10) and be
paid retroactively to 7/1/2021 for the 2021-22 school year only for employees
hired after 7/1/2019.

20.2.2 Advancement on the salary schedule shall be at the rate of one step for each
year of teaching experience. A teacher must be employed for at least 75
percent of a school year before he/she shall be given credit for the years’
experience for salary advancement purposes.

20.3 Horizontal Column Movement

20.3.1 Course credit for salary placement and movement shall be given only for post
graduate, upper division, continuing education, or graduate course work taken
at four-year colleges, universities, or graduate schools which are accredited by
a regional accrediting commission, except under a waiver, as provided for in
Item 21.3.5. See 21.3.6 for more detail on acceptable course work.

20.3.2 Semester hours (units), as defined by the particular accredited college or
university, will be acceptable for placement on the salary schedule. Quarter
hours (units) shall be converted to semester hours (units) by multiplying the
total of such hours (units) by two-thirds.

20.3.3 Teachers requesting reclassification from one class (column) to another must
file such request with the Superintendent not later than June 1 of each year.
Supporting records or transcripts verifying post graduate units of study that
HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021

Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22
pg. 54

Page 136 of 245



are to apply toward column movement must be filed with the Superintendent
not later than September 15. If the teacher is unable to submit supporting
records or transcripts verifying post graduate units of study that are to apply
toward column movement, official notes in the form of a grade card or letter
from the college or institution shall be submitted. Such temporary
verifications, which indicate satisfactory completion of the course(s), shall be
verified by transcripts within three (3) months of the month of the date of the
temporary certificate.

20.3.4 The burden of proof of training, experience, possession of credential, and
other required documents shall lie with the teacher, both for initial placement
and for subsequent column movement. Any error in classification shall be
corrected as soon as the error is verified.

20.3.5 If a teacher believes that participation in a lower division course will be of
direct benefit to the district and that a similar benefit is not available at an
upper division or graduate course level, such teacher may petition the District
for a waiver. Such waiver, if granted, allows the units so approved to be
counted for advancement on the salary schedule. Prior to the date of
enrollment in a lower division course, the teacher must make formal
application and receive pre-approval from the Superintendent.

21.3.6 Definition of Course work

21.3.6.1 Upper division, continuing education, or graduate courses that shall
be credited:

● A subject directly related to the teaching assignment.
● A course recommended and/or approved by the site administrator

for the improvement of instruction (may be lower division, with
prior District approval)

● A subject directly related to an advanced degree in professional
education or a teaching assignment.

● A subject required by the California credential, evaluation or
renewal if the required course is a new requirement not in current
law.

21.3.6.2 Lower division or graduate courses that shall be credited:

● Courses required by a California credential, evaluation or renewal.
● Courses required by an advanced degree related to the teaching

assignment.
● A course, not previously taken, that is offered by a teacher training

institution and which is directly related to the teaching assignment.
● Courses required as a foundation for the acquiring of an additional

teaching assignment major or minor.  Such courses will be credited

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 55

Page 137 of 245



when the full major or minor requirement has been met and the
teacher has been assigned to the subject area.

20.4 Statement of Units

20.4.1 The District shall provide each teacher by the first day of October, a statement
of the number of units that the District has on file for them. This statement
shall also include the total number of days of sick leave that have
accumulated.

20.5 Annual Advancement

20.5.1 Each unit member shall advance in a class, one (1) step per year, for each year
of experience until additional steps cease to exist.

20.5.2 The Unit and the District agree to meet and confer regarding any forms or
required process for pre-approval of upper division, graduate, or continuing
education units. Until such time as a new form and process is agreed upon,
HTA and the District agree that unit members will request, of the
superintendent pre-approval of the coursework. The request will include a
brief description of the course and the benefits to the current teaching
assignment/school/ and their professional development.

20.5.3 Starting with the 2022-2023 school year, years of credit per column will be
extended as follows:

● Column I: increase from 4 to 8 years 
● Column II: increase from 8 to 12 years 
● Column III: increase from 12 to 15 years
● Column IV:

o Step 28-31: No Change
o Step 32-35: Regular step increase Step 32 with next increase at

Step 36.
o Step 36: 1%

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 56

Page 138 of 245



STATUS Article XXII: Employment Benefits

21.1 Active Employees

21.1.1 Each eligible employee shall be entitled to receive health insurance benefits as
outlined in Appendix B.

Health benefits are deemed to be a portion of the compensation provided by the
District for service and, as such, each eligible unit member shall be entitled to
twelve (12) months of benefits coverage for one (1) years’ service to the
District as defined in Article XII Work Hours/Work Year of this agreement.

21.2 Eligibility for health insurance

21.2.1 Fulltime employees (6/6 time or 36.25 hours per week): 100% of the district
cap.2

Part-time employees (5/6 time or 29.0 hours – 36 hours per week): 100% of the
district cap.

Part-time employees (3/6 time and 4/6 time or 18 hours – 28.9 hours per
week):  50% of the district cap.

Part-time employees (2/6 time or less or less than 18 hours per week): May
participate at his/her own expense.

21.3 Eligibility for life insurance

21.3.1 The District shall provide life insurance to all certificated employees as
outlined in Appendix B.

21.4 The District will not change the level of existing health benefit coverage except through
the negotiations process.

21.5 Individual unit members receiving benefits currently in excess of that for which they are
now contractually eligible shall continue to receive health benefit coverage at their
current level.

21.6 In Lieu Compensation

21.6.1 Any savings from the health plan selection as allowed by the health care
administrator below the District’s contribution to the benefit plan will be
remitted to the employee in a prorated monthly health stipend.

22.6.2 Unit members who work less than fulltime and are eligible for health
insurance benefits pursuant to Article XXII, Section 22.2, may elect

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 57

Page 139 of 245



compensation in lieu of medical benefits once per year during the Open
Enrollment period.

21.6.2 Unit members previously electing ‘in-lieu of benefits’ may surrender ‘in-lieu
of benefits’ and claim the standard medical benefits package during the Open
Enrollment period each year or following the loss of their existing medical
coverage through a spouse or domestic partner.

21.6.3 Unit members selecting compensation in lieu of medical benefits will provide
The District with documentation or an affidavit showing they are fully insured
for medical benefits through a spouse’s or domestic partner’s employment.

21.6.4 Unit members electing compensation in lieu of medical benefits will receive
The District’s contribution per year paid in a prorated stipend.

21.6.5 Unit members electing compensation in lieu of medical benefits may enroll in
the Dental Insurance Program. The Dental Insurance premium will be
deducted from the compensation in lieu of benefits.

21.6.6 Unit members electing compensation in lieu of benefits may enroll in the
District Vision Plan. The Vision Plan’s premium will be deducted from the
compensation in lieu of benefits.

21.6.7 Spouse or domestic partners who are also full time District employees are not
eligible for in lieu of benefits.

21.6.8 This in lieu of provision shall be effective to the extent it comports with
obligations and provisions of the CVT Health Benefit Program.

21.6.9 This in lieu of benefits option will cease if the District selects a new medical
benefits carrier requiring universal participation, or if the state or federal law
requires universal participation of all fulltime employees.

21.7 Retired Employees

21.7.1 For a full-time employee who retires, the District agrees to provide health,
vision and dental benefits until the retired employee reaches the age of
sixty-five (65).

22.7.2 Medical benefits provided shall be the same as those which are provided to an
active certificated employee in the month that the benefit is received, subject
to the following conditions.

21.7.1.1 The unit member must have served at least 15 (fifteen) years in
the Hamilton Unified School District as an employee;

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 58

Page 140 of 245



21.7.1.2 The unit member must have reached a minimum age of fifty-five
(55) before retirement;

21.7.3 A retiree’s dependents will be added at District cost, up to the District cap, to
retiree’s coverage so long as retiree is eligible.

21.7.4 Coverage will cease at death of the employee before age sixty-five (65) except
that dependent coverage will continue until the end of the month in which the
retiree would have reached the age of sixty-five (65).

21.7.5 An employee who has been granted retirement benefits pursuant to this
subsection and who subsequently obtains employment outside the District
with an employer who provides fully paid health insurance, shall be required
to terminate the health insurance provided by the District.

21.7.6 Said employee shall relinquish any and all rights to the benefits provided
under this sub-section, irrespective of whether said employee continues to
retain employment with an employer providing insurance benefits. Thus, a
retired employee shall in no event, nor under any circumstances, ever be
entitled to reclaim any of the benefits provided for under this Agreement.

21.7.7 In Lieu Compensation for Retired Employees

21.7.7.1 Retired employees who are eligible for health insurance benefits
pursuant to Article XXII Section 22.7.2 may elect compensation
in lieu of medical benefits at a rate of $9,500 as allowed by law or
STRS. This provision will be retroactive upon approval.
Retroactive means that the cash in lieu begins July 1, 2015 for
currently retired employees.

21.7.7.2 Retired employees who elect in lieu compensation may enroll in
the District Vision or Dental Plans. Any premium costs will be
deducted from the employee’s prorated stipend.

21.7.7.3 Once selected, retirees may not return to district paid medical
benefits.

21.8 COBRA

21.8.3 Cobra will be applied pursuant to Federal law (COBRA).

21.9 Payroll Deduction

21.9.3 Current Employees
21.9.3.1 Should the required annual premiums for the employee selected

benefit plan as defined in Appendix B exceeded the District’s
HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021

Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22
pg. 59

Page 141 of 245



required annual contribution set forth in Appendix B, the shortfall
shall be converted to eleven equal payments. The eleven equal
payments will be deducted from the employee’s pay over eleven
months.

21.9.4 Retired Employees

21.9.4.1 Should the required annual premiums for the retired employee
benefit plan selected (Appendix B) exceed the District’s required
annual contribution set forth in Appendix B, the shortfall shall be
converted to a monthly sum. The retired employee shall remit
payment monthly to the District. Failure to do so shall result in
cancellation of insurance coverage for non-payment of premiums.

22.10 Golden Handshake

22.10.1 If authorized by statute, the District may make the statutory Golden
Handshake available to eligible credentialed bargaining unit members who
apply. Any such application must, of necessity, meet the statutory
requirements. An employee who wishes to receive the Golden Handshake
shall make application no later than December 31 of the affected school year
for retirement at the end of the school year. The employee may “condition”
his/her retirement on receipt of the Golden Handshake.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 60

Page 142 of 245



ARTICLE XXIII: PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW

23.1 General

23.1.1 The Hamilton Teachers Association and the Hamilton Unified School District
strive to provide the highest possible quality of education. In order for
students to succeed in learning, all teachers should succeed in teaching. The
Association and the District believe that all teachers should focus on
continuous improvement in professional practice and that teachers having
difficulties can benefit from the assistance and review of colleagues.

23.1.2 This Program shall not deal with teachers’ employment issues which arise
from accusations of neglect of duty or misconduct which are distinct from
teachers’ evaluations in relationship to the California Standards for the
Teaching Profession and Article XVII: Certificated Employee Evaluations, of
this Contractual Agreement.

23.2 Purpose

23.2.1 The parties have cooperated in the design and implementation of this Peer
Assistance and Review Program (“Program” or “PAR”) to improve the quality
of instruction through opportunities for professional development and peer
assistance. Teachers referred to, or who volunteer in, this Program are viewed
as valuable professionals.

23.2.2 The Program allows exemplary teachers to assist certain permanent and
beginning teachers in the areas of subject matter knowledge, teaching
strategies and teaching methods.

23.2.3 The extent of the Program’s assistance and review depends on whether the
participating teacher is:

23.2.3.1 a participating teacher with an unsatisfactory evaluation in one (1)
or more of the domains of the California Standards for the
Teaching Profession (“CSTP”); or

23.2.3.2 a beginning teacher; or

23.2.3.3 a voluntary participating teacher.

23.2.4 The Program’s assistance shall be provided through Consulting Teachers, but
shall not involve the participation in, nor the conducting of, the annual
evaluation of unit members as set forth in Article XVII: Certificated
Employee Evaluations, of this Agreement and Education Code section 44660
et seq.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 61

Page 143 of 245



23.2.5 Program resources shall be utilized in the following order:

23.2.5.1 Participating Teachers with an unsatisfactory evaluation in one (1)
or more of the domains of the CSTP;

23.2.5.2 Beginning Teachers; and then

23.2.5.3 Voluntary Participating Teachers.

23.3 Definitions

23.3.1 “Classroom Teacher” or “Teacher.” Any unit member who is covered by
Article II:  Recognition, of this Agreement.

23.3.2 “Participating Teacher.” A classroom teacher who either volunteers for, or is
required by this Article to participate in, the Program. Such teacher shall be
an individual who meets one (1) of the following qualifications:

23.3.2.1 “Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation.” A unit
member with permanent status whose most recent performance
evaluation contained one (1) or more “Unsatisfactory” ratings in
the domains of the CSTP, as specifically designated by Article
XVII:  Certificated Employee Evaluations, of this Agreement.

23.3.2.2 “Beginning Teacher.” For purposes of this Article, a unit member
who is either (1) probationary; (2) employed pursuant to a full-year
temporary contract; or (3) any District teaching intern participating
in a program established according to Education Code Sections
44305 et seq. and 44325 et seq. Support to a Beginning Teacher
pursuant to this Program is to be closely coordinated with other
District programs for training and assistance to beginning teachers.

23.3.2.3 “Voluntary Participating Teacher.” A unit member with permanent
status who wishes to engage in a professional growth activity
pursuant to a Professional Growth Plan utilizing the assistance of a
Consulting Teacher.

23.3.3 “Consulting Teacher.” An exemplary teacher who meets the requirements of
Section 5 of this Article and who shall provide program assistance to the
Participating Teacher. The Consulting Teacher shall possess at least the
following minimum qualifications:

23.3.3.1 He/she shall be a credentialed classroom teacher with permanent
status;

23.3.3.2 He/she shall have possessed at least five (5) years of recent
experience in classroom instruction;

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 62

Page 144 of 245



23.3.3.3 He/she shall have demonstrated exemplary teaching ability, as
indicated by, among other things, effective communication skills,
subject-matter knowledge, knowledge of and commitment to
District curricular goals and standards and the California Standards
for the Teaching Profession, and mastery of a range of teaching
strategies necessary to meet the needs of the pupils in different
contexts;

23.3.3.4 He/she shall have demonstrated a continuing ability to work
cooperatively and effectively with other teachers and
administrators, shall have demonstrated effective leadership skills
and abilities, and shall have substantial experience working on
school or District committees; and

23.3.3.5 He/she shall have the ability to communicate effectively, both
orally and in writing.

23.3.4 “Principal” or “Evaluating Principal.” The certificated administrator
appointed by the District to evaluate a certificated teacher pursuant to
Education Code section 44600 et seq. and Article XVII: Certificated
Employee Evaluations, of this Agreement.

23.3.5 “Joint Teacher/Administrator Peer Review Panel.” That body which governs
and oversees the PAR Program, as described more fully in Section 4 of this
Article, and whose responsibilities include, but are not limited to,
administration of the Program, selection and oversight of Consulting
Teachers, and recommendations to the Governing Board regarding
Participants for inclusion in the program.

23.4 Joint Teacher/Administrator Peer Review Panel

23.4.1 General Provisions

23.4.1.1 The Joint Teacher/Administrator Peer Review Panel (“Panel” or
“Joint Panel”) shall consist of three (3) members.

a. Two (2) members shall be certificated classroom teachers
who are chosen to serve by the Association.

b. The third member shall be a District administrator chosen
by the District to serve on the Joint Panel.

c. The District and the Association shall individually
determine the method for selection, and the qualification to
serve, of its selected Panel member(s), as well as the
method for filling of Panel vacancies.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 63

Page 145 of 245



23.4.1.2 To promote continuity, appointees shall serve staggered three (3)
year terms.

23.4.1.3 The Joint Panel shall establish its own meeting schedule. To meet,
at least two-thirds of the members must be present, one (1) of
whom must be a District administrator. Such meetings shall take
place during the regular teacher workday, with a grant of release
time to panel members and, if necessary, Consulting Teachers and
Participating Teachers, or during non-school time.

23.4.1.4 The Joint Panel shall establish procedures and regulations
necessary to carry out the requirements of this Article, including
but not limited to a procedure for the selection of a Panel
Chairperson.

23.4.1.5 In addition to his/her regular salary, a Joint Panel member shall
receive an annual stipend of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000).

23.4.2 Duties and Responsibilities With Regard to Consulting Teachers

The primary responsibility of the Joint Panel shall be the selection and
oversight of the Consulting Teachers. In addition, the Joint Panel shall be
responsible for the following.

23.4.2.1 Establishment and administration of a procedure for application as
a Consulting Teacher in accordance with Section 5 of this Article.

23.4.2.2 Assigning the Consulting Teacher, and thereafter annually
evaluating the effectiveness of that teacher in his/her role as a
Consulting Teacher.

a. If so determined, the Joint Panel may remove a Consulting
Teacher from the Program.

b. Reasons for removal include, but are not limited to, the
specific needs of the Program or the inadequate performance
of Consulting Teacher.

23.4.2.3 The Joint Panel shall coordinate with the District to provide annual
training for the Joint Panel members, Consulting Teachers and,
where appropriate, Participating Teachers.

23.4.3 Duties with Regard to a Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory
Evaluation

23.4.3.1 The Joint Panel shall send written notification of required
participation in the Program to the Participating Teacher with an

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 64

Page 146 of 245



Unsatisfactory Evaluation, the Consulting Teacher and the site
Principal.

23.4.3.2 Thereafter, the Joint Panel shall review the final report prepared by
the Consulting Teacher regarding the progress in the PAR Program
of the Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation.

23.4.4 Annual Evaluation

23.4.4.1 By March 1 of each year, the Panel shall submit a written and oral
report to the Governing Board and the Association.

a. The report shall include an assessment of the Program’s
impact and success, including recommendations for
improvement of the PAR Program.

b. The annual assessment may include interviews of Program
Participants, Principals, and others as deemed appropriate.

c. The report shall include recommendations regarding
Participating Teachers with Unsatisfactory Evaluations.

23.5 Consulting Teachers

23.5.1 General Provisions

23.5.1.1 Each application to serve as a Consulting Teacher must be
supported by two (2) references from individuals with specific
knowledge of his/her qualifications, as follows.

a. A District administrator or immediate supervisor;
b. An Association representative; and/or
c. Another classroom teacher.

23.5.1.2 All applications and references shall be treated with
confidentiality. Applications and references shall be submitted
directly to the Joint Panel by the author of the Application for
Consideration as Consulting Teacher.

23.5.1.3 Consulting Teachers shall be selected by a majority vote of the
Joint Panel following classroom observations by the Joint Panel.
A Consulting Teacher cannot be a member of the Joint Panel.

23.5.1.4 The term of the Consulting Teacher shall be one (1) year with
annual renewal for up to three (3) years. A teacher may not serve
in the position for more than three (3) full terms, each one (1) year
in duration, or a maximum of three (3) years, provided other
acceptable candidates are available.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 65

Page 147 of 245



23.5.1.5 A Consulting Teacher serves on a part-time basis.

a. He/she shall have a regular full-time teaching assignment
but shall be provided with release time for each assigned
Participating Teacher.

b. In addition to his/her regular salary, a part-time Consulting
Teacher shall receive an annual stipend of Four Thousand
Dollars ($4,000), or whatever the current Mentor receives.

23.5.1.6 Duties and Responsibilities with Regard to Program
Participants

a. Consulting Teachers shall assist Participating Teachers by
demonstrating, observing, coaching, conferencing,
referring, or by other activities which, in his/her
professional judgment, will assist the Participating Teacher
in remedying the specific areas recommended for
improvement by the evaluating Principal.

b. The Consulting Teacher shall meet with the referred
Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation to
discuss the PAR Program, to develop a plan designed to
assist the Participating Teacher in complying with the
Professional Improvement Plan.

c. The plan must include performance goals for the
Participating Teacher. In addition, the Consulting Teacher
and Participating Teacher shall discuss and develop a
process for evaluating that teacher’s participation in the
Program.

d. The Consulting Teacher shall conduct multiple
observations of the Participating Teacher with an
Unsatisfactory Evaluation during classroom instruction,
and shall have both pre-observation and post-observation
conferences.

e. The Consulting Teacher shall monitor the progress of the
Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation
and shall provide periodic written reports to the teacher for
discussion and review.

1) A “draft” copy of the Consulting Teacher’s report
shall be submitted to, and discussed with, the
Participating Teacher with an Unsatisfactory
Evaluation who shall then have ten (10) days to
submit written comments to the Consulting Teacher

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 66

Page 148 of 245



before the report is finalized and presented to the
Participating Teacher for signature. The
participating Teacher’s signing of the report does
not necessarily mean agreement, but rather than
he/she has received a copy of the report.

2) The Consulting Teacher shall promptly submit a
final report to the Joint Panel. The Participating
Teacher with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation shall
have the right to submit a written response, within
twenty (20) days of the receipt of the “draft” report,
and have it attached to the final report.

23.6 Program Participation

23.6.1 By participating Teachers with an Unsatisfactory Evaluation

23.6.1.1 Any such teacher must participate in the Program.

23.6.1.2 Such teacher will be assigned a Consulting Teacher. A
Participating Teacher shall have the right of reconsideration should
he/she be dissatisfied with the Consulting Teacher assigned
him/her. In such case, the Participating Teacher shall inform the
Peer Review Panel, in writing, of the bases for his concerns. Upon
such notification and determination of validity, the Panel shall
assign another staff member to assume Consulting Teacher duties
to that teacher. The granting of requests for reconsideration shall
not be unreasonably denied by the District.

23.6.1.3 The Consulting Teacher’s assistance and review shall focus on the
specific areas recommended for improvement by the Participating
Teacher’s evaluator in the Professional Improvement Plan (PIP).

a. These recommendations shall be written, aligned with the
student learning, clearly stated, and consistent with
Education Code section 44662. These recommendations
shall be considered the performance goals required by
Education Code sections 44664(a) and 44500(b) (2).

b. The Principal and the Consulting Teacher assigned to the
Participating Teacher shall meet with the Participating
Teacher to discuss the recommended areas of improvement
outlined by the Principal and the types of assistance that
should be provided by the Consulting Teacher.

c. The Consulting Teacher and the evaluating Principal are
expected to develop a cooperative relationship and shall

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 67

Page 149 of 245



coordinate and align the assistance that should be provided
to Participating Teachers by the Consulting Teacher.

d. The Consulting Teacher and the Participating Teacher shall
meet to discuss the plan for assistance. After that meeting,
the Consulting Teacher will provide the assistance set forth
in Section 5 above which shall also involve conducting
multiple classroom observations of the Participating
Teacher.

23.6.1.4 Before March 1 of each year, the Consulting Teacher shall
complete a written assessment of the teacher’s performance and
participation in the Program consisting solely of:

a. A description of the assistance provided to the Participating
Teacher; and

b. A description of the results of the assistance in the targeted
areas.

This report shall be submitted to the Joint Panel, with a copy also
submitted to the Participating Teacher and the Principal.

23.6.1.5 The results of the teacher’s participation in the Program shall be
available for use as part of the Participating Teacher’s annual
evaluation.

a. The evaluating Principal shall have the discretion as to
whether, and how, to use the results set forth in the report in
the annual evaluation.

b. The Consulting Teacher’s report on participation in that
Program shall be made available to the District for
placement in the Participating Teacher’s personnel file if
the report is referenced by the Principal in the evaluation.

23.6.1.6 After receiving the report, the Joint Panel shall determine whether
the Participating Teacher will benefit from continued participation
in the Program.

23.6.1.7The District shall have the sole authority to determine whether the
Participating Teacher has been able to demonstrate satisfactory
improvement.

23.7 By Beginning Teachers

23.7.1 A Consulting Teacher will be assigned to one (1) or more Beginning Teachers
to provide assistance. During the first year of assistance to a Beginning

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 68

Page 150 of 245



Teacher, the Consulting Teacher shall concentrate the assistance in the area of
the CSTP. In the second year of assistance to a Beginning Teacher, assuming
continued employment, the Consulting Teacher will focus the assistance in the
areas listed by the evaluating Principal as needing improvement and/or
assistance.

23.7.2 The Consulting Teacher and the evaluating Principal shall have a cooperative
relationship, and shall coordinate the assistance provided to the Beginning
Teachers.

23.7.3 Because Beginning Teacher participation in the Program is not legally
mandated, a Consulting Teacher shall not report to the Joint Panel, Principal
or Governing Board regarding the progress of the Beginning Teacher. Further,
neither the Consulting Teacher nor the Joint Panel will make written reports
regarding individual Beginning Teachers, nor forward to the Governing Board
the names of individual Beginning Teachers who participate in the Program.

23.7.4 The Consulting Teacher shall provide an annual assessment of the Program’s
overall effectiveness for Beginning Teachers and specific areas for
improvement in the Program to the Joint Panel.

23.7.5 The Joint Panel will annually report to the Governing Board and the
Association on the overall effectiveness of the Program for Beginning
Teachers.

23.8 By Voluntary Participating Teachers

23.8.1 Voluntary Participating Teachers are expected to be high performing
individuals who either wish to grow and learn with the assistance of a peer, or
who seek assistance due to a change in assignment or the institution of new
curriculum. The Program for Voluntary Participating Teachers will focus on
practical application of either certain teaching skills, the acquisition of a new
subject matter, or expanded practice in the CSTP.

23.8.2 The Voluntary Participating Teacher must first submit to the evaluating
Principal a written plan for professional growth requesting the assistance of a
Consulting Teacher. If the plan is approved by the Principal and involves a
Consulting Teacher, the plan will be submitted to the Joint Panel for the
assignment of a Consulting Teacher. The Consulting Teacher shall meet with
the Principal and the Voluntary Participating Teacher for planning and
coordinating the plan.

23.8.3 The purpose of participation in the Program for the Voluntary Participating
Teacher is for peer assistance only and the Consulting Teacher shall not
participate in a performance review of the Voluntary Participating Teacher.
The Voluntary Participating Teacher may terminate his/her participation in the
Program at any time.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 69

Page 151 of 245



23.8.4 Because permanent teachers with satisfactory performance are not mandated
by law to participate in the Program, both the Consulting Teacher and the
Joint Panel will be on an “only as required” basis as determined by the
individual plan.

23.8.5 All communications between the Consulting Teacher and a Voluntary
Participating Teacher shall be confidential. Without the written consent of the
Voluntary Participating Teacher, such communication shall not be shared with
others including, but not limited to, the site Principal, the evaluator or the
Joint Panel.

23.9 Other Provisions

23.9.1 Functions performed by unit members as Consulting Teachers or members of
the Joint Panel pursuant to this Article shall not constitute either management
or supervisory functions as defined by Government Code section 3540.1(g)
and (m). Such unit members shall continue to enjoy all rights afforded to
other certificated bargaining unit members of the District.

23.9.2 Unit members who perform functions as Consulting Teachers or Joint Panel
members under this Article shall have the same protection from liability and
access to appropriate defense as other public school employees pursuant to
Division 3.6 (commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the California
Government Code.

23.9.3 All documents and information relating to a specific employee’s participation
in this Program is regarded as a personnel matter. Such records are, therefore,
exempt from disclosure under the California Public Records Act (Government
Code section 6250, et seq.) as a personnel record.

23.9.3.1 The annual evaluation of the Program’s impact, excluding any
information on identifiable individuals, shall be subject to
disclosure under the Public Records Act.

23.9.3.2 The selection process for Consulting Teachers, to the extent it
contains records related to identifiable individuals, will be treated
as confidential and will not be disclosed except as required by law.

23.9.3.3 This Article shall not be grievable. Any claim(s) that this Article
has not been properly implemented shall be presented in writing to
the Joint Panel with copies to the District and the Association.
Any such claim shall be addressed in the Joint Panel’s annual
report to the Governing Board.

23.9.3.4 Expenditures for this Program shall not exceed the revenue
received under AB-1X and, where applicable, BTSA.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 70

Page 152 of 245



23.9.3.5 Nothing in this Article shall in any way modify or affect the rights
of the District under provisions of the Education Code relating to
the employment, classification, retention, nonreelection or release
of certificated employees.

23.9.3.6 The parties acknowledge that the State of California has laws
and/or regulations that allow the District to participate in the Peer
Assistance and Review Program. However, the Parties also
acknowledge that there is no guarantee that the aforementioned
laws and/or regulations will remain in effect. Consequently, the
Parties further agree that, if the aforementioned laws and/or
regulations change in any way, the provisions of this Article will
immediately expire.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 71

Page 153 of 245



ARTICLE XXIV: MEDICAL ADMINISTRATIVE ADMINISTRATION ACTIVITIES (M.A.A.)

23.1 Article XXIV will be suspended.

23.2 Newly agreed upon language for Medical Administration Activities (MAA) will be
contained in Appendix G and will sunset upon the District choosing not to continue in the
MAA program time survey.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 72

Page 154 of 245



ARTICLE XXV: SHARED CONTRACTS

24.1 Shared contract unit members working less than sixty percent (60%) shall accrue service
credit for annual salary advancement in direct relation to their percentage of employment.
No unit member shall remain more than two (2) years on a single, existing, salary
schedule step. Any unit member working seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the
full-time workdays of any given school year shall receive a full year’s service credit for
each year worked.

24.2 Both members of a team are responsible for information from in-services and staff or
grade level meetings. One (1) member of the team will be required to attend these
meetings at no increased cost to the District and will be responsible for sharing all
information with the team partner. Both are also responsible for taking an active part in
District and school in-services, parent conferences, yard duty, and other duties as
required. When additional time of service is required, then the employee will be paid for
the additional time at his/her regular rate of pay; otherwise, the employee will have the
option of leaving when his/her usual time has been fulfilled. A calendar will be
developed by the school site administrator specifying required work days and required
extra-class responsibilities for each team.”

24.3 When an employee in the shared contract program uses a substitute, he/she must indicate
which leave provision is being used, such as sick leave, personal necessity, or other leave.
The person sharing the contract with the individual will, if he/she desires to do so,
substitute for the partner and be paid as a substitute teacher; otherwise, a regular
substitute will be employed.”

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 73

Page 155 of 245



ARTICLE XXVI: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

25.1 This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations, or practices of the District existing
on the date of ratification which are inconsistent with terms of Agreement.

25.2 Within thirty (30) days of ratification of the Agreement by both parties herein, the Board
shall post the contract on-line on the District website and provide one hard copy at the
Hamilton Elementary and Hamilton High School offices.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 74

Page 156 of 245



ARTICLE XXVII: DURATION

The parties agree to a new contract duration of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024. The parties
agree that the only reopener during the life of the agreement is Article XII WORK
HOURS/WORK YEAR upon written notice by either party.

26.1 This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date of ratification by both
parties through and including June 30, 2024.

26.2 On or before October 1 of each year for the following year’s negotiations, either the
District or the Association may give written notice to the other party of its desire to
negotiate:

26.2.1 The Salary Schedule (Appendix A), Benefits Package (Appendix B); and
Extra Duty Pay (Appendix C).

26.2.2 Two other Articles of each party’s choice.

26.2.3 Any Article mutually agreed upon.

26.3 In the event that neither party gives appropriate written notice under this article, this
Agreement shall be extended for at least one (1) more year each time notice is not given.

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 75

Page 157 of 245



SIGNATURE PAGE

Agreement between the Hamilton Unified School District

and

Hamilton Teachers Association/HTA/CTA

July 1, 2021- June 30, 2024

Ratified by HTA: _______________________________________________________________

Approved by the HUSD Governing Board: ___________________________________________

Signed this ________________________________ day of ________________________, 2022.

_________________________________ _________________________________
Maria Reyes, President Dr. Jeremy Powell, Superintendent
Hamilton Teachers Association (HTA) Hamilton Unified School District

_________________________________ _________________________________
Lead Negotiator Wendell Lower, Board President
Hamilton Teachers Association (HTA) Hamilton Unified School District

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 76

Page 158 of 245



APPENDIX A: CERTIFICATED SALARY SCHEDULE

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 77

Page 159 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 78

Page 160 of 245



APPENDIX B: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Effective July 1, 2022

1.0 District-paid Health Insurance Cap

● $12,370 for fulltime employees (5/6-time and greater)

● $6,185 for part-time employees (3/6- and 4/6-time)

● Zero ($0) for 2/6-time or less

2.0 Medical plans

● Central Valley Trust Medical

● Composite Rate Structure

● Plan options as selected by the unit annually.

3.0 Dental plan

● Delta Dental Standard Plan

● Composite Rate Structure

● Incentive Plan with two (2) cleanings and $2,000 calendar year with orthodontic
benefits

4.0 Vision plan

● VSP

● Composite Rate Structure

● Plan B with $10 deductible

5.0 Life Insurance

● $25,000 term life insurance plan

● Dependents may be added at employee expense

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 79

Page 161 of 245



APPENDIX C: EXTRA DUTY SALARY SCHEDULE

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 80

Page 162 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 81

Page 163 of 245



APPENDIX D1: CERTIFICATED PROBATIONARY EVALUATION FORM

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 82

Page 164 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 83

Page 165 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 84

Page 166 of 245



APPENDIX D2: CERTIFICATED PERMANENT EVALUATION FORM

HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 85

Page 167 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 86

Page 168 of 245



HUSD HTA 2021-2024 Draft Agreement based on v 6 TW 12/16/2021
Update 22.3.10 JP/ Update 22.7.22

pg. 87

Page 169 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13d Date:  9/28/2022 

Agenda Item Description:    
Approve agreement between CJUESD and HUSD on how developer fees shall be collected and divided 
between the two districts. 

Background:   
 
Per education code 17620, the district collects developer fees for school facilities improvements.  
Developer fees are placed in Fund 25.  Developer fees are not intended for general revenue purposes.   
 
The agreement between CJUESD and HUSD sets forth the manner in which developer fees shall be 
collected and divided between the two districts.  The division of fees for residential and commercial 
development shall be 69% for CJUESD whose grade levels include K-8 and 31% for HUSD whose grade 
levels include 9-12.  CJUESD rates are $4.79 for residential development and $0.78 for commercial 
development.  HUSD rates are also $4.79 for residential development and $0.78 for commercial 
development.  Rates are per square foot of new construction. 
 
This agreement is for implementation effective July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023. 
 

Status:   
Pending Board approval. 

Fiscal Impact:   
No impact on General Fund.  Amounts and percentages are used to calculate developer fees that HUSD 
retains in Fund 25 and the fees that are transferred to CJUESD.   
 

Educational Impact:  
n/a 

Recommendation:   
Recommend Board approve agreement between CJUESD and HUSD on how developer fees shall be 
collected and divided between the two districts. 

 

Page 170 of 245



Page 171 of 245



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  & PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 

Wednesday, August 24, 2022 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m.  

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. Please join the meeting by attending in 
person or via the livestream on Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook Group page or through the below Zoom 
link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09 

 
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in by phone: 
        +1 669 900 6833 US  
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: 826421 

 
1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 

a. Call to order and roll call at 5:39 p.m. 
 

✓ Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  _______Rod Boone, Clerk   ✓ Gabriel Leal 
✓ Genaro Reyes    _______Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. 
 

Public comments were made by Chris DeVries 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters at 5:44 p.m. 
a. Government Code Section 54957, Personnel Issue. To consider public employee, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, release, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and/or certificated employee. 
b. Public Employee Performance Evaluation. Government Code section 54957, subdivision (b)(1). Superintendent. 
c. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
d. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 

Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 
 
Report out action taken in closed session: None 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:  at 5:44 p.m. lead by Mr. Leal 

  

Page 172 of 245

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09


 
6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 

 

Motion to adopt the agenda by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: 

a. Board Member Comments/Reports 
i. Mr. Leal, Mr. Reyes & Mr. Lower gave reports 

b. ASB President and Student Council President Reports 
i. Hamilton High School – Alyssa Fox  

ii. Hamilton Elementary School – not present 
c. District Reports (written) 

i. Technology Report by Frank James (p. 5) 
ii. Nutrition Services Report by Sean Montgomery (p. 6) 

iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p. 7) 
d. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written) 

i. Ulises Tellechea, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (p. 8) – Reviewed by Mr. Tellechea 
ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students (handout) 

iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (p. 10) – Reviewed by Mr. Oseguera 
iv. Silvia Robles, Adult School (p. 12) 

e. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (p. 13) 
f. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (p.14) – Reviewed by Dr. Powell 

 
8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 

a. None 
 

9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 
a. None 

 
10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: All below reviewed by Dr. Powell 

a. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 15) 
b. Bond Status: Fund 21 Update  (p. 17) 
c. Schools and Special District Notice of Election (p. 22) 
d. Adult School Class Schedule Fall 2022 (p. 23) 

 
11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

a. Introduction of A-Line Consulting Services (Julie Kistle and Maria Campos) 
i. Dr. Powell introduced Julie Kistle 

ii. Julie Kistle introduced A-Line Consulting Services & responded to questions from the Board 
 

12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 
heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 
None 
 

13.0   CLOSE REGULAR MEETING & OPEN PUBLIC HEARING: at 7:05 p.m. 
a. Resolution 22-23-101, Certification that each pupil in each school in the District has Sufficient Textbooks and 

instructional materials that are aligned to the State Content Standards and are consistent with the Content and 
Cycles of the Curriculum Framework Adopted by the SBE in ELA, Math, Social Studies and Science for the 2022-
23 school year. (p. 27) 
Dr. Powell reviewed the resolution 
 

14.0   CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING & RE-OPEN REGULAR MEETING at 7:06 p.m. 
  

Page 173 of 245



 
15.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Adopt Resolution 22-23-101, Certification that each pupil in each school in the District has Sufficient Textbooks 
and instructional materials that are aligned to the State Content Standards and are consistent with the Content 
and Cycles of the Curriculum Framework Adopted by the SBE in ELA, Math, Social Studies and Science for the 
2022-23 school year. (p. 27) 

Motion to adopt Resolution 22-23-101 by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
b. Certify Provision of Standards-Aligned Instructional Materials for the 2022-23 School Year (p. 29) 

Motion to certify Provision of Standards by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
c. Approve Butte-Glenn Community Collge District, College and career Access Pathways Partnership Agreement 

Appendix 2022-23 (p. 31) 
Motion to approve by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
d. Approve A-Line Proposal for Construction Procurement Services for HES Bathroom Renovation and HES Trash 

Enclosure Project (p. 44) 
i. After a brief discussion and comments, a motion was made 

Motion to approve by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
e. Approve A-Line Proposal for HUSD Facilities Master Plan Development (p. 47) 

Motion to approve by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
f. Approve moving HUSD Regular Board meeting on October 26, 2022 from Hamilton High School Library to 

Hamilton Elementary School Multipurpose Room with a facility tour at the start of the meeting. (p. 51) 
i. After a brief review of thei history of this action by Mr. Lower, a motion was made 

Motion to approve by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
g. Approve Superintendent Contract 2022-24 (p. 52) 

Motion to approve by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
  

Page 174 of 245



 
h. Approve MOU between HUSD and GCOE for LVN staff at Hamilton Elementary for the 2022-23 school year. (p. 

59) 
Motion to approve by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
i. Approve HUSD ASU Universal Learner Agreement (p. 61) 

i. After a brief discussion a motion was made 
Motion to approve by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
j. CSBA Policies review for second readings and adoption (p. 68) 

i. Board Policy 0420.41: Charter School Oversight 
ii. Exhibit(1) 0420.41: Charter School Oversight 

iii. Exhibit(1) 1113: District and School Web Sites 
iv. Administrative Regulation 1312.4: Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures 
v. Exhibit(2) 1312.4: Williams Uniform Complaint Procedures 

vi. Board Policy 3110: Transfer of Funds 
vii. Administrative Regulation 3517: Facilities Inspection 

viii. Exhibit(1) 3517: Facilities Inspection  
ix. Board Policy 3523: Electronic Signatures  
x. Administrative Regulation 3523: Electronic Signatures  

xi. Board Policy 3550: Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 
xii. Administrative Regulation 3550: Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

xiii. Board Policy 3551: Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 
1. Option 2 

xiv. Administrative Regulation 3551: Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 
xv. Board Policy 3553: Free and Reduced Price Meals 

xvi. Administrative Regulation 3553: Free and Reduced Price Meals 
xvii. Administrative Regulation 4112.2: Certification 

xviii. Administrative Regulation 4161.8: Family Care and Medical Leave 
1. Option 1 

AND 
2. Option 1 

xix. Administrative Regulation 4261.8: Family Care and Medical Leave 
1. Option 1 

AND 
2. Option 1 

xx. Administrative Regulation 4361.8: Family Care and Medical Leave 
1. Option 1 

AND 
2. Option 1 

xxi. Administrative Regulation 6173.1: Education for Foster Youth 
Motion to adopt CSBA Policies i-xxi as listed by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 3-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
  

Page 175 of 245



 
 

16.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 
motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public 
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda 
approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from LCAP/Budget Special Meeting & Public Hearing on June 24, 2022 (p. 74) 
b. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on June 27, 2022 (p. 76) 
c. Hamilton High School 2022-23 Site Calendar (p. 82) 
d. Hamilton Elementary School 2022-23 Staff and Parent Site Calendars (p. 83) 
e. FFA College Tours Trips partially funded by CTEIG (tentative dates) (p. 85) 
f. FFA Washington Leadership Conference June 2023 (p. 86) 
g. FFA NAAE Conference for three Ag teachers November 29 – December 3, 2022 funded by CTEIG (p. 87) 
h. FFA Program of Activities 2022-23 School Year (p. 88) 

i. Updated livestock budgets 
ii. Creed Contest for freshment with opportunity to win a free FFA jacket 

iii. Pages 41-42 include FFA event dates for the year (overnight trips are identified) 
iv. Listed the process for electing FFA Officers (have been following for years but added to plan) 

i. FFA Tulelake Industry Tour on October 5, 2022 (p. 131) 
j. Adult School Class Schedule Fall 2022 (p. 23) 
k. Approve 2022-23 Teacher Consent Forms (p. 132) 
l. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 144) 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 3-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: ABSENT  

 
17.0 ADJOURNMENT: 7:26 p.m. 
  

Page 176 of 245



m. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 
i. Out 

1. Hamilton Elementary School 
a. 6th x 1 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. None 

ii. In 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. K x 3 
b. 2nd x 1 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. 9th x 8 
b. 10th x 2 
c. 12th x 1 

 
n. Personnel Actions as Presented: 

i. New hires: 
Josefina Rosales Ramirez Fine Arts/Applied Arts Cake Decorating Teacher Adult Ed 
Shanna Lee Wilkes Art Teacher HHS 
Mike Watson Technology-Temporary Summer Help HUSD 
Wendy Perez Paraeducator/Library Media Technician HES 

 
ii. Resignations/Retirement: 

Taren Allen Art Teacher HHS 
Rowan Dietle Office Assistant I HHS 

 
17.0   ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 
 
 
 

X
Rod Boone

HUSD Board Clerk

  

X
Jeremy Powell

HUSD Superintendent

 

Page 177 of 245



Page 178 of 245



Page 179 of 245



Page 180 of 245



Page 181 of 245



Page 182 of 245



Page 183 of 245



Page 184 of 245



Page 185 of 245



Page 186 of 245



Page 187 of 245



Page 188 of 245



P
age 189 of 245



P
age 190 of 245



P
age 191 of 245



P
age 192 of 245



P
age 193 of 245



P
age 194 of 245



P
age 195 of 245



P
age 196 of 245



P
age 197 of 245



P
age 198 of 245



P
age 199 of 245



P
age 200 of 245



P
age 201 of 245



P
age 202 of 245



P
age 203 of 245



P
age 204 of 245



P
age 205 of 245



P
age 206 of 245



P
age 207 of 245



P
age 208 of 245



P
age 209 of 245



P
age 210 of 245



P
age 211 of 245



P
age 212 of 245



P
age 213 of 245



P
age 214 of 245



P
age 215 of 245



P
age 216 of 245



P
age 217 of 245



P
age 218 of 245



P
age 219 of 245



P
age 220 of 245



P
age 221 of 245



P
age 222 of 245



P
age 223 of 245



P
age 224 of 245



P
age 225 of 245



P
age 226 of 245



P
age 227 of 245



P
age 228 of 245



P
age 229 of 245



P
age 230 of 245



P
age 231 of 245



P
age 232 of 245



P
age 233 of 245



P
age 234 of 245



P
age 235 of 245



P
age 236 of 245



P
age 237 of 245



P
age 238 of 245



P
age 239 of 245



P
age 240 of 245



P
age 241 of 245



P
age 242 of 245



P
age 243 of 245



P
age 244 of 245



P
age 245 of 245




